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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI 

 
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI PLAINTIFF 

V. NO. 02-245 

CURTIS FLOWERS DEFENDANT 
 

SUPPLEMENTATION OF MOTION FOR JNOV 
OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE FOR A NEW TRIAL 
IN RESPONSE TO ORDER OF JUNE 30, 2010 

(Filed Jul. 23, 2010) 

 COMES NOW, Curtis Flowers, by counsel, and for 
response to the Order of the Court entered June 30, 
2010, (and as to which, due to the unavailability of 
counsel to prepare the requested response as more 
fully set forth in Defendant’s Motion for Additional 
Time, additional time was sought to respond) and re-
sponds to the requests in the Order as follows as to 
each point set forth in the Motion For JNOV Or In The 
Alternative For A New Trial, and supplements said 
motion as follows: 

 1. On Friday, June 18, 2010, Mr. Flowers was 
convicted of capital murder. On Saturday, June 19, 
2010, he was sentenced to death. 

*    *    * 

 24. The trial court improperly overruled Mr. 
Flowers’ Batson objection to the State peremptorily 
striking five of the six African-American jurors ten-
dered to it for reasons that were pretexts for discrimi-
nation. Even on the basis of the matters the Defendant 
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was able to establish despite the error set forth below 
in failing to grant a recess and access to the draft 
transcript of the voir dire, the Defendant established 
pretextuality of the reasons advanced. 

Response: The Defendant respectfully submits 
the following further argument to considered by 
the Court on this point. The Mississippi Supreme 
Court has recently reiterated that it is incumbent 
upon a Defendant in establishing the requisite 
totality of circumstances to identify all factual 
matters suggesting pretext in rebuttal to any pur-
portedly non-racial reasons offered by the State at 
the time the Batson challenge is made, Pitchford 
v. State, ___ So.3d ___, ___ (Miss. 2010), 2006-DP-
00441-SCT at ¶¶ 28-32, 2010 WL 2521745 at *5 
(Miss. 6/24/2010) (opinion not yet released for pub-
lication in the permanent law reports.) or, in the 
alternative, to raise matters establishing pretext 
not raised during jury selection at the motion for 
new trial stage. Booker v. State, 5 So.3d 356 (Miss. 
2008) (upholding trial court’s findings based on ev-
idence concerning pretext offered only on motion 
for new trial). This court denied the request of the 
Defendant during the jury selection process for a 
recess and access by the parties to the already pre-
pared draft transcript of the voir dire of the jurors 
in order to fully present to the court all factual ba-
ses establishing pretext and otherwise establish-
ing racial discrimination in the use of peremptory 
strikes, thus, erroneously, despite the Defendant’s 
best efforts, precluding him at that stage from 
complying with the Supreme Court’s procedural 
directives at that time. See Pitchford, ¶¶ 28-32. 
Having done that, it is incumbent upon this court 
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to take up the matter on motion for new trial, 
which requires access to the transcript in order 
that the Defendant can examine the entire jury se-
lection process for evidence that, upon the totality 
of the circumstances, establishes racial discrimi-
nation as is required by Batson and its progeny in 
both the U.S. and Mississippi Supreme Courts. See 
Snyder v. Louisiana, ___ U.S. ___, 128 S. Ct. 1203 
(2008), Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 
2007). No further argument can be made in light 
of fact that Defendant’s request for the transcript 
necessary to do this was heretofore denied and De-
fendant cannot, therefore, determine if there is ad-
ditional support that would not be redundant of 
that already presented in the pretrial motions on 
these issues and/or at trial; the only additional 
proof anticipated would be request to review tran-
script of voir dire and jury selection at such places 
where the Defendant asserts that evidence of pre-
text, disparate treatment and other indicia of dis-
crimination is to be found, had the request for 
same not been denied by the Court both at the 
trial and in its order of June 30, 2010. 

 25. This is based, inter alia, on the reasons set 
forth in his pretrial motions, on the record of the voir 
dire and of juror questionnaires actually conducted 
and on file in the record in the instant matter, and on 
the demonstrated history of racial discrimination in 
jury selection by the District Attorney’s office prosecut-
ing this matter, and for such additional reasons as may 
be adduced at a hearing hereon after preparation of 
the requested transcript of the jury selection process. 
These materials establish, and/or will establish, all the 
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indicia of pretext set forth in Mississippi and federal 
law, and establish on the basis of the totality of the cir-
cumstances that the State engaged in race discrimina-
tion in the jury selection in this matter. Snyder v. 
Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472 (2008). Mr. Flowers expressly 
reserves the right to supplement the allegations of this 
Motion insofar as it concerns the Batson matters to in-
clude information contained in the transcript and rec-
ords pertaining to jury selection and voir dire at such 
time as that transcript is provided. 

Response: See response set forth at ¶ 24, supra. 

 26. The trial court erred in failing to grant the 
Defendant’s requested recess for the purpose of prepar-
ing to provide the necessary rebuttal to the State’s so-
called race neutral reasons for peremptorily striking 
all but one of the tendered non-white jurors in this 
matter. 

Response: See response set forth at ¶ 24, supra. 

 27. The trial court erred in refusing Defendant’s 
request that he and the State be provided a copy of the 
draft transcript of the voir dire that was prepared for 
the trial court by the court reporter and on information 
and belief used by the trial court it in ruling on the 
Batson objections and also on ruling on certain chal-
lenges for cause. This violated defendant’s rights under 
the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to present a 
defense, to be tried by a fair and impartial jury, and to 
effective assistance of counsel in defending him on 
these charges. 
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Response: See responses set forth at ¶ 24, supra. 

 28. Mr. Flowers was also denied his Sixth 
Amendment right to trial by a fair and impartial jury 
and his Fourteenth Amendment rights to due process 
and equal protection because the jury that sat in judg-
ment on him was composed of less than 10% African-
American citizens, and was selected from a county with 
nearly a 45% African-American population. 

Response: See responses set forth at ¶¶ 5, 6, 8, 
and 24, supra, and authority cited in ¶ 17 and in 
all pretrial motions concerning jury composition. 

*    *    * 

Respectfully submitted, 

 CURTIS GIOVANNI FLOWERS,
Defendant 

 By: /s/ Alison Steiner
 Attorney for Defendant
 
Ray Charles Carter, MB # 8924 
Alison Steiner, MB # 7832 
Office of Capital Defense Counsel 
510 George Street, Suite 300 
Jackson, MS 39202 
601-576-2316 
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF 
MONTGOMERY COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI 

 
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI 

VS. CAUSE NUMBER 

CURTIS GIOVANNI FLOWERS 2003-0071-CR 
 

OPINION 

(Filed Aug. 6, 2010) 

 This court presently has before it a Motion for 
J.N.O.V. or in the Alternative for a New Trial, that was 
filed by the Defendant, Curtis Giovanni Flowers, on 
June 28, 2010. This motion follows a jury verdict ren-
dered on June 18, 2010, finding Flowers guilty of four 
counts of Capital Murder, and a jury verdict rendered 
on June 19, 2010, finding that Flowers should be sen-
tenced to death. 

 In the motion, Flowers requested that this court 
withhold consideration of the motion until such time 
as a transcript of the trial could be prepared. In an or-
der dated June 30, 2010 and entered on July 2, 2010, 
this court denied that request finding that defense had 
sufficient knowledge of the facts of the case to enable 
them to brief or argue the motion without a transcript 
of the trial proceedings. This court found that a tran-
script of the proceedings would not be helpful to the 
court in consideration of the motion. In that order, this 
court ordered the attorneys for the defendant to file a 
written request for oral arguments, if oral arguments 
were desired. 



248 

 

 On July 23, 2010, Flowers’ attorneys filed a Sup-
plementation of Motion for JNOV or in the Alternative 
for a New Trial in Response to Order of June 30, 2010. 
In the supplementation, the defense provided written 
argument in support of the Motion for J.N.O.V. or in 
the Alternative for a New Trial. Additionally, Flowers’ 
attorneys stated that oral arguments cannot be made 
since the request for the trial transcript was denied. 

 A hearing on a motion for a new trial is discretion-
ary. Jordan v. State, 786 So.2d 987, 1021 (Miss. 2001). 
Here, the defendant filed a supplementation of his mo-
tion, that, including exhibits, is thirty-seven (37) pages 
in length. He has thoroughly argued in the supplemen-
tation the reasons that he believes entitles him to a 
new trial. Additionally, he is not requesting oral argu-
ments. For these reasons and because of the extensive 
notes taken by the undersigned judge during the trial, 
this court will rule on the Motion for J.N.O.V. or in the 
Alternative for a New Trial, without hearing oral argu-
ments. 

 Flowers has listed forty-four (44) reasons that he 
believes entitles him to a JNOV or alternatively, a new 
trial. For the purpose of this motion, this court has con-
solidated those into twenty-four (24) issues. This court 
will now consider those issues. 

 
1. Weight and Sufficiency of Evidence 

 The defendant claims that he is entitled to a new 
trial because the verdicts were against the weight of 
the evidence. Additionally, he contends that he is 
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entitled to a JNOV because the evidence was insuffi-
cient to support his convictions and death sentences. 

 A trial court’s review of whether a new trial should 
be granted is based on the following: 

A defendant is entitled to have the trial court 
consider a claim that a miscarriage of justice 
has occurred in his case because the guilty 
verdict is against the weight of the credible 
evidence. Procedurally, this challenge takes 
the form of a motion for new trial . . . The trial 
court, in deciding the issue, is charged to con-
sider all of the evidence in the light most fa-
vorable to upholding the verdict Jones v. State, 
635 So.2d 884, 887 (Miss. 1994). Only if the 
court is convinced that, even viewing the evi-
dence in the light most favorably to the State, 
a manifest injustice has occurred is the de-
fendant entitled to a new trial. Fairchild v. 
State, 459 So.2d 793, 798 (Miss. 1984). 

McNeal v. State, 757 So.2d 1096 (Miss.App. 2000). 

 As to the sufficiency of the evidence: “In order 
to be sufficient to sustain a conviction, the evidence 
must show beyond a reasonable doubt that accused 
committed the act charged, and that he did so under 
such circumstances that every element of the offense 
existed; and where the evidence fails to meet this 
test it is insufficient to support a conviction.” Carr v. 
State, 208 So.2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968). The relevant 
question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the 
light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational 
trier of fact could have found the essential elements of 
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the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. Dilworth v. State, 
909 So. 2d 731, 736 (Miss. 2005) (citing Jackson v. Vir-
ginia, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 
560 (1979)). 

 This court, having heard all the evidence that 
was presented against the defendant at trial, finds 
that there is sufficient evidence to support his convic-
tions. Additionally, this court finds that Flowers’ con-
victions are not against the weight of the evidence. 
Consequently, this court finds that the defendant is not 
entitled to a JNOV or a new trial on the grounds that 
the verdicts are against the weight or sufficiency of the 
evidence. 

 
2. Rulings on Objections 

 The defendant claims that he is entitled to a new 
trial because this court erred in denying his pre-trial 
and trial motions and objections and in ruling favora-
bly on motions and objections made by the prosecution. 
He also contends that this court erred in sustaining 
the objections made by the State during voir dire and 
at the guilt and sentencing phase of the trial. Addition-
ally, he asserts that this court erred in ruling favorably 
on motions that were made by the State. 

 This court, having considered the issues concern-
ing motions and objections, finds that the defendant 
has failed to state with any particularity or detail the 
rulings from the court on which he takes exception. 
However, this court carefully considered all of the mo-
tions and objections that were made by both the 
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prosecution and defense and ruled on such in accord-
ance with the Mississippi Rules of Evidence and the 
decisions of the state and federal appellate courts. Con-
sequently, this court finds that the defendant is not en-
titled to a new trial based on the rulings of this court 
to motions or objections made pre-trial or during the 
trial. 

 
3. Failing to Quash Venire 

 When voir dire began on June 7, 2010, the venire 
makeup consisted of 89 jurors of the Caucasian race 
and 67 jurors of the African American race. On June 
10, 2010, after conducting a group voir dire, individual 
voir dire of a sufficient number of jurors from which to 
impanel a jury, and after excusing various venire mem-
bers for cause, the defendant moved this court to quash 
the jury panel and declare a mistrial. He sought a mis-
trial because in his view the jury did not have a suffi-
cient number of African Americans on the panel after 
excusing members of the venire for cause. That motion 
was denied. He also argued at trial and in his present 
motion, that he is not required to choose between his 
right to be tried in the county where the crimes oc-
curred and his right to a fair and impartial jury. He 
asserts that the proper remedy would be to discharge 
him until such time as a fair and impartial jury could 
be impaneled. Flowers now contends that he is entitled 
to a new trial because this court failed to quash the 
venire and discharge him from custody. 
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 After several days of voir dire, numerous individ-
uals, both black and white, were excused from the 
venire for cause. Because Flowers is claiming that an 
insufficient number of members of his own race re-
mained on the venire, after voir dire, this court feels 
that it would be appropriate to review the reasons why 
various members of the African American race were 
excused for cause. 

Juror 6 was excused for cause because he 
knew the Flowers family and said he could not 
be fair and impartial. 

Juror 15 was excused for cause because she 
has known Curtis Flowers all her life and said 
she could not be fair and impartial. 

Juror 16 was excused for cause because he 
knows Curtis Flowers, worked in the past 
with Flowers’ sister Priscilla, and said she 
could not be fair and impartial. 

Juror 21 was excused for cause because his 
wife is a cousin to Curtis Flowers and because 
of that, he said that he could not be fair and 
impartial. 

Juror 23 was excused for cause because he is 
related to Curtis Flowers and said that he 
could not be fair and impartial. 

Juror 24 was excused for cause because she 
said she knew Curtis Flowers and could not 
be fair and impartial. 
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Juror 31 was excused for cause because [sic] 
is the sister-in-law of Curtis Flowers, and 
could not be fair and impartial. 

Juror 33 was excused for cause because his 
daughter and the brother of Curtis Flowers 
have a child together and he said that he 
could not be fair and impartial. 

Juror 34 was excused for cause because he 
stated that he could not judge anyone for any 
reason. 

Juror 36, was excused for cause because he 
stated that he was married to a cousin of Cur-
tis Flowers and that he could not be fair and 
impartial. 

Juror 37 was excused for cause because she 
stated that she was related to Curtis Flowers 
and could not be fair and impartial. 

Juror 41, was excused for cause because she 
said that she could not sit in judgment of 
anyone. Additionally, she was related to 
murder victim, Robert Golden. 

Juror 43, was excused for cause because she 
knows Curtis Flowers, has worked with his 
sister, and said that she could not be fair and 
impartial. 

Juror 46, was excused for cause because he 
was a cousin to Curtis Flowers, works with 
Flowers’ brother and sister, and stated that he 
could not be fair and impartial. 
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Juror 49, was excused for cause because he 
stated that he could not sit in judgment of 
anyone. 

Juror 52, was excused for cause because he is 
related to Curtis Flowers and said that he 
could not be fair and impartial. 

Juror 57, was excused for cause because he 
stated that under no circumstances could he 
consider the death penalty. 

Juror 60, was excused for cause because he 
stated that he could not be fair and impartial 
since his son had recently been convicted of a 
felony crime. 

Juror 65, was excused for cause because she 
stated that under no circumstances could she 
consider the death penalty. 

Juror 70, was excused for cause because she 
knew the parents of Curtis Flowers, works 
with his sister, and stated that she could not 
be fair and impartial. 

Juror 71, was excused for cause because she 
stated that she had known Curtis Flowers for 
many years and could not be fair and impar-
tial. 

Juror 74, was excused for cause because he 
stated that he knew the parents of Curtis 
Flowers, works with his brother Archie, Jr., 
and stated that he could not be fair and im-
partial. 

Jurors 85, 86, 88, 90, 92, 95, 98, 102, 104, 109, 
112, 113, 114, 116, 118, 127, 131, 133, 134, 140, 
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144, 150, 153, 154, 155, 156, African American 
members of the juror venire were also excused 
for cause for various reasons, mostly either for 
kinship or friendship with the Flowers family 
or because they could not consider the death 
penalty. However, none of these individuals 
would have ended up serving on the panel 
since the last individual selected to serve was 
juror 78. Therefore, this court sees no reason 
to individually list the specific reasons as to 
why these venire members were excused. Ad-
ditionally, Juror 96 was excused due to the 
death of her grandfather. 

 The State of Mississippi exercised peremptory 
strikes on jurors 14, 44, 45, 53, and 62. Those strikes 
will be discussed further in a later section of this 
opinion. The jury, that ultimately heard the case, was 
composed of eleven Caucasians and one African 
American with two Caucasian alternate jurors and one 
African American alternate juror. 

 In Le v. State, 913 So2d. 913, 924 (Miss. 2005), the 
court held that since the jury was drawn by computer, 
in accordance with law, from the voter rolls, it repre-
sented a fair cross-section of the community, even 
though it did not include Asians. Here, on April 20, 
2010, the jury venire was drawn in open court and in 
accordance with law. It therefore, represented a fair 
cross section of Montgomery County, Mississippi. 

 The proper remedy, for a criminal defendant 
that is concerned about whether he can receive a fair 
trial in the county where the crime was committed, is 
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to seek a change of venue, not a discharge from custody. 
See Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-15-35, and Hoops 
v. State, 681 So.2d 521, 525 (Miss. 1996). On two 
previous occasions, Flowers sought and was granted 
changes of venue. He chose not to seek one again. Flow-
ers certainly had the constitutional right to be tried in 
the county where the crimes were committed. How-
ever, he should not be heard to complain about the ra-
cial makeup of the jury, since the overwhelming 
majority of the members of his race stated that they 
could not sit in judgment of him because of kinships, 
friendships, and family ties. 

 It is clear from the record that most of the African 
Americans, that were excused for cause, were excused 
because they were either related to Curtis Flowers or 
were friends with him or with various members of his 
family. However, that is not a sufficient reason for the 
venire to be quashed. The jury that was drawn repre-
sented a fair cross-section of Montgomery County, Mis-
sissippi. Additionally, given the prominence of the 
Flowers family in Montgomery County and given their 
large extended family, it is far from certain that an-
other venire would have resulted in more African 
Americans serving on the jury.1 A criminal defendant 
is entitled to have a venire that is representative of the 
cross-section of the community. In the context of the 
right to a trial by a jury of one’s peers – one’s peers are 

 
 1 This court will take judicial notice that in the trial that 
occurred in September, 2008, which resulted in a mistrial, 
there were two African Americans on the jury, and one African 
American was an alternate juror. 
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not determined by one’s race. Pitchford v. State, 2010 
WL 2521745 * 6 (Miss. June 24, 2010). Here, the jury 
that was drawn, was drawn in accordance with law, 
and thus, was representative of the community. The 
linchpin, in determining if a venire should be quashed, 
is whether the members of the venire state that they 
can be fair and impartial if chosen. Hughes v. State, 983 
So.2d 270, 284 (Miss. 2008). Here, all the jurors that 
were selected to serve, swore that they would set aside 
any knowledge that they had about the case, base their 
decision on the evidence presented, and that they 
would be fair and impartial. This court has been pre-
sented with nothing that would indicate that they did 
otherwise. Therefore, this court finds that Flowers is 
not entitled to a new trial due to the failure of this 
court to quash the venire and declare a mistrial. 

 
4. Violation of Jury Sequestration 

 The defendant contends that he is entitled to a 
new trial because this court did not grant a mistrial, 
as to both the culpability and sentencing phase of the 
trial, due to a breach of the jury sequestration. He also 
claims that this court erred in refusing to conduct a full 
inquiry into the conduct of several venire members 
“who served during the voir dire process as assistants 
to the law enforcement providing security,” and for fail-
ing to excuse those jurors. Additionally, he claims that 
this court erred in failing to prevent spectators from 
having verbal and non-verbal communication with the 
sitting jurors in the courtroom, during breaks, or when 
the jury was being transported during overnight 
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recesses. He also claims that this court erred in failing 
to grant a mistrial at the sentencing phase of the trial, 
due to three jurors having improper contact with a 
Mississippi Highway Patrol officer, and that this court 
should have conducted a voir dire of the jurors and a 
full inquiry into the matter. He also claims that Bailiff 
Richard Whitfield was derelict in failing to advise the 
court of improper contact. 

 The record will show that the names of six- 
hundred (600) individuals were drawn to serve as 
jurors in this case. They reported in two panels on 
June 4, 2010. On that day, this court questioned the 
prospective jurors about their legal qualifications to 
serve and possible exemptions that they might have 
that could result in being excused from jury service. 
On June 7, 2010 voir dire began with a venire of one-
hundred-fifty-six (156) persons. A twelve (12) person 
jury with three (3) alternates was finally seated on 
June 10, 2010. The venire was not sequestered until 
the fifteen (15) member jury was seated. Throughout 
the voir dire, this court cautioned the venire that 
they could not discuss the case with anyone, amongst 
themselves, or have any contact or discussion with any 
potential witnesses. 

 One morning during the voir dire process, one 
of the defense counsel stated that she saw one or more 
of the venire engaging in conversation with a law 
enforcement officer that was directing traffic at the 
courthouse. In voir dire, defense counsel questioned 
these venire members about this contact. It was re-
vealed that the brief contact with the traffic officer did 
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not involve any discussion about the trial or the facts 
of the case and that the traffic officer was not a witness 
in the case. This court finds that this brief contact 
with a law enforcement officer was not a violation of 
sequestration or any court rule and that the defendant 
suffered no prejudice from this contact. There is abso-
lutely nothing in the record that supports the defend-
ant’s allegation that prospective jurors were assisting 
law enforcement. Additionally, there is nothing in the 
record that supports his assertion that spectators were 
engaged in verbal and/or non-verbal communications 
with the sitting jurors, during the trial, or when they 
were being transported to and from court. Conse-
quently, this court finds those allegations to be without 
merit. 

 At a recess between the guilt phase and the sen-
tencing phase of the trial, Bailiff Richard Whitfield ac-
companied three members of the jury, who were 
smokers, to the back porch of the courthouse where 
they were allowed a smoke break. The bailiff and 
smokers were accompanied by one or more Mississippi 
State Troopers for the purpose of insuring that the ju-
rors were not approached by anyone. 

 Immediately prior to the sentencing phase of the 
trial, defense counsel advised the court that she be-
lieved that a breach of the jury sequestration had oc-
curred. The defense then presented testimony from 
Priya Brandes, an intern working for defense counsel, 
who testified that during the smoke break, she over-
heard one of the jurors ask a state trooper to please 
call her boyfriend for her when the trial had concluded. 
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This court then called Bailiff Richard Whitfield who 
testified to virtually the same thing. Neither the intern 
nor Whitfield heard the state trooper respond in any 
way to the juror’s request. 

 In Bickcom v. State, 286 So.2d 823 (Miss. 1973), a 
juror made a comment to a deputy sheriff about how 
the deputy was driving the bus that was transporting 
them to lunch. The deputy responded that he would do 
his best to properly drive the bus. The court held that 
this contact was not a violation of the jury sequestra-
tion. In Turner v. State, 170 So. 642 (Miss. 1936), a juror 
separated from the other members of the jury and ac-
companied a deputy sheriff to a restaurant where 
lunches were purchased. The court held that this inci-
dent did not justify granting the defendant a new trial 
holding that: “the mere possibility that a juror has 
been exposed to outside influences is not sufficient to 
vitiate a verdict.” In King v. State, 580 So.2d 1182 
(Miss. 1991), the court held that the trial judge did not 
err in failing to grant a mistrial, where it was shown 
that three members of a sequestered jury visited a mo-
tel lounge and consumed alcohol. 

 In Simmons v. State, 805 So.2d 452, 506 (Mis. 
2002), the court stated that the purpose of jury seques-
tration is to insure a fair and impartial jury that will 
return a verdict beyond reproach. Here, three jurors 
separated from the other jurors and took a smoke 
break in the presence of a bailiff. One of the jurors 
made a comment to a state trooper who was providing 
security. The comment by the juror to the trooper did 
not concern any fact or issue concerning the case. The 
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state trooper was not a witness in the case and did not 
participate in the investigation of the murders for 
which the defendant was being tried. Additionally, the 
trooper offered no response to the juror’s request. 
Therefore, this court finds that no violation of jury se-
questration occurred, the defendant suffered no preju-
dice from the juror’s incidental contact with the state 
trooper, and this court was correct in failing to declare 
a mistrial. 

 This court also finds that Bailiff Richard Whitfield 
was not derelict in performing his duties as bailiff. No 
violation of jury sequestration occurred, so there was 
nothing for Whitfield to report. This court finds that 
the inquiry into whether a violation of sequestration 
had occurred was sufficient and that no further inquiry 
was necessary. Additionally, this court will note that 
defense counsel did not request that this court voir dire 
the three jurors that were taking a smoke break about 
whether a violation of sequestration had occurred. 

 In his Supplementation of Motion for NOV or in 
the Alternative for a New Trial, Flowers suggests that 
in a post-trial hearing he might desire to call all four 
bailiffs, as well as the deputy sheriff directing traffic 
outside the courthouse. However, he did not request a 
hearing pursuant to the order of this court that was 
filed on July 2, 1010 [sic]. Consequently, this court finds 
that Flowers has waived any hearing on this subject 
by failing to request a hearing. He has also failed to 
make a threshold showing that the jury was subjected 
to improper outside influence or extraneous prejudicial 
information that would necessitate a post-trial hearing 
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on the subject. See James v. State, 912 So.2d 940, 950 
(Miss. 2005). 

 Flowers also argues that he was prejudiced due to 
the number of law enforcement officers that were in 
the courtroom during the trial. Except during the in-
terim period following the jury’s finding of guilt, and 
before the sentencing phase of the trial, this court did 
not take note of the number of law enforcement officers 
in the courtroom. At no time during the trial did Flow-
ers raise any objection to the number of law enforce-
ment officers that were present in the courtroom. This 
court finds that Flowers has waived this issue by fail-
ing to make a contemporaneous objection to the num-
ber of law enforcement officers in the courtroom. 
Additionally, this court finds that Flowers suffered no 
prejudice from the number of law enforcement officers 
present in the courtroom during the trial. Due to the 
large number of spectators that were present through-
out the trial, a strong police presence was needed for 
traffic control, to deter the possibility of any disrup-
tions occurring in or outside the courtroom, and to pre-
vent any impermissible contact with the jury. The fact 
that an intern working for the defense was able to 
sneak close enough to a juror to overhear a comment, 
confirms that uniformed officers were needed to insure 
that no improper contact was made with any jurors. 

 
5. Intimidation of Visitors and Spectators 

 On the third day of voir dire, under the guise of 
introducing the interns helping defense counsel, one of 
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the defense attorneys made the allegation that one of 
the interns had been stopped by a Montgomery County 
Deputy Sheriff as she exited Interstate 55 and entered 
the City of Winona. Defense counsel then implied that 
the intern was stopped because she was African Amer-
ican. This court allowed defense counsel to make a 
proffer on the subject. The defendant now claims that 
this court erred in failing to conduct an inquiry into 
this alleged incident. 

 This court found the story to be patently unbeliev-
able since all the deputy sheriffs for Montgomery 
County were at the courthouse providing security and 
helping with traffic control, and also because the sher-
iff ’s department does not patrol the city streets in 
Winona. Additionally, this court has no investigative 
arm that would have allowed it to launch its own in-
vestigation concerning the allegation. If the incident 
did occur, it was not something that was subject to the 
control of the court since the alleged stop occurred sev-
eral miles from the courthouse. Further, this court 
finds that if the incident occurred, it was a collateral 
matter that had no bearing on the defendant’s trial. He 
is, therefore, not entitled to a new trial on this issue. 

 
6. Pre-Trial Motions 

 The defendant contends that this court erred in 
its rulings on pre-trial motions. The motions that he 
listed are as follows: Defendant’s Request For 9.04 
Discovery and for Supplementation of Discovery 
Furnished to Date; Motion to Bar Retrial Under the 
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Double Jeopardy Clause of the Mississippi Constitu-
tion; Supplemental Motion to Preclude Death Penalty 
Procedures; Motion for Setting Reasonable Bail; De-
fendant’s Supplemental Motion to Preclude Introduc-
tion of Victim-Impact Evidence; Supplemental and 
Renewed Motion to Suppress in and Out of Court Iden-
tification and for Other Relief; Notice and Renewal and 
Adoption of Motions From the Previous Five Trials; 
Motion to Preclude “Death Qualification” of Jurors or 
in the Alternative to Preclude the Imposition of the 
Death Penalty; Motion to Bar the Prosecution From 
Exercising Peremptory Strikes at All, or at Least From 
Exercising Them Against Non-White Venire Members, 
During Jury Selection or in the Alternative to Bar the 
Seeking or Imposition of the Death Penalty in the 
Event of Conviction; Motion to Preclude Persons Who 
Have Previously Served as Jury Bailiffs From Serving 
as Such in the Present Trial; Defendant’s Renewal of, 
and Request for Hearing on, Motion to Determine 
Admissibility of Testimony From Expert on Eyewit-
ness Identification; and the Motion to Bar the Death 
Penalty Based on Prosecutor Vindictiveness and Mis-
conduct. 

 On April 20, 2010, this court conducted a pre-trial 
hearing on the following motions: Request for 9.04 Dis-
covery and for Supplementation of Discovery Fur-
nished to Date; Motion to Bar Retrial Under the 
Double Jeopardy Clause of the Mississippi Constitu-
tion; Motion to Preclude Death Penalty Procedures; 
Motion for Setting Reasonable Bail; and Notice of 
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Renewal and Adoption of Motions From the Previous 
Five Trials. 

 At a pre-trial hearing conducted on September 12, 
2008, which was prior to the trial that commenced on 
September 22, 2008, and the only other trial in this 
matter in which the undersigned judge presided, this 
court held a hearing and considered the following 
motions: Motion to Preclude “Death Qualification” of 
Jurors or in the Alternative to Preclude the Imposition 
of the Death Penalty; Motion to Bar the Prosecution 
From Exercising Peremptory Strikes at All, or at Least 
From Exercising Them Against Non-White Venire 
Members, During Jury Selection or in the Alternative 
to Bar the Seeking or Imposition of the Death Penalty 
in the Event of Conviction; Motion to Preclude Persons 
Who Have Previously Served as Jury Bailiffs From 
Serving as Such in the Present Trial; Defendant’s Re-
newal of, and Request for Hearing on, Motion to Deter-
mine Admissibility of Testimony From Expert of 
Eyewitness Identification; and a Motion to Bar the 
Death Penalty Based on Prosecutor Vindictiveness and 
Misconduct. These motions were renewed at the hear-
ing on April 20, 2010, and at that time, this court reaf-
firmed its prior rulings on those motions. 

 This court finds that it correctly ruled on the pre-
trial motions that were heard on September 12, 2008 
and on April 20, 2010. Therefore, this court finds that 
the defendant is not entitled to a new trial based on 
the court’s rulings on these motions. 
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7. Recusal of Trial Judge 

 The defendant contends that he is entitled to a 
new trial due to the failure of the trial judge to recuse 
himself from the trial of this matter in motions filed 
pre-trial, at the motion hearings on April 20, 2010, and 
during the trial. He further contends that the trial 
judge was biased against him based on the rulings that 
were made during the trial, disparaging remarks and 
disparate treatment of defense counsel and defense 
witnesses, and this court’s interruption of his presen-
tation of mitigation evidence. 

 Flowers filed a motion on November 8, 2008, 
seeking to have the undersigned judge recuse himself 
from presiding over his trial. That motion was denied 
by this court and the defendant appealed this court’s 
denial of the motion to recuse to the Mississippi Su-
preme Court. The Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed 
this court’s denial of the recusal motion. At a pre-trial 
hearing on April 20, 2010, and during the trial, Flowers 
again sought recusal. Those motions were denied by 
the court. 

 A judge is required to disqualify himself if a rea-
sonable person, knowing all the circumstances, would 
harbor doubts about his impartiality. Hunter v. State, 
684 So.2d 625, 630 (Miss. 1996), Rutland v. Pridgen, 
493 So.2d 952, 954 (Miss. 1986), King v. State, 821 
S0.2d [sic] 864, 868 (Miss.App 2002). To overcome the 
presumption that a judge is qualified and unbiased, 
the movant seeking disqualification must show beyond 
a reasonable doubt that the judge was biased or not 
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qualified. White v. Yellow Fright [sic] System, Inc., 905 
So.2d 506, 515 (Miss. 2004), Neal v. State, 687 So.2d 
1180, 1185 (Miss. 1996). 

 Here, the fact that this court ruled in favor of the 
State of Mississippi and against the defendant on var-
ious motions is certainly no evidence of judicial bias. 
The fact that the jury took a recess during the presen-
tation of mitigation evidence is also no evidence of ju-
dicial bias. Various recesses were taken throughout the 
trial, during the presentation of evidence by both the 
prosecution and the defense. On certain occasions this 
court may have chastised defense counsel, just as it did 
the prosecution, but this court dealt evenhandedly 
with the prosecution, the defense, and the witnesses 
for the respective sides. Therefore, there is no merit to 
Flower’s claim that the undersigned judge should have 
recused himself from this case, and he is not entitled 
to a new trial on this issue. 

 
7. [sic] Double Jeopardy Under 

the Mississippi Constitution 

 The defendant argues that his conviction should 
be set aside and the charges against him dismissed be-
cause his trial should have been barred by the double 
jeopardy clause of the Mississippi Constitution. The 
trial conducted in June, 2010 was Flowers’ sixth trial. 
In the first and second trial, Flowers was indicted and 
convicted on one count of Capital Murder. Those con-
victions were reversed by the Mississippi Supreme 
Court. See Flowers v. State, 773 So.2d 309 (Miss. 2000), 
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and Flowers v. State, 842 So.2d 53 (Miss. 2003). In the 
third trial, the four charges of Capital Murder were 
consolidated and Flowers was convicted on all four 
counts. Those convictions were also reversed by the 
Mississippi Supreme Court. See Flowers v. State, 947 
So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007). The fourth and fifth trials re-
sulted in mistrials due to the inability of the jury to 
reach a verdict. Flowers argues that his sixth trial 
should have been barred due to prosecutorial miscon-
duct that occurred in the five previous trials. 

 This court is confident that had Flowers’ fourth 
trial been barred, the Mississippi Supreme Court 
would have reversed and rendered his third conviction. 
Flowers claims that in his fourth trial, the prosecution 
elicited false testimony from Melissa Schoene concern-
ing the color of Doyle Simpson’s car, an automobile 
from which a gun had been stolen the morning of the 
murders. If Schoene did testify incorrectly about the 
color of the automobile in the fourth trial, this court 
finds that it was an immaterial matter, since there 
was never any dispute about the automobile in ques-
tion belonging to Doyle Simpson. This court will also 
note that this issue was so insignificant that defense 
counsel never questioned Schoene about whether, at a 
previous trial, she had testified untruthfully about the 
color of the automobile. In fact, instead of attempting 
to impeach her testimony, defense counsel actually 
complimented Schoene on the thoroughness of her 
investigation of the crime scene. This court finds that 
no proof has been offered to show that the prosecuted 
[sic] attempted to elicited or attempted to elicit false 
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testimony from Schoene during Flowers’ fourth trial. 
Therefore, there was nothing about the fourth trial 
that would have stood as a bar to his most recent trial. 

 Following Flowers’ fifth trial, the Montgomery 
County Grand Jury indicted two individuals that 
served as jurors in the fifth trial, for perjury. They were 
indicted for not giving truthful answers to questions 
propounded to them during voir dire. The individuals 
indicted were Juror James Bibbs, and Alternate Juror, 
Mary Purnell. Purnell eventually entered a plea of 
guilty and was sentenced to serve a term of incarcera-
tion. The charges against Bibbs were eventually dis-
missed, without prejudice. Flowers contends that the 
prosecution of the jurors, following the fifth trial, con-
stituted prosecutorial misconduct which should have 
barred the sixth trial. This court finds that prosecuting 
venire members, who give untruthful answers during 
voir dire, does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct. 
Consequently, the sixth trial was not barred due to 
prosecutorial misconduct in the fifth trial. 

 Jeopardy attaches only in the event of a not guilty 
verdict. A reversal of a previous conviction does not bar 
a retrial on the same charge. Thus, Flowers’ first three 
convictions were reversed and remanded, not reversed 
and rendered. A mistrial represents a nullity and 
stands as no bar to continued prosecution. Pierre v. 
State, 607 So.2d 43, 48 (Miss. 1992). This court will also 
note that in Pierre, the defendant was convicted in her 
sixth trial, the previous five trials having resulted in 
mistrials. Here, there were only two mistrials. 
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 For the reasons stated herein and for the reasons 
stated at the pre-trial hearing conducted on April 20, 
2010, this court finds no merit to the defendant’s claim 
that his trial was barred by the double jeopardy clause 
of the Mississippi Constitution. 

 
8. [sic] Identification Testimony 

 The defendant argues that he is entitled to a new 
trial because this court erred when it allowed prosecu-
tion witnesses, Katherine Snow and Pork Collins, to 
make an in court identification of the defendant. Flow-
ers contends that their out of court identification was 
based on an out of court police photo lineup that was 
unduly suggestive. He also claims that this court erred 
when it refused to allow Patricia Jackson and Robert 
Johnson to offer expert opinions as to the suggestive-
ness of the photo lineup. 

 A photographic line is impermissibly suggestive 
when the accused is conspicuously singled out in some 
manner from others in the lineup. Brown v. State, 829 
So.2d 93, 102 (Miss. 2002). At a pre-trial hearing, this 
court concluded that the photo lineup was not unduly 
suggestive. For the reasons stated at the pre-trial hear-
ing, this court reaffirms the conclusion that the photo 
lineup was not unduly suggestive and finds that Flow-
ers is not entitled to a new trial. 

 The defendant proffered the testimony of Patricia 
Jackson who was offered as an expert in the field of 
police lineups. Her proffered testimony was that the 
photo lineups, that were shown to Collins and Snow, 
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were unduly suggestive. This court, at a pre-trial 
hearing found that there was no area of expertise con-
cerning photo police lineups and that if there was such 
a field, Jackson exhibited no expertise in that field. 
During the trial, the defense also sought to offer the 
testimony of Robert Johnson concerning the photo 
lineups. However, Johnson testified that he did not 
have sufficient information about the lineup to offer an 
expert opinion. 

 This court finds that it correctly denied the prof-
fered testimony of Patricia Johnson since she clearly 
had no expertise in the area of police photo lineups. 
Additionally, this court finds that both Katherine Snow 
and Porky Collins were vigorously cross examined by 
the defense about their out of court identification of 
Flowers. Thus, if there was an area of expertise con-
cerning police photo lineups, an expert in that field 
would have been of no assistance to the jury. Conse-
quently, Flowers is not entitled to a new trial based on 
the ruling of this court that denied expert testimony 
on the issue. 

 
9. [sic] Gunshot Residue 

 Flowers contends that he is entitled to a new trial 
because this court erred when it allowed testimony 
that gunshot residue was found on his hand the day of 
the murders. This court considered the testimony of 
both David Balash and Joe Andrews, who testified that 
gunshot residue consists of lead, barium, and anti-
mony in a spherical shape and that this combination is 
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not found anywhere else. This court finds that all the 
scientific data supports that conclusion. 

 The issue of how the gunshot residue came to rest 
on Flowers’ hand is not a scientific question. That was 
a question of fact for the jury to determine. Flowers 
cross examined Andrews and other witnesses about 
the possibility that the gunshot residue was on his 
hand for reasons other than from having discharged a 
weapon. Thus, this court finds that it was correct in al-
lowing Joe Andrews to testify that gunshot residue was 
found on Flowers’ hand the day of the murders. 

 
10. [sic] Limiting Voir Dire 

Questions on Racial Prejudice 

 The defendant argues that he is entitled to a new 
trial because this court limited voir dire questions on 
the issue of racial prejudice. However, no such ques-
tions were propounded and this court made no rulings 
concerning such questions. Therefore, this court finds 
this issue to be without merit. 

 
11. [sic] Limiting Voir Dire on 

the Death Penalty and Mitigation 

 The defendant argues that he is entitled to a new 
trial because this court erred in limiting his voir dire 
questions on the death penalty and on mitigation. 

 The only limits this court placed on voir dire, con-
cerning these subjects, is when this court did not allow 
defense counsel to question individual members of the 
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venire concerning their personal definition and opinion 
of what they thought were appropriate mitigators and 
when defense counsel engaged in repetitive question-
ing of members of the venire. These limitations were 
appropriate. See Pitchford v. State, 2010 WL 2521745 
* 7 (Miss. June 24, 2010), Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968 
(Miss. 2007). Accordingly, Flowers is not entitled to a 
new trial on this issue. 

 
12. [sic] Death Qualification of Jurors 

 Flowers contends that this court erred when it ex-
cused for cause various jurors who stated during voir 
dire that they could not consider imposing the death 
penalty. This court finds that it acted properly when it 
allowed members of the venire to be struck for cause, 
who stated that they could not consider the imposition 
of the death penalty. See Grayson v. State, 806 So.2d 
241, 254 (Miss. 2001). Therefore, Flowers is not enti-
tled to a new trial on this issue. 

 
13. [sic] Improper Re-Voir Dire of Jurors 

 The defendant argues that he is entitled to a new 
trial because this court acted improperly when it con-
ducted a re-voir dire of members of the venire who ex-
pressed an ability to consider both life without parole 
and the death penalty as possible sentences. 

 The record will show that this court conducted a 
re-voir dire only of those venire members who gave 
such confusing and inconsistent answers that re-voir 
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dire was necessary in order for this court and counsel 
for both sides to understand whether they could con-
sider the death penalty. “A juror’s position on the death 
penalty must be unmistakably clear, or a trial judge 
may properly remove them for cause.” Brown v. State, 
890 So.2d 901, 910 (Miss. 2004) Here, due to ambigu-
ous responses from members of the venire, as to 
whether they could consider imposition of the death 
penalty, it was appropriate for this court to conduct a 
re-voir dire on this issue. See Pitchford v. State, 2010 
WL 2521745 * 6 (Miss. June 24, 2010). Accordingly, 
Flowers is not entitled to a new trial on this issue. 

 
14. [sic] Failure to Strike Jurors for Cause 

 Flowers argues that he is entitled to a new trial 
because this court failed to strike jurors 3, 17, 40, 51, 
54, 67, 69, 72, 75, 107, 111, 120, 124, and 126 for cause. 
The record will show that of this group, only juror # 3 
served on the jury. Juror #75 was selected to serve as 
an alternate juror, but was excused from the jury on 
June 12, 2010 due to the illness of her sister. The record 
will also show that the defendant only used eight per-
emptory strikes and, therefore, cannot complain about 
this court’s failure to strike juror #3, since he had a 
strike available to use and failed to exercise the strike. 
See Evans v. State, 725 So. 2d 613, 652 (Miss. 1997). 

 Flowers further asserts that this court’s failure to 
strike the above listed jurors, caused him to have to 
use peremptory strikes on them and forced him to ac-
cept jurors who were tainted by bias and prejudice. 
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 This court saw no evidence that any of the jurors 
that were selected were tainted by bias and prejudice. 
Additionally, the jurors that Flowers believed should 
be stricken for cause all indicated that they could be 
fair and impartial, that they would lay aside any 
knowledge or opinion that they had about the case, and 
base their decision strictly on the evidence presented. 
This court had an opportunity to observe their de-
meanor and body language and found their answers to 
be sincere. This court will also note that several jurors 
were struck for cause even though they expressed an 
ability to be fair and impartial. 

 This court will again note that Flowers had four 
peremptory challenges available to him that he did not 
use. If he was concerned about not having a sufficient 
number of peremptory strikes available, he should 
have requested additional strikes. See Mhoon v. State, 
464 So.2d 77, 81 (Miss. 1985). That he did not do. A 
prerequisite for appeal of a trial court’s refusal to sus-
tain challenges for cause is showing that peremptory 
challenges were exhausted and incompetent jurors 
were forced upon the defendant. Christmas v. State, 10 
So.3d 413, 423 (Miss. 2009), Chisolm v. State, 529 So.2d 
635, 639 (Miss. 1988). Here, Flowers neither exhausted 
his peremptory challenges nor did he request addi-
tional peremptory challenges. Thus, he is not entitled 
to a new trial on his claim that this court erred in fail-
ing to strike for cause jurors 3, 17, 40, 51, 54, 67, 69, 72, 
75, 107, 111, 120, 124, and 126. 
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15. [sic] Peremptory Strikes of the Prosecution 

 The defendant argues that the peremptory strikes 
of the prosecution were in violation of Batson v. Ken-
tucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed. 2d 69 
(1986). He further argues that this court erred when it 
denied him the use of a rough draft copy of the tran-
script of voir dire, and also in denying him a recess to 
allow him to attempt to rebut the race neutral reasons 
offered in defense of the peremptory strikes made by 
the prosecution. 

 The record will show that the State of Mississippi 
exercised six peremptory strikes. Five of those peremp-
tory strikes were used to strike African Americans. 
Consequently, this court required the prosecution to of-
fer race neutral reasons for the strikes that were used. 
The race neutral reasons offered by the State are as 
follows: 

Juror 14, an African American female was 
struck because she had worked in the past 
with Archie Flowers, the father of Curtis 
Flowers. Additionally, she had been sued in 
the past by the Tardy Furniture Store. 

Juror 44, an African. American female was 
struck because she indicated that she was not 
sure whether she could consider the death 
penalty. Additionally, she stated that she 
worked in the same factory with one of the de-
fendant’s sisters, but claimed to have no con-
tact with her. However, a manager from the 
factory, stated under oath, that this juror 
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worked on the same factory line as Flowers’ 
sister, about nine inches from her. 

Juror 45, an African American female was 
struck because she first stated that she could 
not judge anyone. She later changed her mind 
and said that she could judge. Additionally, 
she had been sued in the past by the Tardy 
Furniture Store. 

Juror 53, an African American female stated 
that her nephew is married to a sister of Cur-
tis Flowers. Also, her brother-in-law is married 
to Curtis Flowers’ aunt. On her questionnaire, 
she stated that she could not under any cir-
cumstances consider the imposition of the 
death penalty. During voir dire, she stated 
that she had lied on her questionnaire when 
she stated that she could not consider the 
death penalty because she did not want to 
serve on the jury. She was also late to court on 
the second day of voir dire. 

Juror 59, a white female was struck because 
she stated that she would lean toward impos-
ing a sentence of life without parole instead of 
the death penalty. 

Juror 62, an African American female stated 
that in the past she had worked with Archie 
Flowers, the father of Curtis Flowers. She also 
stated that she had worked in the past with 
Lola Flowers, a sister to Curtis Flowers. She 
stated that she could possibly lean towards 
the Flowers family in the trial. 
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 The defendant attempted to rebut some of the race 
neutral strikes offered by the prosecution. More specif-
ically, the defense tried to rebut the strikes of jurors 14 
and 44 by arguing that the prosecution tendered juror 
17, even though she knew Archie Flowers and other 
members of the Flowers family. However, this court 
found that a bank teller, who waits on customers at a 
bank, is substantially different from working at the 
same business establishment with members of the de-
fendant’s family. It was also abundantly clear that ju-
ror 17 had a much closer relationship with members of 
the victims families that [sic] she had with anyone in 
Flowers’ family. In fact, this was of such a concern to 
Flowers that he sought to have this court strike juror 
17 from the venire for cause. This court will also note 
that the prosecution did not strike juror 8, an African 
American male, even though he knew Archie Flowers, 
Jr. from the Auto Zone store. It was evident to this 
court that the prosecution utilized peremptory strikes 
only against those individuals who actually worked 
with, or who in the past had worked with, members of 
Flowers’ family. 

 The defense also tried to rebut the strike of juror 
53, by arguing that the State tendered juror 51, even 
though he had not originally been forthcoming about 
the fact that he had heard about the case from being 
in a previous venire. However, this court found that 
Flowers failed to rebut the strike of juror 53, because 
juror 53 stated that she intentionally lied on her ques-
tionnaire, while there was nothing to indicate that ju-
ror 51 had intentionally been untruthful. Ultimately, 
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this court found that the State offered race neutral rea-
sons for all of the peremptory strikes utilized by the 
prosecution and that the defense failed to rebut those 
reasons. 

 In Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910, 923 (Miss. 
2007), the court held that the fact that a juror had 
worked in the past with Flowers’ sister was a race neu-
tral reason for the strike. However, the court found dis-
parate treatment between a black juror and a white 
juror, who had a family member that worked with 
Flowers’ father, and, therefore, found the race neutral 
reason offered by the prosecution to be pretextual. 
Here, however, there is no disparate treatment. Every 
member of the jury that worked with or had in the past 
worked with members of the Flowers family were per-
emptorily struck by the prosecution. 

 Being acquainted with family members of a de-
fendant have been found to be race neutral. Manning 
v. State, 735 So.2d 323 (Miss. 1999); Porter v. State, 616 
So. 2d 899, 907 (Miss 1993). A juror’s reluctance to 
serve has been found to be a race neutral reason for a 
peremptory strike. Manning at 340; Walker v. State, 
671 So. 2d 581 (Miss. 1995). A juror’s equivocating or 
anti-death penalty views have also been found to be a 
race neutral reason for a peremptory strike. Manning 
at 340; Mack v. State, 650 So.2d 1289, 1300 (Miss. 
1994). Being late for court is a valid race neutral rea-
son for the use of a peremptory strike. Lockett v. State, 
517 So. 2d 1346 1357 (Miss. 1987). The inability to sit 
in judgment of another person has also been found to 
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be a race neutral reason for a peremptory strike. Cas-
ton v. State, 823 So. 2d 473, 500 (Miss. 2002). 

 Here, the race neutral reasons offered by the State 
in support of the peremptory challenges utilized by the 
prosecution are clear in the record. Most of the race 
neutral reasons offered by the prosecution have been 
found by the Mississippi Supreme Court to be valid 
race neutral reasons supporting peremptory strikes. 
This court also finds that due to the facts peculiar to 
this case, the fact that jurors had been sued in the past 
by the Tardy Furniture was a valid race neutral reason 
for striking them.2 The prosecution offered multiple 
reasons for peremptorily striking each of the African 
Americans that were struck. At trial, this court found 
the reasons offered by the State to be valid race neutral 
strikes. This court found that the defense failed to re-
but the race neutral strikes reasons offered by the 
prosecution since the State tendered no Caucasian ju-
rors that had similar issues to those of the African 
American jurors that were peremptorily struck. This 
court now reaffirms those findings. 

 In his supplementation to the motion for JNOV, or 
new trial, Flowers argues that this court should with-
hold ruling on the motion until such time as the trial 
transcript is prepared, in order to allow him to review 
the record in an attempt to post-trial rebut the race 

 
 2 One of the victims was Bertha Tardy, the owner of the 
store. The murders occurred at the Tardy Furniture Store. In 
cross examination of Clemmie Fleming, the defense implied that 
the Tardy Furniture Store had forgiven her debt in exchange for 
her testimony. 
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neutral reasons offered by the prosecution in support 
of their peremptory strikes. “However, the proper test 
is measuring what was known when the Batson deci-
sion was first made, during the jury-selection process, 
and for purposes of this opinion, the post-trial reason-
ing is disregarded.” Booker v. State, 5 So. 3d 356 (Miss. 
2008). Therefore, the defendant is bound by the rebut-
tal reasons that were offered at trial and not from a 
post-trial review of the transcript. Consequently, wait-
ing until the trial transcript is prepared before ruling 
on this issue would be of no benefit to Flowers. 

 Flowers also contends that this court erred when 
it did not provide him with a rough draft of the court 
reporter’s transcript of voir dire. The record will show 
that in order to make a determination of whether cer-
tain jurors should be excused for cause, this court had 
the court reporter prepare a rough draft transcript of 
her notes on those limited jurors. However, a complete 
transcript of the voir dire was not prepared. The record 
will also show that this court did not utilize the court 
reporter’s notes in making its findings that the reasons 
offered by the State in support of the peremptory 
strikes were race neutral. A recess of several days in 
length would have been required in order for a com-
plete transcript of three and one-half days of voir dire 
to have been prepared. This court finds that Flowers 
suffered no harm in this court’s denial of his request of 
a transcript of voir dire. See Howell v. State, 860 So.2d 
704 (Miss. 2003). 

 Flowers also claims that this court erred when it 
failed to grant him an extended recess to allow him to 
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attempt to find reasons that would rebut the race neu-
tral reasons offered by the State, in support of the per-
emptory strikes that were utilized. This court will note 
that following voir dire, this court granted more time 
for the defense counsel to review notes taken during 
voir dire, than was originally requested. Flowers was 
represented by two attorneys, with numerous interns 
and defense staff members assisting with the case. 
This court finds that he had ample time and staff to 
review voir dire notes to determine whether the race 
neutral reasons offered by the State were pretextual. 
Consequently, this court finds that it did not err in fail-
ing to grant an extended recess to the defendant to al-
low him to try to find reasons to rebut the race neutral 
reasons offered by the State. 

 
16. [sic] Testimony of Odell Hallmon 

 The defendant argues that the testimony of Odell 
Hallmon should have been excluded based on a pre-
trial motion that was made at one of his previous trials. 
This court finds that Flowers waived the issue because 
at trial, he failed to make a contemporaneous objection 
to the testimony of Odell Hallmon. He also did not seek 
to exclude this testimony in pre-trial motions that 
were heard on September 12, 2008, April 20, 2010, or 
June 1, 2010. 

 
17. [sic] Excluding Testimony of Robert Johnson 

 This court excluded the testimony of Robert John-
son who was offered as an expert witness in the field of 
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law enforcement, police practices, consulting, investi-
gation, administration, communication, dispatching 
and training. Flowers contends that this court erred 
when it excluded the testimony. 

 When considering whether expert testimony is ad-
missible, this court finds it appropriate to first look at 
the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Rule 702 of 
the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure states: 

If scientific, technical or other specialized 
knowledge will assist the trier of fact to un-
derstand the evidence or to determine a fact 
in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by 
knowledge, skill, experience, training or edu-
cation, may testify thereto in the form of an 
opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is 
based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the tes-
timony is the product of reliable principles 
and methods, and (3) the witness has applied 
the principles and methods reliably to the 
facts of the case. 

M.R.C.P. 702. In Mississippi Transportation Commis-
sion v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 35 (Miss. 2003), the 
Mississippi Supreme Court held that the testimony of 
expert witnesses should be admitted only if the wit-
ness is qualified by virtue of his or her knowledge, skill, 
experience or education, and the witnesses’s scientific, 
technical or other specialized knowledge must assist 
the trier of fact in understanding or deciding a fact in 
issue. 

 In determining whether expert testimony is ad-
missible, courts must also make a determination as to 
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whether the testimony is reliable. The factors include 
whether the theory or technique can be and has been 
tested; whether it has been subjected to peer review 
and publication; whether, in respect to a particular 
technique, there is a high known or potential rate of 
error; whether there are standards controlling the 
technique’s operation; and whether the theory or tech-
nique enjoys general acceptance within a relevant sci-
entific community. McLemore at 37, citing Daubert v. 
Merrell Dow Pharms., 509 U.S. 579, 592-94 (1993). 

 In Palmer v. Volkswagen of America, Inc., 904 
So.2d 1077, 1092 (Miss. 2005), the Mississippi Supreme 
Court held that if a witness is testifying about subjects 
that require scientific, technical, or other specialized 
knowledge that is beyond the common knowledge of a 
random adult, the testimony must be treated as expert 
testimony. 

 Mr. Johnson was offered as a witness to show that 
the investigation into the murders was flawed. More 
specifically, he claimed the investigation was flawed 
because there was never a lead investigator and cen-
tral repository of information and evidence that was 
gathered; that the integrity of the crime scene was not 
properly preserved causing the possibility of evidence 
contamination and the overlooking of evidence; that 
evidence was not properly documented; and that the 
investigation focused too early on one suspect. 

 In his proffered testimony, Johnson stated that 
there were commonly accepted investigative standards 
throughout most of the country. However, he never 
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articulated what they were. He even went so far as to 
say that if something is not documented, it did not hap-
pen. He stated that there are no minimum standards 
for police investigations in Mississippi and, therefore, 
was unable to say that the investigation of the Tardy 
murders fell below minimum standards for police pro-
cedures and protocols in Mississippi. 

 In Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968, 997 (Miss. 2007), 
the court held that the testimony of an expert in the 
field of police investigatory techniques must meet the 
standards required under Daubers and McLemore. 
This court will note that during the trial, this court 
heard testimony from experts in the field of ballistics, 
pathology, fingerprints, shoe print identification, gun-
shot residue identification, and trace evidence. In each 
of those fields, a properly trained expert could analyze 
the evidence gathered and reach the same or a similar 
conclusion as any other expert. In the field of criminal 
investigations, there are no established investigatory 
techniques that, if followed, will lead to the same re-
sult. If so, then every police department would have a 
manual that, if followed, would lead to the arrest and 
conviction of all criminal perpetrators. However, that 
is not the case, because no two crimes are the same 
and, thus, no two criminal investigations are the same. 
Because there is no valid way of testing the science of 
crime scene investigations, this court found and now 
reaffirms that Johnson’s proffered testimony failed to 
meet the reliability standard required under Rule 702. 

 This court will also note that every law enforce-
ment officer that testified at the trial, as a prosecution 
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witness, admitted that he or she could and maybe 
should have done something differently. The defense 
called as defense witnesses James Taylor Williams, Liz 
Van Horne, Wayne Miller, and John Johnson, all of 
whom were law enforcement officers that played a role 
in investigating the crimes. They were called for the 
specific purpose of showing deficiencies in the investi-
gation. Thus, this court found and reaffirms that even 
if Johnson’s proffered testimony met the reliability 
standards of Rule 702, it would be cumulative in na-
ture and would not assist the jury. Ross v. State, 22 
So.3d 400, 420 (Miss.App. 2009). 

 This court finds it ruled correctly in excluding the 
testimony of Robert Johnson. Therefore, the defendant 
is not entitled to a new trial on this issue. 

 
18. [sic] Jury Deliberations at Guilt Phase of Trial 

 Flowers claims that he was denied a fair trial be-
cause the jury at the guilt phase of the trial deliberated 
for only twenty-eight minutes before finding him 
guilty. This court did not calculate the length of time 
the jury deliberated before reaching a verdict, but the 
time suggested by the defendant is definitely a close 
approximation. However, there is no legal yardstick to 
measure the length of time a jury must deliberate be-
fore reaching a verdict. A short deliberation does not 
automatically demonstrate bias or prejudice. Estate of 
Jones v. Phillips, 992 So.2d 1131, 1149 (Miss. 2009). 

 In Gray v. State, 728 So.2d 36 (Miss. 1998), the 
jury deliberated for ten minutes before convicting the 
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defendant of Capital Murder. The court found that the 
length of deliberations before returning a verdict did 
not show bias or passion, and that time restrictions or 
guidelines regarding jury deliberations would usurp 
the jury system. Gray at 63. 

 Here, the jury appeared to be an attentive jury 
that listened carefully to the evidence. This court ob-
served several jurors taking extensive notes through-
out the trial. The fact that the jury deliberated for less 
time than the defendant would have preferred is not 
proof of a biased, prejudiced, or tainted jury. This court 
finds that Flowers was not denied a fair trial, and is, 
therefore, not entitled to a new trial on this issue. 

 
19. [sic] Overnight Recess Between 
Guilt and Sentencing Phase of Trial 

 The defendant argues that this court erred when 
it failed to grant an overnight recess between the guilt 
and sentencing phase of his trial. Additionally, he con-
tends that this court relinquished control of the court 
to a restless, hungry, inattentive, and distracted jury 
during the presentation of mitigation evidence by the 
defense. He also claims that this court improperly in-
terrupted the presentation of mitigation evidence by 
recessing to allow the jury to eat. 

 On June 18, 2010, after the jury found Flowers 
guilty of four counts of Capital Murder, this court re-
cessed for a considerable length of time before moving 
into the sentencing phase of the trial. A delay of just 
fifteen minutes between the guilt and sentencing 
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phase and a denial of a twenty-four hour cooling off pe-
riod is not grounds for setting aside a sentence of death 
in a Capital Murder trial. Howell v. State, 860 So. 2d 
704, 753 (Miss. 2003). Here, the delay between the sen-
tencing and guilt phase of the trial was a period much 
longer than fifteen minutes. Additionally, Flowers has 
presented nothing to suggest that he was prejudiced 
by this court’s failure to grant him an overnight recess 
between the end of the guilt phase and the start of the 
sentencing phase of his trial. Thus, he is not entitled to 
a new trial on this issue. 

 During the sentencing phase of the trial, this court 
sought input from the jury as to whether to recess for 
the evening or continue with the presentation of evi-
dence until later in the evening.3 The jury chose to pro-
ceed hearing testimony and requested that food be 
provided to them. This court adhered to the jury’s 
wishes, food was ordered for them, and the presenta-
tion of testimony and evidence continued until the food 
arrived. Once food arrived for the jury, this court re-
cessed to allow them to eat. Once the jury had eaten, 
the presentation of the evidence continued until the 
defense rested, and then the court recessed for the 
evening. 

 The defendant argues that this court improperly 
interrupted the presentation of his mitigation evi-
dence. However, the record will show that throughout 

 
 3 This court did not keep track of the time that various events 
were occurring during the trial, but believes that this occurred 
around 7:00-7.30 p.m. 
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the trial, this court took recesses to allow the jury to 
have lunch and take rest breaks. This court finds that 
the recess during the presentation of mitigation evi-
dence was no different than the other recesses that oc-
curred throughout the trial. Also, the defendant raised 
no objection when this court took a recess in order to 
allow the jury to eat and he suffered no prejudice from 
the recess. 

 While it sounds dramatic, like something out of a 
John Grisham novel, to suggest that this court relin-
quished control of the trial to a restless, hungry, inat-
tentive, and distracted jury, it is also as fictional as 
anything written in a Grisham novel. While this court 
honored the request of the jury to continue with the 
presentation of the evidence, rather than recessing for 
the evening, the jury was not in control of the court-
room. This court saw nothing to suggest that the jury 
was restless, inattentive, or distracted. The defendant 
is not entitled to a new trial on this issue. 

 
20. [sic] Objections During Mitigation Testimony 

 The defendant claims that he is entitled to a new 
trial because this court erred in sustaining objections 
made by the prosecution during the sentencing phase 
of the trial. The defendant has offered no specificity or 
detail about the rulings on objections of which he com-
plains. This court does recall sustaining objections to 
defense questions to member [sic] of Flowers’ family 
about their desire that he be sentenced to life without 
parole. Such questions are not permissible and this 
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court, therefore, did not err in sustaining objections to 
those questions. Wilcher v. State, 697 So.2d 1087, 1104 
(Miss. 1997). Evidence which does not bear on the de-
fendant’s character, prior record, or circumstances of 
his offense is properly excluded at the sentencing 
phase of a Capital Murder trial. Stewart v. State, 662 
So.2d 552, 562 (Miss. 1995). 

 While this court recalls no other objections, this 
court carefully considered all objections that were 
made and ruled on such in accordance with the Missis-
sippi Rules of Evidence and the decisions of the state 
and federal appellate courts. Consequently, this court 
finds that the defendant is not entitled to a new trial 
based on the rulings of this court to objections made 
during the sentencing phase of the trial. 

 
21. [sic] Jury Instructions During 
the Culpability Phase of the Trial 

 The defendant contends that he is entitled to a 
new trial because this court denied, during the culpa-
bility phase of the trial, Instructions D-1A, D-2A, D-1C, 
D-1D, D-3, D-6, D-7, D-8, D-11, D-16, and D-17. 

 This court finds that it properly denied these 
instructions because they were either peremptory in 
nature, incorrect statements of the law, cumulative, 
repetitive, or not supported by the evidence. Conse-
quently, this court finds that Flowers is not entitled to 
a new trial based on the failure of this court to grant 
those instructions. 
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22. [sic] Sentencing Instructions 

 The defendant contends that this court erred in 
granting Sentencing Instructions SS-1A, SS-1B-, SS-
1C, and SS-1D. He also argues that this court erred 
when it denied defense Sentencing Instructions D-1, 
D-5A, D-5B, D-5C, D-5D, D-7, D-8, D-9, D-11, D-12, D-
13, D-14, D-17 D-18, D-19, D-20, D-21, D-29, D-30, D-
31, D-32, D-33, D-34, D-36, D-38, and D-40. 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instructions SS-
1A, SS-1B-, SS-1C, and SS-1D are correct statements 
of the law and that there was no error in granting 
those instructions. This court finds that it properly de-
nied Sentencing Instruction D-1, since it was peremp-
tory in nature. 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instructions D-5A, D-5B, D-5C, D-5D, since they were 
repetitive and cumulative in view of the fact that Sen-
tencing Instructions SS-1A, SS-1B-, SS-1C, and SS-1D 
were granted. 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-4. See Brown v. State, 890 So.2d 901, 920 
(Miss. 2004). 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-7, 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and cumu-
lative in nature in view of the fact that Sentencing In-
structions SS-1A, SS-1B-, SS-1C, and SS-1D were 
granted. 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-8 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and 
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cumulative in nature in view of the fact that Sentenc-
ing Instructions SS-1A, SS-1B-, SS-1C, SS-1D, and SS-
5 were granted. 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-9 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and cumu-
lative in nature in view of the fact that Sentencing In-
structions SS-1A, SS-1B-, SS-1C, SS-1D, and SS-5 were 
granted. 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-11 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and cumu-
lative in nature in view of the fact that Sentencing In-
structions SS-5, SS-6, and D-37 were granted. 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-12. See King v. State, 960 So.2d 413, 466 
(Miss. 2007), and Lynch v. State, 877 So.2d 1254, 1268 
(Miss. 2001). 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-13 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and cumu-
lative in nature in view of the fact that Sentencing In-
structions SS-1A, SS-1B, SS-1C, SS-1D, SS-5, and D-37 
were granted. 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-14 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and cumu-
lative in nature in view of the fact that Sentencing In-
structions SS-6 and D-37 were granted. 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-17 
was properly denied since it was unnecessary in view 
of the fact that this court granted Sentencing Instruc-
tions SS-1A, SS-1B, SS-1C, and SS-1D. 
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 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-18 
was properly denied in view of the fact that this court 
correctly instructed the jury on the law by granting 
Sentencing Instructions SS-1A, SS-1B, SS-1C, and SS-
1D. 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-19 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and cumu-
lative in nature in view of the fact that Sentencing In-
structions SS-1A, SS-1B, SS-1C, SS-1D, and SS-4 were 
granted. 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-20 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and cumu-
lative in nature in view of the fact that Sentencing In-
structions SS-1A, SS-1B, SS-1C, SS-1D, and D-31 were 
granted. 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-21 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and cumu-
lative in view of the fact that Sentencing Instruction 
D-24 was granted. 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-29. See Pitchford v. State, 2010 WL 
2521745 * 29 (Miss. June 24, 2010). 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-30. See King v. State, 960 So.2d 413 
(Miss. 2007), and Holland v. State, 705 So.2d 307, 354 
(Miss. 1997). 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-31. See Branch v. State, 882 So.2d 36, 70 
(Miss. 2004). 
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 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-32. See Hansen v. State, 592 So.2d 114, 
151 (Miss. 1991), and Minnick v. State, 551 So.2d 77, 
95 (Miss. 1988). 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-33. See King v. State, 920 So.2d 413, 466, 
and Lynch v. State, 877 So.2d 1254, 1268 (Miss. 2004). 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-34. See Gillett v. State, 2010 WL 2609432, 
* 40 (Miss. July 1, 2010), and Pitchford v. State, 2010 
WL 2521745 * 31-32 (Miss. June 24, 2010). 

 This court finds that Sentencing Instruction D-36 
was properly denied since it was repetitive and cumu-
lative in view of the fact that Sentencing Instruction 
SS-4 was granted. 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-38. See Gillett v. State, 2010 WL 2609432, 
* 42 (Miss. July 1, 2010), and Chamberlain v. State, 989 
So.2d 320, 342 (Miss. 2008). 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-39. See Gillett v. State, 2010 WL 2609432, 
* 39 (Miss. July 1, 2010), Manning v. State, 735 So.2d 
323, 351 (Miss. 1999). 

 This court finds that it properly denied Sentencing 
Instruction D-40. See Gillett v. State, 2010 WL 2609432, 
* 37 (Miss. July 1, 2010). 

 Because this court correctly instructed the jury 
on the law and properly excluded instructions that 
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were peremptory, cumulative, repetitive, unnecessary, 
or incorrect statements of the law, this court finds 
that Flowers is not entitled to a new trial on any 
issue involving the granting or denial of sentencing 
instructions. 

 
22. [sic] Using Robbery as an Aggravating Factor 

 The defendant contends that this court erred in 
allowing the crime of robbery to be used as an aggra-
vating factor in the sentencing instructions that were 
granted during the sentencing phase of the trial. 
This court, having considered this issue, finds that it 
did not err in allowing the crime of robbery to be used 
as an aggravating factor. See Gillett v. State, 2010 WL 
2609432, * 34-35 (Miss. July 1, 2010), and Ross v. State, 
954 So.2d 968, 1014 (Miss. 2007). 

 
23. [sic] Failing to Provide DVD Player to the Jury 

 During the sentencing phase of the trial, the de-
fense played a portion of a DVD that showed Curtis 
Flowers, and other members of a group, singing Gospel 
music. The DVD was played on a computer and pro-
jected onto a screen with a computer, projector, and 
screen that was provided by defense counsel. The de-
fendant now contends that this court erred when it 
failed to provide a DVD player, so that the jury could 
watch the DVD during deliberations. 

 This court will note that the defendant did not 
request that this court provide a DVD player for 
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the jury’s use during deliberations. Also, during delib-
erations, the jury did not ask for a DVD player to be 
provided to them. Therefore, this court finds that 
no error occurred in failing to provide a DVD player 
to the jury. 

 
24. [sic] Inquiry From the Jury During 

the Sentencing Phase of the Trial 

 During the jury deliberations at the sentencing 
phase of the trial, the court received a written inquiry 
from the jury that read as follows: “If we can not agree 
unamiously [sic]; who will make the ultimate deci-
sion?” This court responded in writing to the jury as 
follows: “That is not an issue the jury should be con-
cerned about.” The defendant argues that this court 
erred when it responded to the jury inquiry in the man-
ner in which it did, and that this court should instead 
have granted Sentencing Instruction D-34, which had 
previously been denied by the court. 

 In a preceding section of this opinion, this court 
found that it properly denied Sentencing Instruction 
D-34. This court will note that in Sentencing Instruc-
tion CS-1, the jury was instructed that if they were un-
able to unanimously agree on a sentence, then they 
should write that on the sentencing forms provided by 
the court. However, even if this court had never in-
structed the jury on what would happen if they could 
not agree, there, would have been no error. Wilcher v. 
State, 697 So.2d 1087, 1106 (Miss. 1997). 
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 This court will also note that the jury was not in-
quiring about what they should do in the event that 
they could not unanimously agree on a verdict. Had 
that been the case, then advising them to re-read in-
struction CS-1 would have been appropriate. The jury 
was inquiring about who would sentence Flowers if 
they did not unanimously agree on a verdict. This court 
properly advised the jury that this issue was not an 
area of concern for them. This court responded to the 
jury inquiry in the only way that it could without pos-
sibly influencing the verdict of the jury. Supplemental 
jury instructions should not be given unless done so for 
the purpose of clarifying another instruction, or to 
cover an omission. Payton v. State, 897 So.2d 921, 955 
(Miss. 2003). It is not advisable to give instructions to 
a jury once it has begun deliberations. Haynes v. State, 
451 So.2d 227, 231 (Miss. 1984). 

 After the sentence of the jury was pronounced, this 
court individually polled each member of the jury to 
determine whether they agree that Flowers should 
suffer death. Every member of the jury affirmatively 
stated that they agreed with the verdict. 

 This court finds that it did not err in responding 
to the jury question, during the deliberations in the 
sentencing phase of the trial, in the manner in which 
it responded. Consequently, the defendant is not enti-
tled to a new trial on this issue. 
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Conclusion 

 This court has carefully considered the Motion for 
J.N.O.V. or in the Alternative for a New Trial, that was 
filed by the Defendant, Curtis Giovanni Flowers, on 
June 28, 2010. After having carefully considered the 
motion, for the reasons stated herein, and for the rea-
sons stated in the rulings from the bench pre-trial and 
during the trial, this court finds that the motion is not 
well-taken and should be denied. 

 A SEPARATE ORDER WILL ISSUE THIS DATE. 

 THIS THE 4th DAY OF AUGUST, 2010. 

/s/ Joseph H. Loper, Jr.             
JOSEPH H. LOPER, JR. 
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE 
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 EN BANC. 

 COLEMAN, JUSTICE, FOR THE COURT: 

 ¶ 1. Curtis Giovanni Flowers was indicted on 
four counts of capital murder with the underlying fel-
ony of armed robbery, stemming from the 1996 mur-
ders of four employees of Tardy Furniture Store in 
Winona, Mississippi. Following his sixth trial, he was 
convicted on all four counts of capital murder and sen-
tenced to death. The Court affirmed his convictions 
and death sentence in Flowers v. State, 158 So.3d 1009 
(Miss. 2014) (Flowers VI). Flowers filed a petition for a 
writ of certiorari with the United States Supreme 
Court. In Flowers v. Mississippi, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 
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2157, 195 L.Ed.2d 817 (2016), the Supreme Court 
granted Flowers’s petition for a writ of certiorari, va-
cated the Court’s judgment in Flowers VI, and re-
manded the case to the Court for further consideration 
in light of Foster v. Chatman, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 
1737, 195 L.Ed.2d 1 (2016). 

 ¶ 2. The Supreme Court decided Foster after 
Flowers VI had been decided by the Court.1 Because 
the sole issue raised in Foster was whether the prose-
cution’s use of peremptory strikes was racially moti-
vated in violation of Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 
106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986), the Supreme 
Court’s order pertains to only one issue raised by Flow-
ers in his latest appeal to the Court—the Batson issue. 
Accordingly, the remaining issues addressed by the 
Court in Flowers VI were not disturbed and the Court’s 
opinion as to the remaining issues is reinstated as fully 
set out herein. 

 ¶ 3. On remand, the Court afforded the parties 
an opportunity to submit supplemental briefs in light 
of Foster as directed by the Supreme Court. After re-
view and further consideration in light of Foster, we 
discern no Batson violation and reinstate and affirm 
Flowers’s convictions and death sentence. 

   

 
 1 On November 13, 2014, the Court issued its opinion in 
Flowers VI, affirming Flowers’s capital murder convictions and 
sentence of death, with mandate issuing on April 2, 2015. On May 
23, 2016, the Supreme Court issued its opinion in Foster. 
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Factual Background and Procedural History 

 ¶ 4. At approximately 9:00 on the morning of 
July 16, 1996, Bertha Tardy, the owner of Tardy Furni-
ture Store, called Sam Jones and asked him to come to 
the store to train two new employees. When Jones ar-
rived at the store a short time later, he discovered the 
bodies of Bertha Tardy, Robert Golden, Carmen Rigby, 
and Derrick Stewart. All four victims had been shot in 
the head; Stewart was the only victim still alive when 
Jones arrived. Jones went to a nearby business and 
asked an employee to call the police. Johnny Hargrove, 
the City of Winona Police Chief, was the first law en-
forcement officer to arrive; he called for backup and 
ambulance services. Shell casings from 0.380 caliber 
bullets were recovered from the scene, and a bloody 
shoeprint was found near one of the victims. 

 ¶ 5. Shortly after officers arrived at the scene, 
law enforcement officers received a call about an auto 
burglary at Angelica Garment Factory in Winona. Dep-
uty Sheriff Bill Thornburg responded, and he learned 
that someone had burglarized Doyle Simpson’s car and 
had stolen a 0.380 caliber pistol. Katherine Snow, an 
Angelica employee, placed Curtis Flowers at Simpson’s 
car around 7:15 that morning. 

 ¶ 6. Police interviewed Flowers around 1:30 that 
afternoon, and Flowers consented to a gunshot residue 
test. Police interviewed Flowers again two days later 
on July 18, 1996. Flowers claimed to have been 
babysitting his girlfriend’s children on the morning of 
the murders, but he provided inconsistent statements 
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about his schedule. During the July 16 interview, Flow-
ers said that he woke up around 6:30 a.m. on the day 
of the murders and went to his sister’s house around 
9:00 a.m., then went to a local store around 10:00 a.m. 
On July 18, Flowers said that, on the morning of the 
murders, he woke up around 9:30 a.m., went to his sis-
ter’s house around noon, and went to the store at ap-
proximately 12:45 p.m. Flowers told investigators that 
he had been employed at Tardy Furniture for a few 
days earlier that month, but he had been fired on July 
6 after he did not show up for a few days. Flowers 
moved to Texas in September 1996. After further in-
vestigation, Flowers was arrested and brought back to 
Mississippi. He was indicted on four separate counts of 
capital murder in March 1997. 

 ¶ 7. Flowers was tried for the murder of Bertha 
Tardy in October 1997. After a change of venue from 
Montgomery County to Lee County, Flowers was con-
victed and sentenced to death. Flowers appealed and 
we reversed and remanded for a new trial on the 
ground that Flowers’s right to a fair trial had been vi-
olated by admission of evidence of the other three mur-
der victims. Flowers v. State, 773 So.2d 309 (Miss. 
2000) (“Flowers I”). Flowers’s second trial was for the 
murder of Derrick Stewart; it was held in Harrison 
County in March 1999. The jury returned a guilty ver-
dict and sentenced Flowers to death. On appeal, we 
again reversed and remanded for a new trial. The 
Court held that Flowers’s right to a fair trial had been 
violated, again, by admission of evidence of the other 
victims and by the prosecution arguing facts that were 
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not in evidence. Flowers v. State, 842 So.2d 531 (Miss. 
2003) (“Flowers II”). 

 ¶ 8. The Montgomery County Circuit Court held 
Flowers’s third trial in 2004 and tried him for all four 
murders. The jury found Flowers guilty and sentenced 
him to death. Finding that the State had engaged in 
racial discrimination during jury selection, the Court 
once again reversed and remanded the case for a new 
trial. Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007) 
(“Flowers III”). Flowers’s fourth and fifth trials also 
were on all four counts of capital murder. Both resulted 
in mistrials when the jury was unable to reach a unan-
imous verdict during the culpability phase. The State 
did not seek the death penalty in the fourth trial but 
did seek it in the fifth trial. 

 ¶ 9. The circuit court conducted Flowers’s sixth 
trial, the subject of the instant appeal, in June 2010 in 
Montgomery County. The State tried Flowers for all 
four murders. The State called twenty-one witnesses in 
its case-in-chief. Police Chief Johnny Hargrove was the 
State’s first witness. Hargrove testified that police had 
found a bloody shoeprint at the scene. Hargrove had 
asked the District Attorney’s Office and the Highway 
Patrol to help investigate the murders. Mississippi 
Highway Patrol Investigator Jack Matthews testified 
that he saw a bloody shoeprint and shell casings scat-
tered near the bodies. Matthews testified that cash 
was taken from the store during the murders and that 
he found Flowers’s time sheet and a check made out to 
him for $82.58 on Bertha Tardy’s desk. Matthews said 
that, according to the documents on Bertha Tardy’s 



304 

 

desk, the store would have had $300 cash on hand that 
morning. However, there was only change, no bills, in 
the cash drawer. During his investigation, Matthews 
spoke with Roxanne Ballard, Bertha Tardy’s daughter, 
and learned that Flowers recently had been fired from 
his job at Tardy Furniture. Matthews testified that 
$235 was found hidden in Flowers’s headboard after 
the murders. He also testified that Flowers wore a size 
ten-and-a-half shoe. 

 ¶ 10. Ballard was the bookkeeper at Tardy Fur-
niture and had worked in the store her whole life. 
Looking at the books from the morning of the murders, 
Ballard testified that the store had $400 in the cash 
drawer that morning. However, she confirmed Mat-
thews’s testimony that the books showed $300, but 
Ballard saw a receipt for a late charge in the amount 
of $100, so she knew the drawer had contained a total 
of $400. Ballard testified that $389 was missing from 
the cash drawer after the murders. Also, looking at pic-
tures from the crime scene, Ballard testified that the 
photos showed a bank bag lying wide open on a pile of 
fabric swatches. She testified that the bank bag was 
always closed and it should have been in a drawer or 
on Carmen Rigby’s desk. 

 ¶ 11. Melissa Schoene, a crime scene expert with 
the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, testified that she 
took impressions of the bloody shoeprint and collected 
the 0.380 caliber casings. Sheriff Bill Thornburg testi-
fied that he had gone to Angelica Garment Factory on 
the day of the murders to investigate Doyle Simpson’s 
stolen 0.380 caliber pistol. Thornburg testified that it 
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looked like a screwdriver or tire iron had been used to 
pry open the glove box of Simpson’s car. Thornburg also 
went to Simpson’s mother’s home to collect spent 0.380 
hulls from Simpson’s gun. A few days after the mur-
ders, Thornburg searched the home of Connie Moore, 
Flowers’s girlfriend. He found a size ten-and-a-half 
Fila Grant Hill shoebox in a dresser at Moore’s house. 

 ¶ 12. David Balash, a firearms identification ex-
pert, testified that the bullets collected from Tardy 
Furniture either matched the bullets or were con-
sistent with the bullets collected from Simpson’s 
mother’s house. Joe Andrews, a forensic scientist spe-
cializing in trace evidence, testified that Flowers’s gun-
shot residue test revealed one particle of gunshot 
residue on the back of Flowers’s right hand. Andrews 
also analyzed the shoeprint found at Tardy Furniture, 
and he determined that the print was consistent with 
size ten-and-a-half Fila Grant Hill tennis shoes. Patri-
cia Hallmon Odom Sullivan, one of Flowers’s neigh-
bors, testified that she saw Flowers wearing Fila Grant 
Hill tennis shoes at 7:30 a.m. on the day of the mur-
ders. Elaine Goldstein, another neighbor, testified that 
she had seen Flowers wear Fila Grant Hill tennis 
shoes a couple of months before the murders. 

 ¶ 13. Multiple witnesses placed Flowers at or 
around Angelica Garment Factory and Tardy Furni-
ture on the morning of the murders. Katherine Snow, 
an Angelica Garment Factory employee, testified that 
she saw Flowers leaning against Simpson’s car at 7:15 
on the morning of the murders. Snow also identified 
Flowers in a photographic lineup and in court. James 
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Kennedy testified that he saw Flowers walking toward 
Angelica Garment Factory at 7:15 a.m. Edward 
McChristian testified that he saw Flowers walking 
north, away from Angelica Garment Factory, between 
7:30 and 8:00 a.m. Mary Jeanette Fleming [sic] testi-
fied that she saw Flowers walking toward Tardy Fur-
niture at approximately 9:00 a.m. Beneva Henry 
testified that she saw Flowers walking toward down-
town Winona, in the direction of Tardy Furniture, 
sometime between 9:00 and 9:30 a.m.2 Clemmie Flem-
ing [sic] testified that she was going to Tardy Furniture 
to pay a bill a little after 10:00 a.m, and she saw Flow-
ers running away from the back of Tardy Furniture. 

 ¶ 14. Porky Collins testified that he saw two Af-
rican-American men, who appeared to be arguing, out-
side Tardy Furniture at around 10:00 on the morning 
of the murders. Collins circled the block and returned 
to where he saw the men arguing; at that point, the 
men were headed toward Tardy Furniture. Collins 
identified Flowers as one of the men he saw that morn-
ing. Doyle Simpson testified that his 0.380 caliber pis-
tol was in his car’s glove compartment when he arrived 
at Angelica the morning of July 16, 1996. Simpson dis-
covered that his gun was missing at approximately 
11:00 a.m. that day. Simpson, who was Flowers’s uncle, 

 
 2 Beneva Henry’s testimony from Flowers’s 2004 trial was 
read to the jury. In the nearly fifteen years between the 1996 mur-
ders and Flowers’s sixth trial, several witnesses had died, moved 
out of state, or were otherwise no longer available to testify. Their 
testimony from prior trials had to be read to the jury. Those wit-
nesses were Beneva Henry, Sam Jones, Porky Collins, Stacey 
Wright, and Billy Glover. 
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testified that Flowers knew he had a gun and that 
Flowers had seen it in his car before. Odell Hallmon, a 
jailhouse informant who had been in a cell next to 
Flowers, testified that Flowers had confessed to killing 
four people at Tardy Furniture. 

 ¶ 15. After the State’s case-in-chief, the defense 
moved for a directed verdict, which the trial court de-
nied. The first witness to testify in the defense’s case-
in-chief was Mike McSparrin, a fingerprint expert. 
McSparrin testified that the fingerprints found at the 
crime scene, as well as on the Fila shoebox, did not 
match Flowers’s fingerprints. The defense also called 
Steve Byrd, a firearms forensic analyst. Byrd testified 
that he could not definitively determine whether all of 
the bullets recovered from the crime scene were fired 
from the same gun. James Williams, a law enforcement 
investigator, testified that he did not see a bloody foot-
print when he first arrived at Tardy Furniture. Billy 
Glover testified that, on the day of the murders, he saw 
Flowers around 9:00 a.m. at a friend’s house and that 
they talked for fifteen or twenty minutes. Connie 
Moore, Flowers’s girlfriend at the time, testified that 
she had purchased a pair of size ten-and-a-half Fila 
Grant Hill tennis shoes for her son. 

 ¶ 16. Stacey Wright testified that Clemmie 
Flemming had admitted to her that she had lied about 
seeing Flowers running away from Tardy Furniture on 
the morning of the murders. Wright testified that 
Clemmie had said she would get money or have her bill 
paid at Tardy Furniture in return for her statement 
against Flowers. Clemmie’s sister, Mary Flemming, 
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testified that she was with Clemmie the morning of the 
murders and that Clemmie did not go to Tardy Furni-
ture to pay her bill that morning. Latarsha Blissett 
also testified that Clemmie had told her that if she 
made a statement against Flowers, she would get 
money or have her account at Tardy Furniture paid. 
Further, Blissett testified that investigators had asked 
her if she knew Flowers’s shoe size and had implied 
that she would receive reward money for providing a 
statement. Kittery Jones, Flowers’s cousin, also testi-
fied that investigators had implied that he would re-
ceive reward money in return for providing a 
statement linking Flowers to the murders. 

 ¶ 17. On June 18, 2010, the jury returned a 
guilty verdict for all four murders. Following the sen-
tencing hearing, the jury sentenced Flowers to death. 
The jury found the following aggravating circum-
stances beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) the defendant 
knowingly created a great risk of death to many per-
sons; (2) the capital offenses were committed while the 
defendant was engaged in the commission of an armed 
robbery for pecuniary gain; and (3) the capital offenses 
were committed for the purpose of avoiding or prevent-
ing lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody. 
Flowers filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding 
the verdict (JNOV) or, in the alternative, for a new 
trial, which was denied. Flowers timely filed a notice 
of appeal. 
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Issues 

 ¶ 18. Flowers raises the following thirteen as-
signments of error on appeal: 

1. The evidence presented at Flowers’s trial 
was constitutionally insufficient to sup-
port a finding of guilt beyond a reasona-
ble doubt, as mandated by the Fifth and 
Fourteenth Amendments to the United 
States Constitution and Section Fourteen 
of the Mississippi Constitution. 

2. Flowers’s right to a fair trial, as guaran-
teed by Mississippi law and the Four-
teenth Amendment to the United States 
Constitution, was violated when the pros-
ecution repeatedly argued material facts 
not in evidence during its culpability 
phase closing argument. 

3. The in-court and out-of-court eyewitness 
identifications of Flowers by Porky Col-
lins were constitutionally unreliable and 
the trial court erred in overruling Flow-
ers’s objections to their admission. 

4. The trial court’s exclusion of expert testi-
mony explaining the deficiencies in law 
enforcement’s investigation, and the de-
fects in the composition of the photo 
lineups shown to Porky Collins, violated 
Mississippi law and Flowers’s right to 
present a defense as guaranteed by the 
Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the 
United States Constitution. 
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5. The trial court erred in refusing to ex-
clude prosecution testimony that a single 
particle of gunshot residue had been de-
tected on Flowers’s hand. 

6. The jury selection process, the composi-
tion of the venire and the jury seated, and 
pervasive racial and other bias surround-
ing this matter violated Flowers’s funda-
mental constitutional rights protected by 
the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments. 

a. The prosecutor violated the Equal 
Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 
Amendment when he struck five Af-
rican American jurors after utilizing 
disparate questioning and citing pre-
textual reasons. 

b. The jury failed to adequately delib- 
erate because it was influenced by 
racial bias in violation of the Due Pro-
cess and Equal Protection Clauses of 
the Fourteenth Amendment. 

c. Pervasive racial bias in the venire in-
fected the fairness of the proceedings, 
and requires reversal and remand for 
a new trial. 

7. The State’s six attempts to convict Flow-
ers of the same offense violated the Double 
Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment 
and the Due Process Clause of the Four-
teenth Amendment. 

8. The trial court reversibly erred in refus-
ing Flowers’s requested circumstantial 
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evidence instructions at the culpability 
phase. 

9. The trial court reversibly erred in the 
penalty phase instructions to the jury. 

10. The convictions and death sentences in 
this matter were obtained in violation 
of the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth 
Amendments to the United States Con-
stitution and the counterparts in the Mis-
sissippi Constitution. 

11. This Court should set aside its prior order 
denying Flowers’s Motion for Remand 
and Leave to File Supplemental Motion 
for New Trial. 

12. The death sentence in this matter is con-
stitutionally and statutorily dispropor-
tionate. 

13. The cumulative effect of the errors man-
dates reversal of the verdict of guilt and/ 
or the sentence of death entered pursuant 
to it. 

We address each of Flowers’s issues but have summa-
rized and reorganized several issues for the purpose of 
discussion. 

 
Discussion 

 ¶ 19. Heightened scrutiny is applied to review of 
capital murder convictions where the death sentence 
has been imposed. Fulgham v. State, 46 So.3d 315, 322 
(¶ 16) (Miss. 2010) (citing Bishop v. State, 812 So.2d 
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934, 938 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2002)). “What may be harmless 
error in a case with less at stake [may become] reversi-
ble error when the penalty is death.” Id. The standard 
of review for each issue will [sic] discussed throughout. 

 
I. Whether the in-court and out-of-court identi-

fications of Flowers by Porky Collins were 
constitutionally unreliable, and whether the 
trial court erred in overruling Flowers’s 
objections to their admission. 

 ¶ 20. Flowers claims that the trial court erred in 
admitting evidence of Porky Collins’s out-of-court and 
in-court identifications of Flowers. Collins died in 
2002, so his testimony from the 1999 trial was read to 
the jury. Collins’s testimony was that, on the morning 
of the murders, he had seen two African-American men 
who appeared to be arguing outside Tardy Furniture. 
Collins thought the men were about to fight, so he cir-
cled the block and returned to see what was going on. 
The second time Collins saw the men, they were walk-
ing toward Tardy Furniture. Collins saw only one 
man’s face when he drove past them. 

 ¶ 21. After hearing about the murders at Tardy 
Furniture, Collins went to police the same day, re-
ported what he had seen that morning, and gave a 
description of the men. On August 24, 1996, police 
showed Collins two photo arrays with six photos 
each—the first group included Doyle Simpson’s photo-
graph; the second group included Flowers’s photo-
graph. Collins testified that he was not expected to 
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identify the man whose face he did not see. According 
to police department notes, in response to the first 
photo array, Collins pointed to Simpson and said that 
he “looked like” the man he had seen, but he was una-
ble to be positive. The entirety of the officer’s handwrit-
ten notes were as follows: 

Porky Collins 

Picture Line-up 11:10 a.m. 

# 1 and # 3 resembles, but hairline was fur-
ther back 

# 6 Pointed to Simpson said hairline like this, 
may have appeared a little darker. 

“But it looks like him.” 

“Face was also same shape, round like this.” 

“Unable to be positive.” 

Collins then was shown the second photo array, and he 
identified Flowers as the man he had seen in front of 
Tardy Furniture. The officer administering the photo 
array made the following notes: 

2nd Line Up 

11:16 a.m. 

Pointed to Curtis Flowers # 4 

“I think that’s him.” 

“He was about my height.” 

“I’m 5′ 10″” 
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“The complexion is also right.” 

“I believe that’s him, it look[s] like him.” 

Identified # 4 

I asked Porky if he knew Curtis Flowers, he 
said, “No. But I know the person I just identi-
fied is the person I saw in front of Tardy’s 7–
16–96.” 

During the 1999 trial, Collins identified Flowers in 
court as the man whose face he had seen outside Tardy 
Furniture. Flowers filed a pretrial motion to suppress 
Collins’s out-of-court and in-court identifications, 
which the trial court denied. On appeal, Flowers claims 
that the trial court erred in admitting Collins’s identi-
fications into evidence. 

 ¶ 22. The standard of review for a trial court’s 
suppression hearing findings regarding pretrial iden-
tifications is whether “substantial credible evidence 
supports the trial court’s findings that, considering the 
totality of the circumstances, in-court identification 
testimony was not impermissibly tainted.” Butler v. 
State, 102 So.3d 260, 264 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2012) (quoting 
Gray v. State, 728 So.2d 36, 68 (¶ 159) (Miss. 1998)). 
For an out-of-court or in-court identification to be 
excluded, “it must be the result of an impermissibly 
suggestive lineup and the identification must be unre-
liable.” Butler, 102 So.3d at 264 (¶ 8) (citing York v. 
State, 413 So.2d 1372, 1383 (Miss. 1982)). First, the 
court must “determine whether the identification pro-
cess was unduly suggestive.” Latiker v. State, 918 So.2d 
68, 74 (¶ 15) (Miss. 2005) (citing Neil v. Biggers, 409 
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U.S. 188, 198, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972)). Sec-
ond, even if the identification process was unduly sug-
gestive, the identification still can be admitted if “the 
out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable 
that no substantial likelihood of misidentification ex-
isted.” Id. 

 
A. Collins’s Out-of-Court Identification 

 ¶ 23. Flowers claims that the out-of-court photo 
lineup was unduly suggestive because the photo array 
was skewed toward Flowers in several ways. He claims 
that his head was larger than the others and that the 
other men had lighter complexions, were younger than 
him, and had varying hairstyles and facial features. 
We have summarized the standard applied to out-of-
court identifications as follows: 

A lineup or series of photographs is impermis-
sibly suggestive if “the accused, when compared 
with the others, is conspicuously singled out 
in some manner from the others, either from 
appearance or statements by an officer.” . . . To 
be excluded, an out-of-court identification 
must have resulted from an identification pro-
cedure that was so impermissibly suggestive 
as to give rise to “a very substantial likelihood 
of misidentification.” . . . Where the defendant 
is “the only one depicted with a distinctive 
feature,” courts usually will find the lineup to 
be impermissibly suggestive. . . . On the other 
hand, “minor differences” with the suspects or 
differences in the photograph backgrounds 
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will not render a lineup impermissibly sug-
gestive. . . .  

Butler, 102 So.3d at 264–65 (¶¶ 9–11) (citations omit-
ted). Applying the standard articulated in Butler, we 
recently held that a photo lineup was not impermissi-
bly suggestive even though the defendant was the only 
person in the lineup with facial tattoos. Stewart v. 
State, 131 So.3d 569, 574 (¶ 16) (Miss. 2014). In Stew-
art, we concluded: 

We find that the case sub judice is similar to 
the cases of White, Foster, and Jones, in which 
this Court upheld similar identifications. In 
White, the witness noticed the defendant’s 
plaited hair and forehead tattoo during the 
commission of the crime. White v. State, 507 
So.2d 98, 99 (Miss. 1987). This Court upheld 
the out-of-court and in-court identifications of 
the defendant even though the defendant was 
the only suspect in the lineup with plaited 
hair. Id. at 99–101. The defendant also had a 
forehead tattoo, which the witness identified 
at trial. BI at 99–100. In Foster, this Court up-
held the out-of-court and in-court identifica-
tions of the defendant even though he was the 
only person in the lineup wearing a fishing 
hat, where the defendant had worn a fishing 
hat during the robbery. Foster v. State, 493 
So.2d 1304, 1305–06 (Miss. 1986). Likewise, in 
Jones, this Court upheld the out-of-court and 
in-court identifications of the defendant even 
though he was the only suspect in the photo 
lineup wearing a hat similar to the one worn 
by the attacker. Jones v. State, 504 So.2d 1196, 



317 

 

1199–1200 (Miss. 1987). This Court found 
that, even though the hat may have played a 
significant part in the identification, it was 
not impermissibly suggestive, because the 
witness had given an accurate description and 
identified the defendant with great conviction 
at trial. Id. at 1200. 

Id. at 573 (¶ 12). 

 ¶ 24. In the photo array that included Flowers’s 
photograph, Flowers’s head is slightly larger than the 
others, as it appears his photo was taken from a closer 
angle than the others. However, the use of a different 
photographic technique creates only a minor differ-
ence, and that is not enough to render the photo lineup 
impermissibly suggestive. Batiste v. State, 121 So.3d 
808, 856 (¶ 116) (Miss. 2013). The other characteristics 
Flowers claims caused the array to be suggestive are 
not present—three other men have complexions simi-
lar to Flowers’s complexion; Flowers appears to be the 
same age or only slightly older than the other men; two 
of the other men have hair styles similar to Flowers’s; 
and three of the other men have facial hair similar to 
his. Accordingly, Flowers fails to show that the lineup 
was unduly suggestive. Further, Collins provided a de-
scription to police on the day of the murders, and he 
was confident in his identification of the man he saw 
in front of Tardy Furniture. The trial court did not err 
in admitting Collins’s out-of-court identification. Be-
cause the lineup was not impermissibly suggestive, we 
need not consider the Biggers factors for reliability. 
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B. Collins’s In-Court Identification 

 ¶ 25. Although Flowers’s issue statement asserts 
that Collins’s in-court identification was “constitution-
ally unreliable,” he provides no substantive argument 
or support for that claim. The extent of his argument 
is a footnote, which provides: “there is no issue of the 
admissibility of the in-court identification, given that 
Collins could not positively identify Flowers in the 
courtroom at the second trial, and was deceased by the 
time of this, the sixth trial.” His assertion is incorrect. 
Collins unequivocally identified Flowers at the second 
trial. Flowers also implies that the typical jury consid-
eration of determining Collins’s credibility is not appli-
cable in the case sub judice because his testimony was 
read to the jury, as opposed to live testimony. Although 
the jury did not personally observe Collins testifying, 
defense counsel’s cross-examination of Collins ade-
quately addressed credibility. For example, defense 
counsel asked Collins about his memory, any medica-
tion he was taking that could affect his memory, and 
whether he wore glasses. The characteristics of trial it-
self—trial by jury, an impartial judge, representation 
by counsel, and witnesses subject to an oath and cross-
examination—adequately protect against any sugges-
tiveness of in-court identifications at trial. Galloway v. 
State, 122 So.3d 614, 663 (¶ 164) (Miss. 2013). 

 ¶ 26. Although Flowers does not claim that Col-
lins’s in-court identification was tainted by the al-
leged suggestiveness of the out-of-court identification, 
that is the argument often made by defendants. See 
Butler, 102 So.3d at 266–67. We have held that “an 



319 

 

impermissibly suggestive pretrial identification does 
not preclude in-court identification by an eyewitness 
who viewed the suspect at the procedure, unless: (1) 
from the totality of the circumstances surrounding it, 
(2) the identification was so impermissibly suggestive 
as to give rise to a very substantial likelihood of irrep-
arable misidentification.” Id. at 267 (¶ 17) (quoting 
York, 413 So.2d at 1383). Collins’s out-of-court identifi-
cation was not impermissibly suggestive; therefore, it 
could not give rise to the likelihood of an irreparable 
misidentification. For the reasons given above, the is-
sue is without merit. 

 
II. Whether the trial court’s exclusion of ex- 

pert testimony violated Mississippi law 
and Flowers’s right to present a defense as 
guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth 
Amendments to the United States Consti-
tution. 

 ¶ 27. Flowers contends that the trial court erred 
by excluding the testimony of two experts—Robert 
Johnson and Dr. Jeffrey Neuschatz. Flowers tendered 
Johnson as an expert in criminal investigation proce-
dures, but the trial court did not permit Johnson to tes-
tify. In Flowers’s fourth trial, he filed a motion to 
determine the admissibility of Dr. Neuschatz’s testi-
mony on the reliability of eyewitness identification ev-
idence. Flowers renewed the motion in the present 
case, and the trial court denied the motion. 
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 ¶ 28. We apply an abuse of discretion standard 
when reviewing the exclusion of expert testimony. Gil-
lett v. State, 56 So.3d 469, 494 (¶ 61) (Miss. 2010). Anal-
ysis of the admissibility of expert testimony begins 
with Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702: 

If scientific, technical, or other specialized 
knowledge will assist the trier of fact to un-
derstand the evidence or to determine a fact 
in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by 
knowledge, skill, experience, training, or edu-
cation may testify thereto in the form of an 
opinion or otherwise, if (1) the testimony is 
based upon sufficient facts or data, (2) the tes-
timony is the product of reliable principles 
and methods, and (3) the witness has applied 
the principles and methods reliably to the 
facts of the case. 

Miss. R. Evid. 702. The expert testimony must be both 
relevant and reliable to be admissible. Gillett, 56 So.3d 
at 495 (¶ 63). “Expert testimony is relevant if it will 
‘assist the trier of fact in understanding or determin-
ing a fact at issue.’ ” Galloway, 122 So.3d at 632 (¶ 27) 
(quoting Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968, 996 (¶ 57) (Miss. 
2007)). To determine reliability, the following nonex-
haustive list of factors may be considered: whether the 
expert’s theory can be or has been tested; whether the 
theory has been the subject of peer review and publi-
cation; the known or potential rate of error of the tech-
nique or theory when applied; the existence of 
standards to control the technique’s operation; and the 
general acceptance the theory has garnered in the rel-
evant expert community. Gillett, 56 So.3d at 495 (¶ 64) 
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(citing Miss. Transp. Comm’n v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 
31, 37 (Miss. 2003); Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., 
Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 592–94, 113 S.Ct. 2786, 125 L.Ed.2d 
469 (1993)). “The applicability of these factors varies 
depending on the nature of the issue, the expert’s par-
ticular expertise, and the subject of the testimony.” Gil-
lett, 56 So.3d at 495 (¶ 64) (citing McLemore, 863 So.2d 
at 37). 

 
A. Robert Johnson 

 ¶ 29. Flowers attempted to call Robert Johnson 
as an expert in criminal investigation procedures, and 
the State objected. Johnson would have testified that 
the criminal investigation was flawed in various ways. 
After a lengthy voir dire, the trial court held that John-
son could not testify because “there is no valid way of 
testing the field of police investigatory techniques.” 
The trial court also found that, even if Johnson’s tes- 
timony met the reliability prong of Daubert, the testi-
mony was cumulative because the law enforcement 
officers who already had testified at trial were throughly 
cross-examined and had admitted that there were 
flaws in the investigation. Flowers also attempted to 
have Johnson give an expert opinion relating to the 
photographic array shown to Collins. The trial court 
excluded the testimony because Johnson stated during 
his voir dire that he did not have sufficient information 
about the lineup. 
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1. Johnson’s Proffered Testimony 

 ¶ 30. During the voir dire, Johnson testified at 
length about his law enforcement experience. Johnson 
is currently a law enforcement consultant and previ-
ously served as police chief in Jackson, Mississippi; 
Jackson, Michigan; and Lansing, Michigan. He was 
Commissioner of the Mississippi Department of Cor-
rections from 2000 to 2002. Johnson has a master’s de-
gree in public administration, and he graduated from 
the FBI National Academy and the FBI Law Enforce-
ment Executive Development program. During his ca-
reer, Johnson performed homicide investigations as a 
detective and directly supervised homicide investiga-
tions. Johnson also developed protocols for criminal in-
vestigations. 

 ¶ 31. Johnson testified that generally accepted 
standards for homicide investigations exist, and he 
opined that the investigation in today’s case failed to 
meet them in various ways. First, Johnson said the in-
vestigation lacked management and organization. In 
support of his contention, Johnson referred to the tes-
timony of law enforcement officers who said the inves-
tigation was a “shared responsibility.” Johnson also 
said the investigation lacked an in-depth case file, 
which should have included all original notes and re-
ports. Johnson testified: “There has to be somebody 
who is the recipient of all the information coming from 
a variety of sources and is able to correlate that in- 
formation and further direct the direction that the 
investigation needs to develop.” He said that the inves-
tigation also lacked written reports of events. 
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 ¶ 32. Johnson next criticized the crime scene in-
tegrity. Johnson said that the integrity of the crime 
scene could have been compromised by law enforce-
ment officers and investigators meeting within the 
crime scene to discuss and organize the investigation. 
According to Johnson, a crime scene log should have 
been maintained listing who came and went from the 
crime scene to ensure that it was not contaminated. 
Next, Johnson testified that he was “concerned” about 
the investigation’s early focus on one suspect—Flow-
ers—to the exclusion of any other suspects. Johnson 
said early focus can result in lost evidence: “It’s okay 
to very quickly focus on one suspect; that happens all 
the time, you know. But to the exclusion of all else and 
all others is where it becomes problematic, and you 
sometimes lose vital evidence that may be had because 
you haven’t included and kept them in as a potential 
suspect or person of interest.” 

 ¶ 33. On cross-examination, Johnson admitted 
that Mississippi has no minimum standards for crimi-
nal investigations. He also admitted that the Justice 
Department guidelines he mentioned in direct exami-
nation were not requirements and that there are no 
national minimum standards for criminal investiga-
tions. Johnson stated that, rather than minimum 
standards, he based his opinions on generally accepted 
practices in police work. Further, when asked if he 
could provide an opinion on whether investigations 
that lack written reports lead to incorrect results, 
Johnson said investigations with written reports are 
“more complete.” He did not, however, state that an 
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investigation without a written report would lead to an 
incorrect result. 

 
2. Admissibility of Johnson’s Testimony 

 ¶ 34. The Daubert factors apply to expert testi-
mony relating to police investigatory techniques. See 
Ross v. State, 954 So.2d 968, 996–97 (Miss. 2007) (“Ross 
I”). In Ross I, the defendant proffered an expert who 
opined that the securing of the crime scene and evi-
dence collection were deficient. Id. at 997 (¶ 61). Alt-
hough the Court held the testimony did not meet the 
reliability standards of Daubert and McLemore, the 
opinion did not discuss why the testimony was unreli-
able. Id. The judgment was reversed and the case re-
manded for other reasons. Id. at 1019–20 (¶¶ 138–41). 
The defendant was convicted again and appealed, and 
the case was assigned to the Court of Appeals. Ross v. 
State, 22 So.3d 400 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (“Ross II”). In 
Ross II, the Court of Appeals addressed the proffered 
expert testimony and found that the trial court did not 
err in excluding the testimony. Id. at 420–21 (¶¶ 99–
104). First, the expert testimony was cumulative be-
cause the investigating officers had been cross-exam-
ined about their investigative techniques and had 
admitted that “things could have been handled better.” 
Id. at 421 (¶ 102). Second, the trial court did not abuse 
its discretion by finding that the testimony failed to 
meet the Daubert reliability prong because the expert’s 
“memberships and associations were voluntary and fee 
based, not peer reviewed or tested” and “the trial court 
was unable to evaluate the value of [the expert’s] 
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certifications because the trial court was unaware of 
the requirements for certification.” Id. at 421 (¶¶ 103–
104). 

 ¶ 35. Under Rule 702, the first prong of the in-
quiry for determining whether expert testimony should 
be admitted is whether the witness is “qualified by vir-
tue of his or her knowledge, skill, experience[,] or edu-
cation.” Galloway, 122 So.3d at 632 (¶ 28) (quoting 
McLemore, 863 So.2d at 35). Johnson certainly is qual-
ified through his knowledge, experience, and training 
in the field of criminal investigations. Further, there is 
no question that Johnson’s testimony is relevant. 
Johnson’s testimony addressed facts relating to the 
criminal investigation that eventually led to Flowers’s 
arrest; thus, his testimony had a “tendency to make the 
existence of any fact that is of consequence to the de-
termination of the action more probable or less proba-
ble than it would be without the evidence.” Miss. R. 
Evid. 401. 

 ¶ 36. The critical inquiry, however, is whether 
Johnson’s testimony is reliable. The trial court focused 
on the inability to test Johnson’s theories as a basis for 
excluding the testimony, holding: “Because there is no 
valid way of testing the field of police investigatory 
techniques, this Court finds the proposed testimony in 
the field fails to meet the reliability standards required 
under Rule 702.” Whether the expert’s theory can be 
tested is one factor to be considered under Daubert, but 
it is not conclusive. Johnson’s proffered testimony is 
not the typical expert testimony contemplated by the 
testing factor—for example, one cannot test what effect 
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the lack of organization and leadership would have on 
a murder investigation. As such, reliance on the testing 
factor alone would have been error. However, the trial 
court cited other reasons for excluding the testimony. 

 ¶ 37. The trial court also found that, although 
Johnson testified that the investigation fell below 
generally accepted standards and practices in law en-
forcement, Johnson did not sufficiently articulate the 
standards. See McGee v. River Region Med. Ctr., 59 
So.3d 575, 579 (¶ 13) (Miss. 2011) (An expert testifying 
about a failure to meet generally accepted standards 
must “identify and articulate the requisite standard 
that was not complied with.”) A review of the proffered 
testimony reveals that Johnson did articulate stand-
ards relating to some—but not all—of his opinions. 
Johnson offered four opinions: (1) that the investiga-
tion lacked organization and management; (2) that the 
integrity of the crime scene was compromised; (3) that 
the investigation focused on one suspect too quickly; 
and (4) that the photo lineup used during Collins’s 
identification was flawed. Johnson did not articulate a 
standard for his opinion relating to the investigation’s 
early focus on Flowers as a suspect. And Johnson said 
that he was not familiar with the procedures used dur-
ing Collins’s identification. Thus, the trial court did not 
err in excluding his testimony. See Dedeaux Util. Co., 
Inc. v. City of Gulfport, 938 So.2d 838, 841 (Miss. 2006) 
(expert testimony must be based on sufficient facts and 
data). 

 ¶ 38. Johnson did provide applicable standards for 
his opinions related to the investigation’s organization 
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and management and crime scene integrity. Regard- 
ing the investigation’s organization and management, 
Johnson testified that, based on his experience and 
knowledge, the investigation should have had central-
ized leadership that collected information, maintained 
the case file, and directed the investigation. Johnson 
said, “There has to be somebody who is the recipient of 
all the information coming from a variety of sources 
and is able to correlate that information and further 
direct the direction that the investigation needs to de-
velop.” Regarding crime scene integrity, Johnson said 
a crime scene log should have been maintained at the 
crime scene. He explained that the crime scene can be 
contaminated, evidence can be overlooked, and evi-
dence can be deposited after the crime. He said, “There 
may be a number of issues related to the presence of 
people at the crime scene, so you want to have a record 
of when they were there, how long they stayed and 
when they left.” 

 ¶ 39. Although Johnson provided some stand-
ards on which he based his opinions, we cannot say 
the trial judge abused his discretion when he held 
the standards insufficient. Johnson testified that the 
standards he applied in forming his theories were 
“generally accepted practices in police work.” Cer-
tainly, expert testimony can be based on experience, 
and one factor that may be considered in determining 
reliability is general acceptance in the relevant expert 
community. See Gillett, 56 So.3d at 495 (¶ 64); Daubert, 
509 U.S. at 593–94, 113 S.Ct. 2786. But Johnson did not  
provide support for his statement that the practices he 
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referenced were, in fact, generally accepted. Allowing 
an expert simply to state that his opinions are based 
on “generally accepted practices,” without support for 
the assertion, could lead to essentially permitting ex-
perts to qualify themselves. While Johnson’s opinions 
and standards seem sensible, we cannot say that he 
presented enough evidence that his opinions were suf-
ficiently reliable such that the trial court abused its 
discretion by not allowing the testimony. 

 ¶ 40. Further, the trial court was correct that 
Johnson’s testimony was cumulative. Law enforce-
ment officers who participated in the investigation 
were thoroughly questioned about the investigation 
and admitted that there were flaws in the investiga-
tion. Specifically, officers admitted that a crime scene 
log was not maintained, and the police chief testified 
that one should have been maintained. The officers 
also admitted that there was not a lead investigator, 
and the police chief testified that responsibilities 
should have been assigned, an investigative plan 
should have been developed, and information should 
have been shared with investigators and first respond-
ers. The trial court did not commit an abuse of discre-
tion in not allowing Johnson’s testimony. 

 
B. Dr. Jeffery Neuschatz 

 ¶ 41. During Flowers’s fourth trial, he filed a mo-
tion to determine the admissibility of Dr. Neuschatz’s 
testimony on the reliability of eyewitness identifica-
tion evidence. Dr. Neuschatz’s affidavit and curriculum 
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vitae were attached to the motion. Dr. Neuschatz’s af-
fidavit essentially provided two opinions: (1) that Col-
lins’s identification of Flowers could have been affected 
by a number of different circumstances; and (2) that 
the identification procedure was flawed. Before the 
fourth trial commenced, the State announced that it 
would not seek the death penalty, and Flowers with-
drew his motion regarding Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony.3 

 ¶ 42. At Flowers’s fifth trial, the State sought the 
death penalty, and Flowers renewed his motion to de-
termine the admissibility of Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony. 
The court held a hearing on the motion, but Flowers 
did not provide a proffer of Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony 
other than the affidavit previously submitted. The trial 
court denied the motion, holding that, because Collins 
was extensively cross-examined, the expert testimony 
would not assist the jury: 

And he was extensively cross-examined, even 
into the most minute detail about issues con-
cerning what path he took driving around 
town that morning. He stated in his testimony 
that he had a brief glimpse of who he believed 
to be Mr. Flowers. 

There was—he was cross-examined about his 
ability to remember things. He was cross- 
examined about whether he had had difficulty 
with memory problems in the past. I mean I 
do not think there could be a more thorough 

 
 3 Flowers’s counsel apparently believed that eyewitness 
identification expert testimony was not admissible in noncapital 
cases. 
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cross-examination of a witness than was done 
with Mr. Collins. 

So I think given the extensive cross-examina-
tion of Mr. Collins and because all other wit-
nesses knew Mr. Flowers on sight, I do not 
believe an expert on witness identification 
would assist the jury in the least bit in this 
case. 

The court also found that Flowers did not demonstrate 
that Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony was reliable based on 
the Daubert factors. In the present case, Flowers re-
newed his motion on the admissibility of Dr. 
Neuschatz’s testimony. The trial court denied the mo-
tion, adopting its ruling from the fifth trial. 

 ¶ 43. Again, in determining whether expert tes-
timony is reliable, the court may consider the following 
factors: whether the expert’s theory can be or has been 
tested; whether the theory has been the subject of peer 
review and publication; the known or potential rate of 
error of the technique or theory when applied; the ex-
istence of standards to control the technique’s opera-
tion; and the general acceptance that the theory has 
garnered in the relevant expert community. Gillett, 56 
So.3d at 495 (¶ 64) (citing McLemore, 863 So.2d at 
37, and Daubert, 509 U.S. at 592–94, 113 S.Ct. 2786). 
The admissibility of Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony was 
addressed recently in Corrothers v. State, 148 So.3d 
278 (Miss. 2014), reh’g denied (Oct. 23, 2014). In Cor-
rothers, the Court applied Rule 702 and Daubert to 
Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony concerning the reliability of 
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eyewitness identification procedures and found that 
Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony was unreliable: 

Dr. Neuschatz attempted to apply the princi-
ples and methodologies underlying his exper-
tise in eyewitness identification to opine that 
[the eyewitness’s] identification “could” be un-
reliable. But Dr. Neuschatz’s opinions were 
undermined by his inaccurate and incomplete 
understanding of the facts on which he based 
his opinions and his complete lack of expertise 
on [the eyewitness’s] brain injury. These defi-
ciencies rendered his opinions so fundamen-
tally unsupported that they could offer no 
assistance to the jury and amounted to noth-
ing more than unsupported speculation. His 
testimony was unreliable, and there was no 
abuse of discretion in excluding it. We further 
note that Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony was in-
conclusive and speculative because he did not 
offer his opinions to a reasonable degree of sci-
entific certainty, but testified only that Josh’s 
lineup identification “could” be unreliable and 
that in-court identifications “probably” are 
suggestive. Nor did Dr. Neuschatz submit any 
peer-reviewed publications supporting his 
principles and methodologies; the trial court 
had only the benefit of Dr. Neuschatz’s curric-
ulum vitae and his testimony that his studies 
had been subjected to peer review and pub- 
lication and were generally accepted in the 
relevant scientific community. These facts fur-
ther support the exclusion of Dr. Neuschatz’s 
testimony. 

Corrothers, 148 So.3d at 297 (¶ 35). 
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 ¶ 44. In the instant case, the trial court applied 
the Daubert factors and held that Dr. Neuschatz’s the-
ories were not generally accepted and that he did not 
provide information about the rate of error or the prin-
ciples and methods used. As to the first factor, Dr. 
Neuschatz’s affidavit cited several tests that support 
his theory that exposure time, appearance change/ 
disguise, and post-identification feedback may affect 
eyewitness identifications. However, he did not submit 
documentation of the tests. Regarding peer review and 
publication, Dr. Neuschatz’s affidavit stated that he 
has “published several articles in peer reviewed jour-
nals, written peer invited chapters, and presented [his] 
research findings at regional and national confer-
ences.” Again, however, he did not provide the articles. 
The same was true in Corrothers. Corrothers, 148 So.3d 
at 297 (¶ 35). Dr. Neuschatz’s affidavit did not men- 
tion anything relevant to the third or fourth factors—
the known or potential rate of error of the applied the-
ory and the existence of standards and controls—
therefore, the factors were not satisfied. Finally, Dr. 
Neuschatz cited several articles and studies support-
ing his theories to show that his theory is accepted in 
the scientific community but again, the articles were 
not submitted. 

 ¶ 45. Because Flowers did not provide an addi-
tional proffer of Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony, we have no 
way of knowing whether Dr. Neuschatz could have of-
fered further support for the Daubert factors if he had 
provided live testimony. We do not hold that every ex-
pert is required to submit every article or report on 
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which he or she relies. However, here, the trial judge—
in exercising his considerable discretion—found that 
the defense did not present sufficient evidence in sup-
port of Dr. Neuschatz’s opinions. The trial judge did not 
abuse his discretion in concluding that the affidavit 
alone was insufficient to withstand the Daubert anal-
ysis and in denying Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony. 

 ¶ 46. Dr. Neuschatz’s affidavit included two opin-
ions: that Collins’s identification could have been affected 
by several factors and that the photo identification pro-
cess was flawed. Regarding the photo array, the same 
issue was addressed in Corrothers, and we held that 
Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony may have been more preju-
dicial than probative due to the risk of confusion. Cor-
rothers, 148 So.3d at 297 (¶ 36). Allowing testimony 
from Dr. Neuschatz that the photo identification pro-
cess was flawed, while also admitting evidence of the 
identification because the court determined that it was 
not impermissibly suggestive, could result in confusing 
the jury.4 Thus, the trial court did not err in excluding 

 
 4 In Corrothers, Presiding Justice Randolph wrote the follow-
ing about the admission of Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony on a photo 
lineup after the judge determined that the lineup was admissible: 

Neuschatz also proffered a criticism of the photo lineups 
presented to Josh, previously ruled admissible by the 
trial judge. Such generalized expert testimony in lim-
ited circumstances may be pertinent at a hearing on a 
motion to suppress, but once the court has ruled photo-
lineup evidence is admissible, offering such testimony 
at trial encroaches upon a legal issue already determined 
and usurps the trial judge’s discretionary authority. 

Corrothers, 148 So.3d at 340–41 (¶ 184) (Randolph, P.J., specially 
concurring). 
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Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony about the photo-identification 
process. 

 ¶ 47. As to Collins’s identification, discussed at 
length supra, the judge held: “[G]iven the extensive 
cross-examination of Mr. Collins and because all other 
witnesses knew Mr. Flowers on sight, I do not believe 
an expert on witness identification would assist the 
jury in the least bit in this case.” The quoted finding 
represents precisely the type of finding the trial judge 
is called upon to make. In determining the admissibil-
ity of expert testimony, the trial judge must determine 
whether the testimony will “assist the trier of fact” in 
understanding the evidence or issues, and the judge 
must be satisfied that the testimony is “more probative 
than prejudicial.” Corrothers, 148 So.3d at 294 (¶¶ 24, 
27) (citations omitted). 

 ¶ 48. We recognize that many courts admit ex-
pert testimony regarding eyewitness identification, 
and we do not hold that such expert testimony is per se 
inadmissible. Rather, we recognize that the decision of 
“whether to admit this testimony is squarely within 
the discretion of the trial judge[.]” United States v. 
Moore, 786 F.2d 1308, 1312 (5th Cir. 1986). In Moore, 
the Fifth Circuit explained that “the trial court should 
exercise its discretion in deciding whether or not to ad-
mit it and should balance the reliability of the testi-
mony against the likelihood that the testimony would 
overwhelm or mislead the jury.” Id. (discussing United 
States v. Downing, 753 F.2d 1224 (3d Cir. 1985)). The 
Moore Court recognized that a trial judge’s exclusion 
of expert eyewitness testimony was not harmful where 
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“there was evidence indicating guilt apart from the 
eyewitness identification.” Id. (citing United States v. 
Smith, 736 F.2d 1103, 1108 (6th Cir. 1984)). The Moore 
court wrote: 

[I]n the present case we do not find that the 
district court abused its discretion in refusing 
to admit this evidence. We have earlier held 
and we now affirm that the decision whether 
to admit this testimony is squarely within the 
discretion of the trial judge and properly 
so. . . . Although admission of expert eyewit-
ness testimony is proper, there is no federal 
authority for the proposition that such testi-
mony must be admitted. The district judge 
has wide discretion in determining the admis-
sibility of this evidence, and we hold that the 
district judge did not abuse his discretion in 
this case. 

In some cases casual eyewitness testimony 
may make the entire difference between a 
finding of guilt or innocence. In such a case 
expert eyewitness identification testimony 
may be critical. But this is not at all the situ-
ation in the case before us. Even if the eyewit-
ness identifications of Lamberth and Holder 
are completely disregarded, the other evi-
dence of guilt is overwhelming. . . .  

We emphasize that in a case in which the sole 
testimony is casual eyewitness identification, 
expert testimony regarding the accuracy of 
that identification is admissible and properly 
may be encouraged. In the present case, we 
find no abuse of discretion in not admitting 
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such evidence. This was not a case where cas-
ual eyewitness identifications were at all crit-
ical. 

Moore, 786 F.2d at 1312–13 (internal citations omit-
ted). 

 ¶ 49. Like the eyewitnesses in Moore, Collins’s 
identification was far from the only evidence of guilt in 
the instant case, and it cannot be labeled “critical.” No 
fewer than seven other witnesses placed Flowers near 
Angelica Garment Factory, where Simpson’s gun was 
stolen, and near Tardy Furniture on the morning of the 
murders. Collins’s testimony was no different. He iden-
tified Flowers as a man he saw outside Tardy Furni-
ture. Out of all of the witnesses, Collins was the only 
witness placing Flowers near the scene who did not 
know Flowers. The other witnesses provided even more 
credible testimony as they recognized Flowers by sight, 
having known him previously. If the case hinged on 
Collins’s identification of Flowers, expert testimony on 
eyewitness identification may have been helpful to the 
jury. However, as in Moore, that was not the situation. 

 ¶ 50. The trial judge made a rational and rea-
soned decision regarding the admissibility of Dr. 
Neuschatz’s testimony based on the totality of the facts 
before him. We afford “the widest possible discretion” 
to a trial judge’s determination on the admissibility of 
expert testimony, and “that decision will only be dis-
turbed when there has been a clear abuse of discre-
tion.” Smith v. State, 925 So.2d 825, 834 (¶ 23) (Miss. 
2006) (quoting Logan v. State, 773 So.2d 338, 346–47 
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(¶ 31) (Miss. 2000)). The trial judge’s ruling on Dr. 
Neuschatz’s testimony was not an abuse of discretion. 
The issue is without merit. 

 
III. Whether the trial court erred in not ex-

cluding evidence of a single particle of 
gunshot residue found on Flowers’s hand. 

 ¶ 51. Investigator Jack Matthews interviewed 
Flowers on the day of the murders and asked him to 
submit to a gunshot residue test. Flowers agreed to the 
test. A single particle of gunshot residue was found on 
the back of Flowers’s right hand. Joe Andrews, a foren-
sic scientist who analyzed the gunshot residue test, 
testified that three scenarios can result in the presence 
of gunshot residue on a person’s hands: (1) the person 
actually fired a gun; (2) the person was in close prox-
imity to a discharged gun; or (3) the person handled an 
object that had gunshot residue on it. At trial, Flowers 
moved to exclude the evidence concerning the gunshot 
residue, and the trial court denied the motion. Flowers 
contends that the trial court erred in admitting evi-
dence that a particle of gunshot residue was found on 
his hand approximately three hours after the murders 
were reported. Flowers claims that the prejudicial ef-
fect of the evidence greatly outweighed the probative 
value, so it was inadmissible under Mississippi Rule of 
Evidence 403. 

 ¶ 52. Rule 403 provides: “Although relevant, evi-
dence may be excluded if its probative value is substan-
tially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, 
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confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by 
considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or need-
less presentation of cumulative evidence.” Miss. R. 
Evid. 403. Applying Rule 403, the trial judge must con-
duct a balancing test to determine if the probative 
value of the evidence is “substantially outweighed by 
the danger of unfair prejudice[.]” McGowen v. State, 
859 So.2d 320, 329 (¶ 29) (Miss. 2003). On appeal, we 
review a trial court’s decision for abuse of discretion. 
Stone v. State, 94 So.3d 1078, 1085 (¶ 20) (Miss. 2012); 
Baldwin v. State, 784 So.2d 148, 156 (¶ 27) (Miss. 
2001). We do not reweigh the evidence and conduct a 
new balancing test. “The question on review is not 
whether this Court would have admitted the evidence, 
but whether the trial court abused its discretion in do-
ing so[.]” Stone, 94 So.3d at 1085 (¶ 20). See also Bald-
win, 784 So.2d at 156 (¶ 27) (on appeal we “must 
simply determine whether the trial court abused its 
discretion in weighing the factors and admitting or ex-
cluding the evidence”). 

 ¶ 53. Flowers cites Foster v. State, 508 So.2d 
1111 (Miss. 1987), in support of his argument. In Fos-
ter, the prosecution presented testimony that paint 
chips found on the victim’s clothing were similar to 
paint chips found in the defendant’s car. Id. at 1117. A 
chemist testified that the paint chips were “indistin-
guishable in color, texture, and inorganic chemical 
composition; and that they therefore could have had a 
common origin.” Id. The State also presented evidence 
that the victim’s stab wound was caused by a knife 
found in the defendant’s car or one similar to it. Id. The 
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Court characterized the testimony in Foster as “could 
have” testimony, which easily could mislead a jury, and 
held that the testimony was too speculative to be ad-
missible. Id. at 1118. Thus, the Court held that the pro-
bative value of the testimony was substantially 
outweighed by the danger of misleading the jury. Id. at 
1117–18. 

 ¶ 54. We have distinguished Foster in other cases 
when the risks associated with “could have” testimony 
did not outweigh the probative value. In McGowen v. 
State, the Court held testimony that a victim’s physical 
condition likely was caused by sexual assault did not 
result in unfair prejudice or jury confusion. McGowen, 
859 So.2d at 334 (¶ 46). McGowen was distinguishable 
from Foster because the testimony in McGowen “did 
not employ or rely on phrases such as ‘could have’ or 
‘possible.’ Rather, [the witness] merely testified as to 
the condition of [the victim’s] body.” Id. at 331 (¶ 36). 

 ¶ 55. In the instant case, Andrews testified that 
the presence of gunshot residue could result from three 
scenarios, and Andrews’s testimony was clear that the 
residue did not unequivocally prove that Flowers had 
fired a gun: 

Q: Now, you are not telling the jury, are you, 
that finding a single particle of gunshot 
residue says that any individual actually 
pulled the trigger on a firearm, are you? 

A: No, ma’am. The conclusions you can draw 
from finding and identifying the gunshot 
residue on the hands of the person are 
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one of three conclusions: That person has 
discharged a weapon. That person has 
been in close proximity to a discharged 
weapon or that person has handled an ob-
ject that has gunshot residue on it. Those 
are the three conclusions you can draw 
from a positive gunshot residue identifi-
cation. 

. . .  

Q: The fact that you found that single parti-
cle does not bring this jury or us one step 
closer to knowing [by] which one of these 
three means that gunshot residue parti-
cle got on Mr. Flowers’s hand; is that cor-
rect? 

A: Yes, ma’am, that’s correct. 

Andrews’s testimony is distinguishable from the testi-
mony contemplated in Foster. Andrews set out three 
events that could result in a person having gunshot 
residue on his hands. He clearly explained that the 
gunshot residue did not unequivocally show that Flow-
ers had fired a gun. Because Andrews’s testimony was 
clearly explained, there is little risk that the jury was 
confused or misled by the testimony. As such, the tes-
timony was admissible under Rule 403, and the trial 
judge did not abuse his discretion in admitting it. The 
issue is without merit. 
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IV. Whether the evidence presented at trial 
was insufficient to support a finding of 
guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, as man-
dated by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amend-
ments to the United States Constitution 
and Section Fourteen of the Mississippi 
Constitution. 

 ¶ 56. Flowers claims that the evidence produced 
at trial was insufficient to support the verdict. He at-
tacks the sufficiency of the evidence from multiple an-
gles: (1) lack of motive; (2) lack of evidence that 
Flowers knew Simpson kept a gun in his car; (3) lack 
of evidence that one person, acting alone, committed 
the murders; (4) lack of the eyewitness credibility; and 
(5) lack of probative value of physical evidence. Flow-
ers contends that the instant case is one of circumstan-
tial evidence rather than direct evidence; therefore, he 
argues that the State was required to meet a higher 
burden of proof. 

 ¶ 57. At the end of the State’s rebuttal, Flowers 
moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict 
(JNOV). The trial court denied the motion. “A motion 
for JNOV challenges the legal sufficiency of the evi-
dence.” Taylor v. State, 110 So.3d 776, 782 (¶ 19) (Miss. 
2013) (citing Knight v. State, 72 So.3d 1056, 1063 (¶ 24) 
(Miss. 2011)). We apply the following standard when 
reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence: 

When ruling on a motion for JNOV, the trial 
court must view all credible evidence con-
sistent with the defendant’s guilt in the light 
most favorable to the State. The Court will not 
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disturb the trial court’s ruling if the evidence 
shows beyond a reasonable doubt that [the] 
accused committed the act charged, and that 
he did so under such circumstances that every 
element of the offense existed; and where the 
evidence fails to meet this test it is insuffi-
cient to support a conviction, and reversal is 
required. Thus, the Court must determine 
whether, after viewing the evidence in the 
light most favorable to the State, any rational 
trier of fact could have found the essential el-
ements of the crime beyond a reasonable 
doubt. 

Taylor, 110 So.3d at 782 (¶ 19) (internal citations and 
quotations omitted). Flowers was charged with four 
counts of capital murder with the underlying felony of 
armed robbery. Thus, the State was required to prove 
that Flowers killed each of the victims “without the au-
thority of law by any means or any manner . . . [w]hen 
done with or without any design to effect death, [while] 
engaged in the commission of the crime of . . . rob-
bery. . . .” Miss. Code Ann. § 97–3–19(2)(e) (Rev. 2014). 

 
A. Burden of Proof 

 ¶ 58. Because Flowers claims that the burden of 
proof—and, consequently, the sufficiency of the evi-
dence analysis—depends on whether the evidence is 
direct or circumstantial, we address burden of proof 
first. Flowers claims that the case is based on circum-
stantial evidence, not direct evidence. Therefore, he 
claims that the State must meet the following burden 
of proof: 
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It is fundamental that convictions of crime 
cannot be sustained on proof which amounts 
to no more than a possibility or even when it 
amounts to a probability, but it must rise to 
the height which will exclude every reasona-
ble doubt; that when in any essential respect 
the State relies on circumstantial evidence, it 
must be such as to exclude every other reason-
able hypothesis than that the contention of 
the State is true, and that throughout the bur-
den of proof is on the State. 

Westbrook v. State, 202 Miss. 426, 32 So.2d 251, 252 
(1947). 

 ¶ 59. Flowers’s case, however, is not a case of cir-
cumstantial evidence. If an eyewitness is produced or 
a statement from the defendant is admitted, the case 
is not circumstantial. Rubenstein v. State, 941 So.2d 
735, 785 (¶ 225) (Miss. 2006); Ladner v. State, 584 
So.2d 743, 750 (Miss. 1991). Further, a defendant’s “ad-
mission of culpability . . . to a third party who is not a 
law enforcement officer constitutes direct evidence of a 
crime.” Minor v. State, 831 So.2d 1116, 1119 (¶ 9) (Miss. 
2002) (citing Ladner, 584 So.2d at 750). In Ladner, the 
Court held that a case is not based only on circumstan-
tial evidence even if the only direct evidence is a “jail-
house confession.” Ladner, 584 So.2d at 750. See also 
Foster, 508 So.2d at 1115 (Court held that, without 
the jailhouse confession, the prosecution’s case would 
have been entirely circumstantial), overruled on other 
grounds by Powell v. State, 806 So.2d 1069 (Miss. 2001). 
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 ¶ 60. Odell Hallmon, a jailhouse informant, tes-
tified that Flowers had told him that he had committed 
the murders. According to Ladner, a jailhouse inform-
ant’s testimony is considered direct evidence, and 
when a jailhouse informant’s testimony is present, the 
case is not circumstantial. See Moore v. State, 787 So.2d 
1282, 1288 (¶ 18) (Miss. 2001) (discussing Ladner, 584 
So.2d at 750). Following the Court’s holdings in Ladner 
and Moore, the trial judge found that Hallmon’s testi-
mony provided direct evidence of the crimes. We hold 
that the trial judge did not err in applying the Court’s 
precedent. Under Ladner, the case sub judice is not one 
of circumstantial evidence, and the Westbrook stand-
ard suggested by Flowers does not apply. 

 
B. Sufficiency of the Evidence 

 ¶ 61. Flowers claims that the evidence presented 
at trial was insufficient to support a finding of guilt 
beyond a reasonable doubt. Flowers asserts that the 
State failed to prove motive; that there was a lack of 
evidence that Flowers knew Simpson kept a gun in his 
car; that the evidence does not support the State’s the-
ory that the murders were committed by a single gun-
man; that the eyewitnesses were not credible; and that 
the physical evidence lacked probative value. First, alt-
hough Flowers vehemently argues on appeal his the-
ory that the number of victims and the placement of 
the gunshot wounds demonstrate that the murders 
were “almost certainly not a one-man crime,” that the-
ory was not presented at trial. Therefore, Flowers can-
not raise it on appeal. Lyons v. State, 766 So.2d 38, 40 
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(¶ 7) (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (“Failure to raise this de-
fense waives the right of the appellant to raise it 
here.”). 

 ¶ 62. Regarding motive, Flowers claims that the 
State failed to prove that he was so aggrieved about 
being firing [sic] from Tardy Furniture that the firing 
resulted in his murdering four people. To support his 
contention, Flowers cites his statement given to the po-
lice shortly after the murders. Flowers told investiga-
tors that he had worked at Tardy Furniture for about 
three days at the beginning of July 1996. On his last 
day, Flowers improperly loaded large tractor batteries, 
and they fell off the truck and were damaged. Bertha 
Tardy told Flowers that the cost of the damaged bat-
teries would be deducted from his paycheck. Flowers 
failed to return to work after the incident. After not re-
porting to work for several days, Flowers called Bertha 
Tardy and asked if he still had a job. Bertha Tardy told 
Flowers that he no longer had a job and that the ma-
jority of his paycheck was “covered up with [the] bat-
teries.” Flowers never stated that he was angry with 
Bertha Tardy for losing his job. 

 ¶ 63. Flowers is correct that the State did not 
provide direct evidence of any anger toward the Tardy 
Furniture employees, but the State did provide evi-
dence that Flowers had lost his job at Tardy Furniture 
and had his paycheck reduced as a result of the dam-
aged batteries. A reasonable juror could conclude from 
that evidence—and it is in the jury’s province to draw 
such inferences if reasonable—that Flowers had a mo-
tive to rob Tardy Furniture and kill four employees. 
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See Howell v. State, 860 So.2d 704, 739 (¶ 125) (Miss. 
2003) (“It is within the jury’s province to draw reason-
able inferences from facts based on experience and 
common sense.”) (citing Lewis v. State, 573 So.2d 719, 
723 (Miss. 1990)). The State’s evidence supported the 
contention that Flowers had a motive. 

 ¶ 64. Next, Flowers contends that the State’s 
theory hinged on proving that Flowers knew he would 
find a gun in Simpson’s car the morning of the mur-
ders, and he claims the State failed to prove that. He 
cites Simpson’s testimony that Flowers did not know 
Simpson’s gun was in his car on the morning of the 
murders: 

Q. Your testimony was you did not recall 
agreeing and saying there was no way 
that Curtis Flowers would have known 
that gun was in the car that particular 
morning. 

A. No. He, he didn’t know it. 

Q. He did not know it. 

A. He did not know it. 

Although Simpson stated at that point in his testi-
mony that Flowers did not know the gun was in his car 
on the morning of the murders, Simpson had first tes-
tified that Flowers had seen the gun in Simpson’s car 
previously. In a followup question regarding whether 
Flowers knew the gun was in his car that morning, 
Simpson confirmed that Flowers had seen the gun in 
his car before. 
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Q. So you had known [Flowers] pretty much 
forever. 

A. Yes, sir. Yes, sir. 

Q. Did he know that you had this pistol? 

A. Yes, he did. 

Q. Had he seen it in your car before? 

A. Yes, sir. 

. . .  

Q. You were asked . . . whether or not there 
was any way he knew the gun was in 
there that morning and your answer was 
that it wasn’t; is that right? 

A. That’s right. 

Q. But you were also asked how [Flowers] 
knew you kept a gun in your car, I believe. 
How did [Flowers] know you had had a 
gun in your car? Had he seen it in there 
before? 

A. Yes, sir, he had. 

 ¶ 65. Because Flowers previously had seen 
Simpson’s gun in his car, the evidence supports the 
contention that Flowers knew he would find the gun in 
Simpson’s car the morning of the murders. The jury, as 
“the ultimate finder of fact,” is responsible for consid-
ering the evidence and weighing the credibility of wit-
nesses, and the Court will not reweigh the evidence on 
appeal. Conley v. State, 790 So.2d 773, 807 (¶ 13) (Miss. 
2001) (“We do not have the task of re-weighing the 
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facts in each case and going behind the verdict of the 
jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they 
chose to believe was or was not the most credible.”). 
Whether the jury believed that Flowers knew Simpson 
kept a gun in his car was one piece of evidence for the 
jury to consider. 

 ¶ 66. Flowers also attacks the credibility of the 
witnesses who placed him walking between his home, 
Angelica Garment Factory, and Tardy Furniture the 
morning of the murder. He asserts that the $30,000 re-
ward for information lured the witnesses to testify. 
Several witnesses testified that they were aware a 
reward was being offered for information.5 Some wit-
nesses were not asked about the reward. Two of Flow-
ers’s fact witnesses, Latarsha Blissett and Kittery 
Jones, testified that investigators had implied that 
they would receive the reward if they provided state-
ments implicating Flowers. The reward was never 
given. The jury heard testimony related to the reward, 
and Flowers’s counsel argued during closing argument 
that investigators allegedly had tried to entice witness 
statements by offering the reward. The issue was 
within the jury’s province of determining credibility. 
See Taylor, 110 So.3d at 784 (¶ 29). 

 ¶ 67. Flowers also claims that testimony from 
people who saw him on the morning of the murders is 
not credible because the witnesses’ testimony contains 

 
 5 The State’s witnesses who testified that they knew about 
the reward were: Patricia Odom, Katherine Snow, James Ken-
nedy, Mary Fleming [sic], and Clemmie Fleming [sic]. 
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“irreconcilable differences.” One difference Flowers 
cites is the witnesses’ descriptions of his clothing. One 
witness testified that Flowers was wearing black wind-
suit pants; another said Flowers had on brown pants; 
and another thought Flowers wore white shorts. Flow-
ers also points out that the times at which the wit-
nesses claimed to have seen him at various locations 
in Winona overlap. For example, James Kennedy testi-
fied that he saw Flowers in front of his home at 7:15 
a.m., but Katherine Snow said that she saw Flowers at 
Angelica at 7:15. Inconsistency in witness testimony is 
an issue of credibility for the jury. “It is within the 
jury’s province to determine the weight and credibility 
to give to the evidence, resolving all conflicts in the ev-
idence.” Taylor, 110 So.3d at 784 (¶ 29). 

 ¶ 68. Finally, Flowers claims that the physical 
evidence linking him to the murders lacks probative 
value. First, he argues that the bloody shoeprint found 
at the scene does not connect him to the crime, because 
another person could have come into the store after the 
murders and stepped on the bloody floor. His assertion 
lacks merit. The shoeprint was from a size ten-and-a-
half Fila Grant Hill tennis shoe. Flowers wore a size 
ten-and-a-half shoe. A shoebox for size ten-and-a-half 
Fila Grant Hill tennis shoes was found in Flowers’s 
girlfriend’s home. Witnesses testified that they had 
seen Flowers wearing Fila Grant Hill shoes. Second, 
Flowers contends that the gunshot residue particle 
found on his hand has no probative value, claiming that 
it could have come from another source. As discussed 
above, Joe Andrews, a forensic scientist, testified that 
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the gunshot residue found on Flowers’s hand could 
prove one of three things: (1) he had discharged a 
weapon; (2) he had been in close proximity to a dis-
charged weapon; or (3) he had handled an object that 
had gunshot residue on it. Although the gunshot resi-
due could have come from another source (for example, 
coming in contact with an item at the police station), 
one alternative was that Flowers actually fired a 
weapon. Thus, the evidence does have some probative 
value. 

 ¶ 69. The State responds to Flowers’s claim that 
the evidence was insufficient by citing the following ev-
idence linking Flowers to the murders: Flowers was 
fired from Tardy Furniture and was told he would not 
receive pay for his days worked. Flowers was seen 
standing next to Simpson’s car—where the gun used 
in the murders was located—on the morning of the 
murders. Numerous witnesses saw Flowers walking to 
and from Tardy Furniture on the morning of the mur-
ders. The shoeprint found at the crime scene matched 
Flowers’s shoe size and matched a pair of shoes he had 
been seen wearing. Flowers tested positive for gunshot 
residue. The only paperwork that had been disturbed 
at Tardy Furniture was Flowers’s paycheck and time-
card. Cash was found hidden in Flowers’s headboard 
after the murders. Hallmon testified that Flowers had 
confessed to committing the murders. When the evi-
dence is viewed as a whole and in the light most favor-
able to the State, we conclude that any rational trier of 
fact could have found that the State had proved the 
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essential elements of capital murder beyond a reason-
able doubt. Accordingly, the issue is without merit. 

 
V. Whether Flowers’s right to a fair trial, as 

guaranteed by Mississippi law and the Four-
teenth Amendment to the United States 
Constitution, was violated by the prosecu-
tion referencing facts not in evidence dur-
ing the culpability phase closing argument. 

 ¶ 70. Flowers claims that the prosecution improp-
erly argued facts not in evidence during its culpability 
phase closing argument. During closing arguments, at-
torneys may “fairly sum up the evidence,” comment on 
facts in evidence, and “draw whatever deductions and 
inferences” seem proper from the facts. Rogers v. State, 
796 So.2d 1022, 1027 (¶ 15) (Miss. 2001); Bell v. State, 
725 So.2d 836, 851 (¶ 40) (Miss. 1998) (citations omit-
ted). We apply the following standard of review to at-
torney misconduct during opening statements and 
closing arguments: “whether the natural and probable 
effect of the improper argument is to create unjust 
prejudice against the accused so as to result in a deci-
sion influenced by the prejudice so created.” Sheppard 
v. State, 777 So.2d 659, 661 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2001) (citing 
Ormond v. State, 599 So.2d 951, 961 (Miss. 1992)). 

 ¶ 71. “Where prosecutorial misconduct endan-
gers the fairness of a trial and the impartial admin-
istration of justice, reversal must follow.” Goodin v. 
State, 787 So.2d 639, 645 (¶ 18) (Miss. 2001) (citing 
Acevedo v. State, 467 So.2d 220, 226 (Miss. 1985)). 
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However, we have held that, even if a prosecutor’s 
statements during closing arguments are inconsistent 
with the facts, reversal is not warranted if the state-
ments do not rise to the level necessary to endanger 
the impartial administration of justice and the fair-
ness of the trial. Pitchford v. State, 45 So.3d 216, 233 
(¶ 62) (Miss. 2010) (quoting Goodin, 787 So.2d at 645 
(¶ 18)). In Pitchford, the prosecutor said that the de-
fendant “went to the sheriff ’s department the same 
morning of the murder and he admitted it.” Pitchford, 
45 So.3d at 233 (¶ 62). The testimony, however, was 
that the defendant “talked to” an investigator. Id. De-
spite the inconsistency, the Court held that the state-
ment did not result in an unfair trial. Id. 

 ¶ 72. Flowers claims that, during closing argu-
ment, the prosecution misstated facts about: (1) the 
time Sam Jones discovered the victims at Tardy Furni-
ture; (2) Flowers’s motive; (3) Porky Collins’s response 
to the photo arrays; and (4) the location of the victims 
at the crime scene. The State correctly asserts that 
Flowers did not object contemporaneously to the state-
ments during closing argument. Generally, even in 
death penalty cases, “the failure to object to the prose-
cution’s statements in closing argument constitutes a 
procedural bar.” Ross I, 954 So.2d at 1001 (¶ 71) (citing 
Spicer v. State, 921 So.2d 292, 309 (Miss. 2006); Wil-
liams v. State, 684 So.2d 1179, 1203 (Miss. 1996)). How-
ever, in some cases, we have considered the merits of 
the argument even where the defendant failed to ob-
ject contemporaneously. See Ross I, 954 So.2d at 1002 
(¶ 71) (citing cases). 
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 ¶ 73. In Flowers II, we recognized plain error for 
misstatements by the prosecution in closing argu-
ments. Flowers II, 842 So.2d at 550–56 (¶¶ 52–74). 
Therefore, because we found plain error on a similar 
issue in Flowers II, we proceed under a plain error 
analysis for the purpose of a thorough analysis. Foster 
v. State, 639 So.2d 1263, 1289 (Miss. 1994) (“defendant 
who fails to make a contemporaneous objection must 
rely on plain error to raise the assignment on appeal”) 
(citing Gray v. State, 487 So.2d 1304, 1312 (Miss. 
1986)). To reverse under the plain error doctrine, an 
error must have occurred and that error must have 
“resulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice” or “seri-
ously affect[ed] the fairness, integrity[,] or public rep-
utation of judicial proceedings.” Conners v. State, 92 
So.3d 676, 682 (¶ 15) (Miss. 2012) (quoting Brown v. 
State, 995 So.2d 698, 703 (¶ 21) (Miss. 2008)). 

 
A. Sam Jones’s Arrival at Tardy Furni-

ture 

 ¶ 74. Flowers claims that, during closing argu-
ment, the State misrepresented Sam Jones’s testimony 
regarding the timeline of events on the morning of the 
murders. Jones died prior to Flowers’s 2010 trial, so his 
testimony from the 2007 trial was read into evidence. 
Jones initially testified that he arrived at Tardy Furni-
ture between 9:15 and 9:30 a.m. When the State ques-
tioned Jones about the timeline, the State’s attorney 
misstated Jones’s arrival time as being closer to 10:00 
a.m. The State’s attorney asked, “ . . . when you got to 
the store, that was going to be closer on up to 10 o’clock, 
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wasn’t it?” Flowers’s counsel objected to leading, but 
the judge overruled the objection. However, Jones 
never responded to the question. During closing argu-
ment, the State discussed the timeline and the attor-
ney said: “Mr. Sam Jones came into the store slightly 
after 10:00 on the morning of the 16th and discovered 
the bodies.” Flowers claims the statement was prejudi-
cial because it skewed the timeline in the State’s favor. 
Both Porky Collins and Clemmie Flemming testified 
that they had seen Flowers near Tardy Furniture 
around 10:00 a.m. Flowers claims that, if Jones’s testi-
mony that he arrived at the store between 9:15 and 
9:30 had been described accurately, it would have 
raised a question in the jurors’ minds about what 
Flowers was doing near the murder scene thirty to 
forty-five minutes after the murders could have oc-
curred. 

 ¶ 75. The State responds that, although Jones 
did not testify to arriving at the store at 10:00 a.m., 
other evidence presented at trial supported that posi-
tion. For example, the 911 call reporting the murders 
was placed at 10:20 a.m., and Jones testified that he 
was in Tardy Furniture for ten to fifteen minutes be-
fore going to a nearby business to call for help. So, 
working backward, the conclusion could be drawn that 
Jones arrived at Tardy Furniture closer to 10:00 a.m., 
rather than 9:15 or 9:30. Further, the State claims that 
any misstatement relating to the time Jones arrived 
was harmless error, and the error was cured with the 
following comments by defense counsel in its closing 
statement: 
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[Sam Jones] came in and you know, his testi-
mony, I looked it up as they were saying that. 
His original testimony was he might have got-
ten there, started his voyage to go in to—as 
early as 9:00. He, he thought maybe he got 
there closer to 9:30. But we know from the po-
lice that the call came in at 10:20. And if you 
will remember, Mr. Jones also told you he 
thought it might have been 15 minutes before 
he recovered himself enough to go and actu-
ally make the report. So there is a bunch of 
time in there. 

Sam Jones did not testify that he arrived at 
Tardy Furniture at 10:00 a.m. However, a rea-
sonable inference could be drawn from the 
other evidence, including the 911 call, that 
Jones may have arrived closer to 10:00. De-
fense counsel’s summary of the timeline in 
closing and the reasonable inference that 
could be drawn from the evidence as a whole 
preclude a finding of plain error on the issue. 

 
B. Flowers’s Motive 

 ¶ 76. Next, Flowers claims that the following 
statement by the prosecutor about Flowers’s alleged 
motive was not based on facts in evidence: 

The investigators learned pretty quickly 
when they asked who in the world could have 
had some reason, some motive, some anything 
to attack four people like this. 

Have you had anybody that’s had beef with 
the store? Just one. Well, that doesn’t mean he 
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did this though, does it? No. But you check 
that out. You look at him. And in the course of 
deciding what, if anything, Curtis Flowers 
had to do with this crime. 

 In his brief, Flowers claims that no evidence was 
presented to support the State’s theory that Flowers 
was angry about being fired. To the contrary, the State 
identified several facts that supported the contention 
that Flowers “had beef ” with Tardy Furniture: Flow-
ers lost his job days before the murders. Bertha Tardy 
deducted the cost of damaged inventory from Flowers’s 
paycheck. Police Chief John Johnson testified that the 
Tardy family considered Flowers a threat and that 
“they were concerned about their safety dealing with 
him.” Investigator Jack Matthews testified Flowers 
was the only employee who had been fired from Tardy 
Furniture in the last few years and was the only per-
son with whom they had had any problems. Doyle 
Simpson testified that he had heard that Flowers had 
“problems” with Tardy Furniture. A reasonable infer-
ence could be drawn from the evidence that Flowers 
had ill will toward Tardy Furniture. We cannot say 
that the State’s comment during closing rose to the 
level of plain error. 

 
C. Porky Collins’s Response to the Photo 

Lineups 

 ¶ 77. In his third assignment of error, regarding 
alleged misstatements by the prosecution, Flowers claims 
that the prosecutor misrepresented Porky Collins’s 
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response to the photo lineup that included Doyle Simp-
son’s photograph. The misrepresentation was preju- 
dicial to Flowers’s defense, he claims, because his 
defense was based partially on the theory that Simp-
son committed the murders. Collins testified that he 
did not remember if he had identified Simpson as one 
of the men he had seen arguing outside Tardy Furni-
ture. Notes taken by an investigator during the photo 
arrays provided that Collins had said that two of the 
individuals resembled one of the men but that the 
“hairline was further back.” Investigator Wayne Miller 
testified that Collins had pointed to Simpson during 
the photo array and said he looked like the person, but 
he could not be positive. Collins was shown a second 
array of photos, and he definitively identified Flowers. 

 ¶ 78. During closing argument, the State’s attor-
ney said the following about Collins’s identification: 
“He said the guy ain’t there. They took another six pho-
tographs and said look at this second set. He said that’s 
him right there. . . . You know, see if he is in there. No, 
he is not. Is he in the second group? Yeah. That’s him 
right there.” The State correctly reiterated that Collins 
had identified Flowers in the second photo array as one 
of the men he had seen arguing outside Tardy Furni-
ture. While the State’s statement that Collins had said 
“the guy ain’t there” was not an accurate representa-
tion of Collins’s response to the first photo array, the 
reality is that Collins did not identify Simpson. He said 
he could not be sure. He pointed to Simpson’s photo-
graph in the first array and said he “looked like” the 
man he saw but he was “unable to be positive.” 
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However, when Collins saw Flowers in the second ar-
ray, he was positive. The prosecutor’s statement was 
slightly inconsistent with the facts, but we cannot say 
that the comment rose to the level of plain error. 

 
D. Location of the Victims at the Crime 

Scene 

 ¶ 79. Flowers contends that the prosecutor incor-
rectly described the location of the victims at the crime 
scene. The prosecutor stated during closing argument 
that Sam Jones had discovered “all four victims basi-
cally laying in a pile, in a group right at the front coun-
ter in Tardy Furniture Store.” The evidence presented 
at trial, however, showed that three of the victims were 
lying a few feet apart from one another, while the 
fourth victim was a considerable distance away. Flow-
ers argues that the prosecutor’s statement was preju-
dicial because it aided in undercutting the theory that 
the murders were committed by more than one person. 
Essentially, Flowers claims that the idea of four vic-
tims “piled together” aligns with a one-person crime, 
whereas victims spread across a larger area paints the 
picture of a two-man crime. The State admits that the 
“lying in a pile” statement was incorrect, but the State 
points out that three of the four victims were lying 
close to one another. The State asserts that the state-
ment did not prejudice Flowers. As previously men-
tioned, Flowers did not present the “two-man crime” 
theory to the jury. And Flowers does not claim that the 
prosecutor’s statement prejudiced him in any other 
way. Applying the plain error doctrine, the statement 
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may have been an error, but we cannot say that it re-
sulted in a manifest miscarriage of justice or resulted 
in an unfair trial. See Conners, 92 So.3d at 682 (¶ 15). 

 
E. Conclusion 

 ¶ 80. We recognize that, in Flowers II, the prose-
cution’s misstatement of facts during closing argument 
was one basis for reversal. Flowers II, 842 So.2d at 556 
(¶ 74). In that appeal, Flowers cited approximately 
fourteen alleged misstatements. Id. at 555 (¶ 68). 
Taken together, the cumulative effect of the misstate-
ments, along with several other errors, warranted re-
versal. Id. at 556, 564 (¶¶ 74, 104). In today’s case, 
Flowers cites four statements made during closing ar-
gument that he claims were not supported by the evi-
dence. The prosecutor’s comments regarding Jones’s 
arrival time, Flowers’s having “beef ” with the store, 
and Collins’s identification were supported by the evi-
dence and/or were proper “deductions and inferences” 
drawn from the facts. Rogers, 796 So.2d at 1027 (¶ 15); 
Bell, 725 So.2d at 851 (¶ 40). The statement about the 
bodies being piled up was a misstatement, but it does 
not satisfy the standard for plain error. We reiterate 
that Flowers failed to object to the statements during 
closing, therefore, we apply the plain error doctrine on 
appeal. Plain error is not present, as we have only one 
misstatement, which did not result in a manifest mis-
carriage of justice or adversely affect the fairness of the 
proceedings. Conners, 92 So.3d at 682 (¶ 15). The issue 
is without merit. 
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VI. Whether the jury selection process vio-
lated Flowers’s fundamental constitu-
tional rights protected by the Sixth and 
Fourteenth Amendments, and whether 
the trial court erred in denying Flowers’s 
Batson claims. 

 ¶ 81. Flowers claims that the State exercised its 
peremptory strikes in a racially discriminatory way by 
striking five African-American venire members after 
employing disparate questioning and citing pretextual 
reasons for the strikes. As previously mentioned, the 
Supreme Court issued an order granting Flowers’s pe-
tition for a writ of certiorari and remanding the case 
“for further consideration in light of Foster v. Chatman, 
578 U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 1737, [195 L.Ed.2d 1] (2016).” 
Flowers, 136 S.Ct. at 2157. 

 ¶ 82. An order granting, vacating, and remand-
ing a lower court decision does not amount to a final 
determination on the merits. Kenemore v. Roy, 690 F.3d 
639, 641 (5th Cir. 2012). Such an order “does not bind 
the lower court to which the case is remanded; that 
court is free to determine whether its original decision 
is still correct in light of the changed circumstances or 
whether a different result is more appropriate.” Id. at 
642. The Supreme Court often vacates a judgment and 
remands a case when it “believes that the lower court 
should give further thought to its decision in light of 
an opinion of [the Supreme] Court that (1) came after 
the decision under review and (2) changed or clarified 
the governing legal principles in a way that could 
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possibly alter the decision of the lower court.” Flowers, 
136 S.Ct. at 2157 (Alito, J., dissenting). 

 ¶ 83. The Court afforded Flowers and the State 
an opportunity to submit supplemental briefs on re-
mand in accordance with the Supreme Court’s order. 
Rather than point out how the Court should give fur-
ther thought to its decision in light of Foster or explain 
how Foster changed or clarified the governing legal 
principles in a way that possibly could alter our deci-
sion, Flowers essentially re-urges the arguments he 
had raised in his most recent appeal. 

 ¶ 84. Flowers contends that “[f ]rom the begin-
ning,” the State’s lead prosecutor Doug Evans engaged 
in a “relentless exclusion of African Americans from 
the juries[.]” Flowers’s petition for certiorari to the Su-
preme Court raised the following question: “Whether a 
prosecutor’s history of adjudicated purposeful race dis-
crimination must be considered when assessing the 
credibility of his proffered explanations for peremptory 
strikes against minority prospective jurors?” Flowers 
argues that “the Supreme Court’s remand for reconsid-
eration requires this Court to reevaluate the evidence 
of pretext in light of the prosecutor’s history of discrim-
ination and dishonesty.” 

 ¶ 85. Flowers points out that, during his second 
trial, the trial court disallowed one of Evans’s strikes 
because it had found it to be racially motivated. Flow-
ers also points out that the Court said that Flowers’s 
third trial presented us with as strong a prima facie 
case of racial discrimination as we had ever seen in the 
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context of a Batson challenge. Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 
935. 

 ¶ 86. In Flowers III, the Court held that the pros-
ecutor had violated Batson because the peremptory 
challenge exercised against juror Vickie Curry was 
clearly pretextual as there was no basis in the record 
for two of the grounds proffered by the prosecutor. Id. 
at 936. Moreover, the third ground was based on a re-
lationship between Curry and Flowers that was “tenu-
ous at best.” Id. at 936. The Court also noted the trial 
court’s erroneous statement that “the State has a right 
to exercise a challenge based on some of the answers 
from the other jurors as far as their peremptory chal-
lenge goes.” Id. The Court also held that the prosecu-
tor’s actions in striking juror Connie Pittman were 
“equally specious, as there [was] absolutely no evi-
dence in the record to support the [the prosecutor’s] 
proffered reason for striking her.” Id. The Court classi-
fied the strikes of three other jurors as “suspect, as an 
undertone of disparate treatment exist[ed] in the 
State’s voir dire of [the other three] individuals.” Id. 
The Court concluded that, “[a]fter carefully reviewing 
the record before this Court and the applicable law, we 
find that the State engaged in racially discriminatory 
practices during the jury selection process and that the 
trial court committed reversible error in upholding the 
peremptory strikes exercised against Vickie Curry and 
Connie Pittman.” Id. at 939. 

 ¶ 87. As an initial matter, Foster in no way in-
volved a particular prosecutor’s history of adjudi- 
cated Batson violations. Rather, the Supreme Court’s 
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decision in Foster hinged on several apparent misrep-
resentations made by the prosecution, evidenced by 
the record in conjunction with the prosecution’s trou-
bling jury selection file, which had a shocking focus on 
race. Nonetheless, we analyze Foster on our own to look 
for other issues that might place our original opinion 
in Flowers IV in error. 

 ¶ 88. In Foster, petitioner Timothy Foster claimed 
that the prosecution used peremptory challenges to 
strike all four black prospective jurors qualified to 
serve on the jury in his trial for capital murder, in vio-
lation of Batson. Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1742. The trial 
court denied his claim, and the Georgia Supreme Court 
affirmed. Id. Foster renewed his Batson claim in a 
state habeas proceeding. Id. While the habeas proceed-
ing was pending, Foster obtained copies of the file used 
by the prosecution during his trial through the Georgia 
Open Records Act. Id. at 1743–44. 

 ¶ 89. The prosecution’s jury selection file was re-
plete with documents referencing race, including: (1) 
copies of the jury venire list on which the names of 
each black prospective juror were highlighted in green, 
with a legend indicating that the green highlighting 
“represents Blacks”; (2) a draft of an affidavit prepared 
by an investigator at the request of the prosecutor, 
comparing black prospective jurors and concluding, “If 
it comes down to having to pick one of the black jurors, 
[this one] might be okay”; (3) handwritten notes iden-
tifying three black prospective jurors as “B# 1,” “B# 2,” 
and “B# 3”; (4) a typed list of qualified jurors with “N” 
(for “no”) appearing next to the names of all five black 
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prospective jurors; (5) a handwritten document titled 
“definite NO’s” listing six names, including the names 
of all five qualified black prospective jurors; (6) hand-
written document titled “Church of Christ” with nota-
tion that read: “NO. No Black Church”; and (7) the 
questionnaires filled out by several of the prospective 
black jurors, on which each juror’s response indicating 
his or her race had been circled. Id. at 1744. 

 ¶ 90. The state habeas court considered the pros-
ecution’s jury selection file but denied relief. Id. at 
1745. The Georgia Supreme Court likewise denied re-
lief, concluding that Foster’s Batson claim was without 
merit because he had failed to demonstrate purpose- 
ful discrimination. Id. at 1745. The Supreme Court 
granted certiorari. Id. The Supreme Court reempha-
sized the familiar principle that “the Constitution for-
bids striking even a single prospective juror for a 
discriminatory purpose.” Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1747 
(quoting Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 478, 128 
S.Ct. 1203, 170 L.Ed.2d 175 (2008)). The Supreme 
Court also reaffirmed the well settled, three part pro-
cess established in Batson for determining when a 
strike is discriminatory: 

First, a defendant must make a prima facie 
showing that a peremptory challenge has 
been exercised on the basis of race; second, if 
that showing has been made, the prosecution 
must offer a race-neutral basis for striking 
the juror in question; and third, in light of 
the parties’ submissions, the trial court must 
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determine whether the defendant has shown 
purposeful discrimination. 

Id. (quoting Snyder, 552 U.S. at 476–477, 128 S.Ct. 
1203). 

 ¶ 91. The Supreme Court addressed only Bat-
son’s third step because it was undisputed that Foster 
had demonstrated a prima facie case and that the pros-
ecutors had offered race-neutral reasons for their 
strikes. Id. at 1747. The third “step turns on factual 
determinations, and, ‘in the absence of exceptional cir-
cumstances,’ we defer to state court factual findings 
unless we conclude that they are clearly erroneous.” Id. 
(quoting Snyder, 552 U.S. at 477, 128 S.Ct. 1203). 

 ¶ 92. Despite uncertainty about the background 
of particular jury selection notes obtained by Foster, 
the Supreme Court refused to blind itself to their ex-
istence. Id. at 1748. The Supreme Court “made it clear 
that in considering a Batson objection, or in reviewing 
a ruling claimed to be Batson error, all of the circum-
stances that bear upon the issue of racial animosity 
must be consulted.” Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1748 (quoting 
Snyder, 552 U.S. at 478, 128 S.Ct. 1203). “As [the Su-
preme Court has] said in a related context, ‘determin-
ing whether invidious discriminatory purpose was a 
motivating factor demands a sensitive inquiry into 
such circumstantial evidence of intent as may be avail-
able.’ ” Id. (quoting Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan 
Housing Dev. Corp., 429 U.S. 252, 266, 97 S.Ct. 555, 50 
L.Ed.2d 450 (1977)). “At a minimum, [the Supreme 
Court was] comfortable that all documents in the file 
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were authored by someone in the district attorney’s 
office. Any uncertainties concerning the documents 
[were] pertinent only as potential limits on their pro-
bative value.” Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1748. 

 ¶ 93. Foster focused his Batson claim on the 
strikes of two black prospective jurors, Marilyn Gar-
rett and Eddie Hood. Id. at 1748. The Supreme Court 
analyzed the prosecution’s justifications for striking 
Garrett and Hood. 

 ¶ 94. The Supreme Court determined that the 
prosecution’s reasoning for striking Garrett was “not 
grounded in fact.” Id. at 1748–49. Furthermore, the Su-
preme Court also discovered that the prosecution had 
made misrepresentations because several of the pros-
ecution’s reasons for why he struck Garrett were con-
tradicted by the record. Id. at 1749–50. The Supreme 
Court also determined that other explanations given 
by the prosecution, while not explicitly contradicted by 
the record, were “difficult to credit” because the prose-
cution had accepted white jurors with the same traits 
that allegedly rendered Garrett an unattractive juror. 
Id. at 1750. 

 ¶ 95. As for the other juror, Hood, the Supreme 
Court said that the prosecution’s principal reasons for 
striking him “shifted over time, suggesting that those 
reasons may be pretextual.” Moreover, the Supreme 
Court concluded that the prosecution’s justifications 
could “only be regarded as pretextual” because the jus-
tifications were “implausible” and “fantastic.” Id. at 
1752–53 (citing Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 339, 
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123 S.Ct. 1029, 154 L.Ed.2d 931 (2003) (holding that 
credibility can be measured by, among other factors, 
how reasonable, or how probable, the State’s explana-
tions are)). As for an alternative primary justification 
for striking Hood—his affiliation with the Church of 
Christ—the Supreme Court was persuaded by the rec-
ord demonstrating that Hood’s race was the true moti-
vation for the strike, not his religious affiliation. Foster, 
136 S.Ct. at 1753. The Supreme Court noted the pros-
ecution’s multiple mischaracterizations of the record 
that other prospective jurors, who were members of the 
Church of Christ, had been struck. Id. at 1753. The Su-
preme Court also said that “[t]he prosecution’s file for-
tifies our conclusion that any reliance on Hood’s 
religion was pretextual.” Id. The Supreme Court also 
determined that “[m]any of the State’s secondary jus-
tifications similarly come undone when subjected to 
scrutiny.” Id. 

 ¶ 96. The Supreme Court proceeded with its Bat-
son analysis: “[i]f a prosecutor’s proffered reason for 
striking a black panelist applies just as well to an oth-
erwise-similar nonblack [panelist] who is permitted to 
serve, that is evidence tending to prove purposeful dis-
crimination.” Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1754 (quoting Miller-
El v. Dretke, 545 U.S. 231, 241, 125 S.Ct. 2317, 162 
L.Ed.2d 196 (2005)). “With respect to both Garrett and 
Hood, such evidence is compelling.” Id. at 1754. Not 
only was the evidence “compelling,” there were “also 
the shifting explanations, the misrepresentations of 
the record, and the persistent focus on race in the pros-
ecution’s file.” Id. “Considering all of the circumstantial 
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evidence that ‘bear[s] upon the issue of racial animos-
ity,’ [the Supreme Court [was] left with the firm con-
viction that the strikes of Garrett and Hood were 
‘motivated in substantial part by discriminatory in-
tent.’ ” Id. (quoting Snyder, 552 U.S. at 478, 485, 128 
S.Ct. 1203). 

 ¶ 97. The Supreme Court insisted that the con-
tents of the prosecution’s file plainly belied the State’s 
claim that it had exercised its strikes in a “color-blind” 
manner. Id. In fact, the Supreme Court described the 
number of references to race in the prosecution’s file as 
“arresting.” Id. The Supreme Court held that “the focus 
on race in the prosecution’s file plainly demonstrat[ed] 
a concerted effort to keep black prospective jurors off 
the jury.” Id. The Supreme Court concluded that the 
“prosecutors were motivated in substantial part by 
race when they struck Garrett and Hood from the 
jury[.]” Id. The Supreme Court reversed the judgment 
and remanded the case for further proceedings be-
cause “[t]wo peremptory strikes on the basis of race are 
two more than the Constitution allows.” Id. 

 ¶ 98. After reviewing Flowers’s supplemental 
briefs, the only aspect of Flowers VI that Flowers takes 
issue with as it relates to Foster is that the Court did 
not expressly refer to the prosecutor’s past Batson vio-
lations in our analysis of Flowers’s Batson claim. Flow-
ers claims that the Court did not follow the “totality-
of-the-circumstances approach” used in Foster; rather 
the Court confined itself to evaluating each piece of 
evidence of pretext in isolation, affording the prosecu-
tor the benefit of the doubt where the evidence was 
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ambiguous. Flowers argues “although [Doug] Evans 
had distinguished himself as an especially willful and 
recalcitrant Batson violater [sic],” the Court “omitted 
that well-documented history from its assessment of 
the credibility of his facially neutral reasons.” 

 ¶ 99. “[T]he State’s privilege to strike individual 
jurors through peremptory challenges is subject to the 
commands of the Equal Protection Clause.” Batson, 
476 U.S. at 89, 106 S.Ct. 1712. The Supreme Court in 
Foster reaffirmed the well established, three step pro-
cess for determining when a strike is discriminatory as 
set out in Batson. Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1747. When a de-
fendant challenges a peremptory strike under Batson, 
the defendant must first “establish a prima facie case 
of discrimination in the selection of jury members.” 
Thorson v. State, 721 So.2d 590, 593 (¶ 2) (Miss. 1998) 
(citing Berry v. State, 703 So.2d 269, 294 (¶¶ 94–96) 
(Miss. 1997) (citing Batson, 476 U.S. at 96–98, 106 S.Ct. 
1712)). Then, the burden shifts to the State to demon-
strate that the juror was struck for a nondiscrimina-
tory, or race neutral, reason. Thorson, 721 So.2d at 593 
(¶ 2). The defendant then has the opportunity to rebut 
the State’s reason. Id. Finally, considering all of the ev-
idence, the trial court must determine if the State “en-
gaged in purposeful discrimination” or if the strike was 
made for a race neutral reason. Id. In other words, the 
trial court must determine whether the race neutral 
reasons given by the State were credible or merely a 
pretext for discrimination. 
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 ¶ 100. The Court has identified five indicia of 
pretext that should be considered when analyzing the 
race neutral reasons for a peremptory strike: 

(1) disparate treatment, that is, the presence 
of unchallenged jurors of the opposite race 
who share the characteristic given as the ba-
sis for the challenge; (2) the failure to voir dire 
as to the challenged characteristic cited; (3) 
the characteristic cited is unrelated to the 
facts of the case; (4) lack of record support for 
the stated reason; and (5) group-based traits. 

Manning v. State, 765 So.2d 516, 519 (¶ 9) (Miss. 2000) 
(quoting Mack v. State, 650 So.2d 1289, 1298 (Miss. 
1994)). 

 ¶ 101. Foster did not alter the great deference 
given to trial judges. The third step of Batson “turns on 
factual determinations, and, ‘in the absence of excep-
tional circumstances,’ we defer to state court factual 
findings unless we conclude that they are clearly erro-
neous.” Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1747 (quoting Snyder, 552 
U.S. at 477, 128 S.Ct. 1203). We give great deference to 
the trial court’s determinations under Batson and will 
reverse only if the trial court’s decision is clearly erro-
neous or against the overwhelming weight of the evi-
dence. Berry v. State, 802 So.2d 1033, 1037 (¶ 9) (Miss. 
2001); Thorson, 721 So.2d at 593 (¶ 4). “The trial court 
has a pivotal role in evaluating Batson claims.” Snyder 
v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 477, 128 S.Ct. 1203, 170 
L.Ed.2d 175 (2008). We have expounded on the stand-
ard of review afforded to trial judges regarding Batson 
findings as follows: 
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When a Batson issue arises, the trial judge 
acts as the finder of fact. Berry v. State, 703 
So.2d 269, 295 (Miss. 1997). . . . The race neu-
tral explanations must be viewed in the light 
most favorable to the trial court’s findings. Id. 
Trust is placed in a trial judge to determine 
whether a discriminatory motive drives the 
reasons given for striking a potential juror. 
See Webster v. State, 754 So.2d 1232, 1236 
(Miss. 2000). The determination of discrimi-
natory intent will likely turn on a trial judge’s 
evaluation of a presenter’s credibility and 
whether an explanation should be believed. 
Batson, 476 U.S. at 98, 106 S.Ct. 1712[.] Thus, 
trial courts are given great deference in their 
findings of fact surrounding a Batson chal-
lenge. Lockett v. State, 517 So.2d 1346, 1350 
(Miss. 1987). . . .  

Walker v. State, 815 So.2d 1209, 1215 (¶ 12) (Miss. 
2002). 

 ¶ 102. “Step three of the Batson inquiry involves 
an evaluation of the prosecutor’s credibility.” Snyder v. 
Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472, 477, 128 S.Ct. 1203, 170 
L.Ed.2d 175 (2008). “[T]he best evidence of discrimina-
tory intent often will be the demeanor of the attorney 
who exercises the challenge[.]” Id. Moreover, race neu-
tral reasons for peremptory challenges often invoke a 
juror’s demeanor, making the trial court’s firsthand ob-
servations of even greater importance. Id. The trial 
court must evaluate not only whether the prosecutor’s 
demeanor belies a discriminatory intent, but also 
whether the juror’s demeanor credibly can be said to 
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have exhibited the basis for the strike attributed to the 
juror. Id. The trial court’s “determinations of credibil-
ity and demeanor lie peculiarly within a trial judge’s 
province[.]” Id. (citations and quotations omitted). 

 ¶ 103. “[I]n considering a Batson objection, or in 
reviewing a ruling claimed to be Batson error, all of the 
circumstances that bear upon the issue of racial ani-
mosity must be consulted.” Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1748 
(citing Snyder, 552 U.S. at 478, 128 S.Ct. 1203). On the 
same note, “determining whether invidious discrimi-
natory purpose was a motivating factor demands a 
sensitive inquiry into such circumstantial evidence of 
intent as may be available.” Foster, 136 S.Ct. 1737, 
1748 (citing Arlington Heights, 429 U.S. at 266, 97 S.Ct. 
555). 

 ¶ 104. The Montgomery County clerk summoned 
a special venire of 600 potential jurors for Flowers’s 
sixth trial. The initial venire consisted of forty-two per-
cent African Americans and fifty-five percent whites.6 
After for-cause challenges, the venire consisted of 
twenty-eight percent African Americans and seventy-
two percent whites. During jury selection, the State ac-
cepted the first African-American juror, then exercised 
six peremptory strikes, five of which were against Af-
rican-American venire members. At the point when 
five African Americans were struck by the State, the 
trial court found that a prima facie case of discrimina-
tion existed. The State then provided race neutral 

 
 6 The remaining venire members did not identify their race 
on the juror questionnaire. 
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reasons for the five strikes, and Flowers’s counsel of-
fered rebuttals for the State’s reasons. Ultimately, the 
trial court found that the State’s reasons were credible. 

 ¶ 105. Essentially, Flowers is asking the Court to 
reevaluate the credibility of Evans’s race neutral ex-
planations for striking African Americans in the sixth 
trial. However, as we explained in Flowers VI, “the de-
termination of discriminatory intent will likely turn on 
a trial judge’s evaluation of a presenter’s credibility 
and whether an explanation should be believed.” Flow-
ers VI, 158 So.3d at 1047 (citing Batson, 476 U.S. at 98, 
106 S.Ct. 1712). 

 ¶ 106. Here, the trial court was asked on several 
occasions to consider historical evidence of Batson vio-
lations committed by Evans in previous trials of the 
case. Flowers’s counsel even asked the trial court to 
preclude Evans from making peremptory strikes en-
tirely based on his history of Batson violations in the 
case. Specifically, Flowers’s counsel urged: 

And I would renew the motion with respect 
to—and I, I would now re-urge this, when I’ve 
not previously urged. We had in the last trial 
urged that should this jury—that the prosecu-
tor be, be precluded from making peremptory 
strikes because so much of this—because 
there is the history that has been found by the 
Mississippi Supreme Court of racial discrimi-
nation in jury selection with respect to this 
case by this prosecution. It’s happened actu-
ally—the predecessor in Flowers II, in Harri-
son County, found a Batson violation and 
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ruled a strike by the State. So that in two pro-
ceedings and on the basis of what has been a 
persistent pattern of simply, you know, asking 
things that are clearly, if not flatly race or at 
least race-based[.] 

 The trial court responded to Flowers’s counsel’s re-
quest: 

And as far as the motion to prohibit the State 
from using peremptory challenges, there is no 
basis for that. Absolutely none. If the State 
looks at potential jurors and feels that they 
have right reasons for using peremptory chal-
lenges, that is their right. That is each sides 
[sic] gets to make peremptory challenges. But 
because Flowers III was reversed on Batson is 
certainly no grounds for saying that they 
should now be denied the right to use peremp-
tory. The Supreme Court of this State has cer-
tainly never said that on a retrial you could 
not use peremptory challenges, nor has the 
United States Supreme Court ever said that. 
And so you’re pulling that motion totally out 
of thin air and without any basis in law or in 
fact for making it. So it’s denied. 

 ¶ 107. Flowers’s counsel continued to argue the 
history of Batson violations in support of the Batson 
claim at trial: 

And we think it is, therefore, pretextual spe-
cific and particularly in light under—of the 
history of race discrimination in jury selection 
in this district and in this particular case 
found by the Mississippi Supreme Court in 
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State v. Flowers after the third trial, the first 
one in this district. 

 Indeed, the trial court was presented with and re-
jected Flowers’s present argument that he had ad-
vanced at trial. Flowers argued to the trial court: 

And I think that that is in Flowers III, what 
the Supreme Court of Mississippi said was 
that when you are looking at Batson, you look 
at the totality of the circumstances and you go 
beyond little excuses. And that the danger, 
certainly, in Flowers III is to devolve—for the 
Batson challenging process, to devolve into an 
effort of uncovering and coming up with fa-
cially neutral reasons that are merely a mask 
for actually racially discriminatory reasons, 
the desire to bleach or—I suppose, if it were 
the other way around darken or make male or 
make female, the jury and that the Court, con-
sidering the totality of the circumstances, can-
not simply express this distinction. This is 
based on the 14th Amendment Equal Protec-
tion Clause. And there is a huge body of equal 
protection civil litigation. It is referred to by 
the United States Supreme Court in Snyder, 
the most recent case in which a verdict was 
reversed on Batson in the United States Su-
preme Court. And basically, the situation is 
that you may go behind the facial neutrality if 
anything in the record suggests that one or 
more of the reasons may be either uncon-
nected and related to what is really a material 
issue in this case and/or appears to have been 
pursued with more vigor in an attempt to 
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uncover some excuse that is of less than uni-
versal relevance. 

 Again, Flowers’s counsel ensured that the trial 
court consider the totality of the circumstances, includ-
ing historical evidence of racial discrimination by the 
district attorney. 

Again, we would cite the totality of the cir-
cumstances and the apparent cherry picking 
of the African-American jurors for scrutiny 
and attention. And in light of the history of ra-
cial discrimination by this district attorney’s 
office in this district, we would say the totality 
of the circumstances makes this a pretext for 
discrimination and attempt to look for race-
neutral reasons for racially motivated per-
emptory striking. 

 ¶ 108. The trial court not only considered Flow-
ers’s counsel’s argument in its consideration of the to-
tality of the circumstances; the Flowers Court also 
considered other circumstances showing that Evans 
did not have discriminatory intent. The trial court cer-
tainly considered circumstances surrounding the pre-
vious trials as evidenced by its response to Flowers’s 
Batson claim: 

But you know full well from past experiences 
in this county because of the number of people 
that know Mr. Flowers, they know his parents, 
they know his brother, they know his sisters, 
and he I mean he has got a large number of 
siblings. And all of those people you know, I 
mean he is so well-known here that, you know, 
you’ve got a number of African-Americans 
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that say I know him. I can’t be fair. I know 
these people. I can’t sit in judgment of their 
son. And there is there is no way to avoid that 
if this case is tried in this county. Because this 
is the same type things that, that occurred in 
the previous trials where he had so many peo-
ple that knew him. You know, I don’t—I hadn’t 
kept a running count of anything in here but, 
you know, there is nothing that has—that 
has—no discrimination that’s occurred that 
has caused this, what you call, statistical ab-
normality now. It is strictly because of the 
prominence of his family. 

 ¶ 109. The prior adjudications of the violation of 
Batson do not undermine Evans’s race neutral reasons 
as the despicable jury selection file in Foster had un-
dermined the prosecution’s race neutral explanations. 
We cannot say that the exceptional circumstances dis-
cussed in Foster are present in today’s case so as to pre-
vent the Court from deferring to the trial court’s 
factual determinations. Moreover, we cannot conclude 
that the trial court’s factual findings were clearly erro-
neous. 

 ¶ 110. Flowers’s post-remand briefs spend far 
more time re-urging the arguments from his original 
appellate brief than addressing Foster itself. Accord-
ingly, Flowers appears to rely on Miller-El v. Dretke, 
545 U.S. 231, 125 S.Ct. 2317, 162 L.Ed.2d 196 (2005) 
(Miller-El II) instead. In Miller-El II, the Supreme 
Court held “the appearance of discrimination [was] 
confirmed by widely known evidence of the general pol-
icy of the Dallas County District Attorney’s Office to 
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exclude black venire members from juries at the time 
Miller-El’s jury was selected.” Id. at 253, 125 S.Ct. 
2317. The Supreme Court said, “[w]e kn[e]w that for 
decades leading up to the time this case was tried pros-
ecutors in the Dallas County office had followed a spe-
cific policy of systematically excluding blacks from 
juries[.]” Id. at 263, 125 S.Ct. 2317. The evidence of a 
specific policy of past discrimination in Miller-El II sig-
nificantly differs from the evidence before the Court. 
The Court does not find Evans’s past two adjudicated 
Batson violations overcome the deference owed to the 
trial judge’s factual findings on which the Court’s af-
firmance relies. The Court does not have evidence be-
fore it of a similar policy of the district attorney’s office 
or of a specific prosecutor that was so evident in Miller-
El II. Miller-El II, 545 U.S. at 266, 125 S.Ct. 2317 (“If 
anything more is needed for an undeniable explana-
tion of what was going on, history supplies it. The pros-
ecutors took their cues from a 20-year-old manual of 
tips on jury selection, as shown by their notes of the 
race of each potential juror.”). 

 ¶ 111. We turn to address Flowers’s arguments 
raised on appeal. Flowers claims that the State  
exercised its peremptory strikes in a racially discrimi-
natory way by: (1) disparately questioning African-
American jurors as compared to white jurors; (2)  
responding differently to African-American jurors’ voir 
dire answers as compared to answers of white venire 
members; and (3) mischaracterizing the voir dire re-
sponses of African-American jurors. We do not ignore 
the historical evidence of racial discrimination in the 
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previous trials in our consideration of Flowers’s argu-
ments. However, the historical evidence of past dis-
crimination presented to the trial court does not alter 
our analysis, as set out in Flowers VI. 

 
A. Disparate Questioning 

 ¶ 112. Flowers claims that the questioning of 
African-American and white jurors was so “starkly dif-
ferent” that the questioning led to purposeful discrim-
ination. First, Flowers asserts that the State asked 
potential African-American jurors more questions dur-
ing individual voir dire than potential white jurors. 
Flowers claims that all African Americans who were 
struck by the State were asked more than ten ques-
tions. That statement is not supported by the record. 
For example, the State asked Carolyn Wright, an Afri-
can American against whom the State exercised a per-
emptory strike, only three questions. However, overall, 
the State did ask more questions of African-American 
jurors than of potential white jurors. The State re-
sponds that more questions were asked only when a 
potential juror’s answers to voir dire questions were 
unclear or needed further elaboration. Disparate ques-
tioning is evidence of purposeful discrimination.  
Miller-el [sic] v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 344, 123 S.Ct. 
1029, 154 L.Ed.2d 931 (2003); Manning, 765 So.2d at 
520 (¶ 15). However, evidence of disparate questioning 
alone is not dispositive of racial discrimination. 
Hughes v. State, 90 So.3d 613, 626 (¶ 37) (Miss. 2012); 
Manning, 765 So.2d at 520 (¶ 15); Berry, 802 So.2d at 
1039 (¶ 20). 
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 ¶ 113. Second, Flowers claims that the State did 
not question white venire members about their rela-
tionships with defense witnesses even though African-
American jurors were extensively questioned about 
similar relationships. To support his argument, Flow-
ers claims that, during voir dire examination by the 
trial court, four white venire members—Larry Blay-
lock, Harold Waller, Marcus Fielder, and Bobby 
Lester—stated that they knew defense witnesses. The 
record reveals that the potential jurors knew members 
of law enforcement, the Tardy family, and the victims; 
but they did not know members of the Flowers family. 
Of the white jurors who survived for-cause challenges, 
five knew members of Flowers’s family. Four of them 
knew only one member of Flowers’s family; the State 
did not follow up with them. Pamela Chesteen knew 
Flowers’s father, mother, sisters, and a cousin. The 
State did not question Chesteen about the relation-
ships during voir dire; however, the trial court asked 
Chesteen whether the relationships would affect her 
ability to serve as a juror, and she said they would not. 
Several African-American venire members were ques-
tioned about their relationships with Flowers’s family, 
as will be discussed in detail in the following section. 
However, the State did not question all potential Afri-
can-American jurors about their relationships with 
persons involved in the case. For example, Alexander 
Robinson, an African American who was selected to be 
a juror, stated that he knew Flowers’s brother, but the 
State did not question Robinson about that relation-
ship. 
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 ¶ 114. The State’s assertion that elaboration and 
followup questions were needed with more of the Afri-
can-American jurors is supported by the record. Most 
of the followup questions pertained to the potential ju-
ror’s knowledge of the case, whether they could impose 
the death penalty, and whether certain relationships 
would influence their decision or prevent them from 
being fair and impartial. The jurors who had heard lit-
tle about the case, who said they would not be influ-
enced by what they had heard, and who said they 
would not be influenced by relationships were asked 
the fewest questions. The jurors who knew more about 
the case, who had personal relationships with Flow-
ers’s family members, who said they could not be im-
partial, or who said they could not impose the death 
penalty were asked more questions. Those issues are 
appropriate for followup questions. 

 ¶ 115. We have held that voir dire “is conducted 
under the supervision of the court, and a great deal 
must, of necessity, be left to its sound discretion.” How-
ell v. State, 860 So.2d at 726 (¶ 67) (quoting Ballenger 
v. State, 667 So.2d 1242, 1250 (Miss. 1995)). “The trial 
court has broad discretion in passing upon the extent 
and propriety of questions addressed to prospective ju-
rors.” Howell, 860 So.2d at 727 (¶ 70) (quoting Stevens 
v. State, 806 So.2d 1031, 1062 (¶ 140) (Miss. 2001)). The 
trial judge participated in voir dire, asking his own 
questions when necessary. Flowers was given ample 
opportunity to question jurors, rehabilitate jurors, and 
make challenges. That he had these opportunities is 
evidence of a fair and proper jury selection process. See 
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Howell, 860 So.2d at 726 (¶ 69); Stevens, 806 So.2d at 
1062 (¶ 139). There is no evidence of discrimination 
based on the number of questions asked alone. 

 
B. Disparate Treatment of Individual Ve-

nire Members 

 ¶ 116. Flowers also contends that the State: (1) 
responded differently to African-American jurors’ voir 
dire answers compared to the answers of white venire 
members, and (2) mischaracterized the voir dire re-
sponses of African-American jurors. For the purpose of 
our analysis, the two issues are addressed together by 
discussing the African-American venire members who 
were struck from the venire by the State’s use of per-
emptory strikes. We address the State’s race neutral 
reasons for striking the jurors, as well as Flowers’s ar-
guments regarding each, which includes his conten-
tions that the State mischaracterized the voir dire 
responses of the jurors and responded differently to 
them. 

 
1. Carolyn Wright 

 ¶ 117. The State gave the following reasons for 
its peremptory strike of Carolyn Wright: (1) she knew 
several defense witnesses; (2) she was sued by Tardy 
Furniture for an overdue account; and (3) she had 
worked with Archie Flowers Sr. at Walmart. At the 
Batson hearing, Flowers offered rebuttals for the 
State’s reasons, but the trial court held that the State’s 
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reasons for striking Wright were race neutral. The 
trial court summed up its finding by stating: 

If the only reason the State offered was that 
she knows some of these defense witnesses, 
then there might be something there. But the 
fact is knowing these defense witnesses that 
you’re intending to call, plus the fact that 
Tardy Furniture had to sue her, plus the fact 
that she worked with Archie, in my mind, cre-
ates race-neutral reasons for striking her. 

 ¶ 118. One reason the State gave for striking 
Wright was that she knew multiple defense witnesses. 
In fact, Wright knew a total of thirty-four people who 
were involved with Flowers’s case. Flowers argues that 
striking Wright because she knew several potential 
witnesses was pretextual because the State did not 
strike white jurors who were acquainted with multiple 
people involved in the case. Specifically, Flowers points 
to Pamela Chesteen, who knew thirty-one people in-
volved in the case; Harold Waller, who knew eighteen 
people involved in the case; and Bobby Lester, who 
knew twenty-seven people involved in the case. We rec-
ognize that one of the indicia of pretext is “the presence 
of unchallenged jurors of the opposite race who share 
the characteristic given as the basis for the challenge.” 
Manning, 765 So.2d at 519 (¶ 9). However, the number 
of acquaintances was not the sole reason given by the 
State, so the basis is not an automatic showing of pre-
text. Hughes, 90 So.3d at 626 (¶ 37) (“Where multiple 
reasons lead to a peremptory strike, the fact that other 
jurors may have some of the individual characteristics 
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of the challenged juror does not demonstrate that the 
reasons assigned are pretextual.”). 

 ¶ 119. The second reason the State gave for 
striking Wright was that she had been sued by Tardy 
Furniture. As a rebuttal to that reason, Flowers al-
leged at the Batson hearing that the State did not 
question white jurors about their accounts at Tardy 
Furniture. However, the court had asked all jurors dur-
ing group voir dire if they had accounts at Tardy Fur-
niture and if they had been sued by the store. The court 
found that the basis was race neutral because none of 
the white jurors had been sued by Tardy Furniture. On 
appeal, Flowers claims that the State mischaracter-
ized Wright’s litigation with Tardy Furniture by claim-
ing that her wages had been garnished as a result of 
the litigation. Nothing in the record supports the con-
tention that Wright’s wages were garnished. However, 
that does not change the fact that being sued by Tardy 
Furniture was a race neutral reason for striking 
Wright. Prior litigation is a race neutral reason for a 
preemptive strike. See Webster v. State, 754 So.2d 1232, 
1236 (¶¶ 9–11) (Miss. 2000) (finding that potential ju-
ror’s company being sued by defense attorney in previ-
ous and unrelated litigation was sufficient race neutral 
reason for peremptory strike). 

 ¶ 120. The State’s third reason for striking 
Wright was that she worked with Archie Flowers Sr. at 
Walmart. At the Batson hearing, Flowers rebutted that 
reason by comparing Wright’s working relationship 
with Archie to Chesteen, a teller at a local bank where 
members of the Flowers family were customers. The 
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trial court found this to be a race neutral reason and 
found that Wright’s working relationship with Archie 
was distinguishable from the professional relationship 
Chesteen had with the Flowers family. Chesteen 
worked at a local bank in Winona and stated that she 
knew Archie Flowers Sr., Lola Flowers, and Flowers’s 
sisters from her work at the bank. We agree with the 
trial judge that a coworker relationship and bank  
employee/customer relationship are distinguishable. 
Further, the trial court stated that the Winona 
Walmart was the “smallest Wal-Mart . . . in existence” 
that he knew of, implying that Wright and Archie cer-
tainly had known each other. The trial court also stated 
that no white jurors had reported working at Walmart 
with Archie. Being acquainted with the defendant’s 
family is a race neutral reason for striking a juror. 
Manning v. State, 735 So.2d 323, 340 (¶ 32) (Miss. 
1999) (“We have condoned a peremptory challenge 
against a juror who was acquainted with the defend-
ant’s family.”) (citing Porter v. State, 616 So.2d 899, 907 
(Miss. 1993)). 

 ¶ 121. Flowers’s claim that the State provided 
“no convincing reasons” for striking Wright is simply 
unfounded. Wright had worked with Flowers’s father, 
she knew thirty-two of the potential witnesses, and she 
had been sued by Tardy Furniture. We also note that, 
on her juror questionnaire, Wright wrote that she pre-
viously had served as a juror in a criminal case in- 
volving the “Tardy Furniture trial.” The State had 
multiple, credible, race neutral reasons for striking 
Wright, and the trial judge did not err in denying Flow-
ers’s Batson challenge as to the juror. 
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2. Dianne Copper 

 ¶ 122. The State cited the following reasons for 
its exercise of a peremptory strike of Dianne Copper: 
(1) she had worked with Flowers’s father and sister; 
(2) she knew several members of the Flowers family; 
(3) she said she “leaned toward” Flowers’s side of the 
case due to her relationships with the Flowers family; 
and (4) she knew several defense witnesses. Flowers 
offered rebuttal to the State’s reasons by again assert-
ing that the State had not challenged white jurors con-
nected to people involved in the case. He also claimed 
that the State did not attempt to rehabilitate Copper 
after she said leaned toward Flowers. The trial court 
found the State’s reasons to be race neutral, concluding 
that Copper’s relationships were distinguishable from 
those of the white jurors who were not challenged and 
recognizing that other jurors had not said they favored 
Flowers as Copper did. 

 ¶ 123. During voir dire, Copper was questioned 
about her relationships with members of the Flowers 
family, and she revealed the following: Copper once 
lived in the same neighborhood as the Flowers family. 
She had worked with Flowers’s sister, Cora, at Shoe 
World for “a year or two.” She also had worked with 
Flowers’s father for “one or two years.” Copper testified 
that she knew Flowers’s mother, Lola, and his brother, 
Archie Jr. She also knew more than twenty other po-
tential witnesses. Altogether, Copper knew at least 
thirty people involved in the case. The State asked 
Copper about her comment that knowing so many 
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people connected to the case would make her lean to-
ward Flowers: 

Q. And I think it was yesterday and my 
notes show that you said that the fact 
that you know all of these people could af-
fect you and you think it could make you 
lean toward him because of your connec-
tion to all of these people. Is that correct? 

A. It—it’s possible. 

Q. Okay. That would be something that 
would be entering into your mind if you 
were on the jury, wouldn’t it? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And it would make it to where you 
couldn’t come in here and, just with an 
open mind, decide the case, would it? 

A. Correct. 

 At that point, Flowers’s counsel attempted to re-
habilitate Copper: 

Q. . . . What I’m trying to find out is just as 
you could put aside all the information 
you heard before about this case, could 
you not also put aside the fact—if you got 
picked as a juror, put aside the fact that 
you have met Mr. Flowers, that you know 
some other people in these cases and be 
fair to the Tardys, the Stewarts, the Gold-
ens, and Rigbys, and make whatever de-
cision or vote that you’re going to make 
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based on the evidence and the evidence 
only. Could you do that? 

A. I feel like I could. But, you know, it— 

Q. Is what you’re saying— 

A. Of course, it would make me, you know, 
feel uncomfortable. But if I had to do it, 
you know, I got to do what I got to do. 

Q. Okay. So you’re saying that—thank you. 
You’re saying that you’ll be uncomforta-
ble. You’d prefer not to—I get the impres-
sion you’re saying that you’d rather not 
be a juror. But if you got picked to be one, 
you would take the responsibility seri-
ously, and you would follow the law and 
the rules that the Court give[s] you, and 
you would put aside anything that you 
are required to put aside and make your 
evidence and make your vote based on 
just the evidence you hear in the court-
room. Is that fair to say? 

A. Yes, sir. That’s correct. 

 Clearly, Copper knew several members of the 
Flowers family and she was uncomfortable serving on 
the jury. That reason alone is a sufficient race neutral 
reason to strike her. Manning, 735 So.2d at 340 (¶ 32). 
Further, we have recognized “living near the defend-
ant” as a race neutral reason for a peremptory strike. 
Lockett v. State, 517 So.2d 1346, 1356 (Miss. 1987) (cit-
ing Taitano v. State, 4 Va.App. 342, 358 S.E.2d 590 
(1987)). 
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 ¶ 124. On appeal, Flowers claims that the State 
mischaracterized Copper’s statement that she “leaned 
toward” Flowers due to her relationship with the Flow-
ers family, but a reading of the record shows that the 
State correctly described her voir dire testimony. The 
State made the following argument during the Batson 
hearing: 

And the reason I point that out, it’s not just 
that she knows those witnesses, but that be-
cause of knowing the family and working with 
those two family members, she stated that 
that relationship would influence her. She 
later said that—well, she could have an open 
mind. And then she was equivocal back and 
forth. But because of all those relationships, 
she clearly stated, when I asked her, that they 
would influence her. She could not have an 
open mind, and she was leaning toward the 
Defendant’s family. 

 The State’s argument accurately reflected Cop-
per’s testimony, including the defense’s attempt to re-
habilitate her. Even more, defense counsel asked 
Copper if she would “rather not be a juror,” and she 
agreed. The Court has recognized that reluctance to 
serve as a juror is a race neutral basis for a peremptory 
strike. Hughes, 90 So.3d at 626 (¶ 36) (citing Lynch v. 
State, 877 So.2d 1254, 1274 (¶ 59) (Miss. 2004)). 

 ¶ 125. Flowers claims that the State’s strike of 
Copper was pretextual because white jurors who knew 
several defense witnesses were not struck. As men-
tioned above, one indicium of pretext is “the presence 
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of unchallenged jurors of the opposite race who share 
the characteristic given as the basis for the challenge.” 
Manning, 765 So.2d at 519 (¶ 9). However, like Wright, 
the number of acquaintances was not the sole reason 
given by the State for striking Copper, so the instant 
basis is not an automatic showing of pretext. See 
Hughes, 90 So.3d at 626 (¶ 37). Again, Flowers claims 
that the State did not provide any convincing reasons 
for striking Copper and, again, Flowers’s claim is un-
founded. Copper lived in the same neighborhood as the 
Flowers family, knew multiple members of the family, 
and had worked with Flowers’s father and sister. She 
admitted that, in light of the relationships, she leaned 
toward Flowers in the case. Copper also said that she 
would rather not serve as a juror. All of the given rea-
sons are race neutral reasons for a peremptory strike. 
The trial court did not err in denying Flowers’s Batson 
challenge as to Copper. 

 
3. Flancie Jones 

 ¶ 126. The State gave several reasons for the 
peremptory strike of Flancie Jones: (1) she was related 
to Flowers; (2) she was late for jury selection twice; 
(3) she provided inconsistent statements on her view 
of the death penalty; and (4) she lied on her juror ques-
tionnaire in an attempt to get out of jury service. The 
trial court found that the State had provided sufficient 
race neutral reasons for the strike. 

 ¶ 127. In response to the State’s first basis—that 
Jones is related to Flowers—Flowers claims that the 
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State mischaracterized and exaggerated Jones’s rela-
tionship with Flowers. The State described the rela-
tionship between the two as follows: “She is related to 
the defendant. She admitted that she was related—she 
was a cousin—or the defendant’s sister, Angela Jones, 
is her niece. So she said she guessed she must be re-
lated to him. Well, I guess so. He would be her nephew.” 
During voir dire, Jones said that Flowers was her “sis-
ter-in-law’s sister’s son.” She also said that Flowers’s 
sister was her niece. Jones’s statements regarding her 
relationship to Flowers were confusing, but the trial 
court seemed to understand and concluded that Jones 
had more than one familial connection to Flowers. The 
trial court stated: 

She said that Angela Ward Jones was married 
to Mark Jones, and she said that was her 
nephew. She’s not directly related to Mr. Flow-
ers. She’s related by marriage to Mr. Flowers’s 
sister. And then Hazel Jones is her husband’s 
brother’s wife and, you know, that’s another 
family connection there. 

 Although one may not typically describe the child 
of an in-law’s sibling as a niece or nephew, Jones’s own 
statement that Flowers’s sister was her niece sup-
ported the State’s position that Flowers was Jones’s 
nephew. Flowers’s contention that the State mischar-
acterized and exaggerated the relationship is without 
merit. And, again, being acquainted with the defend-
ant’s family is a race neutral reason for striking a juror. 
Manning, 735 So.2d at 340 (¶ 32). 
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 ¶ 128. The other reasons the State provided for 
its strike also are race neutral. Jones was late for jury 
selection on two days. For one of the days, Jones’s ex-
cuse was that she had difficulty waking up early in the 
morning because she used to work nights. On the other 
day, Jones said she was late because she was looking 
for her jury questionnaire. Jones also provided incon-
sistent statements on her view of the death penalty, 
and she admitted that she wrote on her questionnaire 
that she was against the death penalty in an effort to 
get out of jury service: 

Q: . . . And I think on your questionnaire, 
you said you were strongly against the 
death penalty. 

A: I guess I’d say anything to get off. 

Q: Okay. Well, are you saying that you didn’t 
tell the truth? 

A: No, that’s not that. It’s just that if I didn’t 
have to be here, I wouldn’t want to be 
here. 

Q: Well, I want to know when you put down 
you were strongly against the death pen-
alty— 

A: I was trying to not be—I—really and 
truly, I don’t want to be here. I’ll say it like 
that. 

. . .  
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Q: When you put down that you strongly 
didn’t believe in the death penalty, were 
you being truthful? 

A: No. . . .  

Being late on two days, lying on her questionnaire, and 
blatantly saying that she did not want to be there and 
that she would “say anything to get off ” reflect an over-
all attitude of contempt toward jury service. 

 ¶ 129. Jones’s late arrival and her attitude to-
ward jury service, evidencing a lack of concern about 
or commitment to the proceedings, are two race neu-
tral reasons for a peremptory strike. See Lynch, 877 
So.2d at 1274 (¶ 59) (reluctance to serve was a race 
neutral basis for a peremptory strike); Brewer v. State, 
725 So.2d 106, 122 (Miss. 1998) (fact that the juror 
“had attempted to get off jury duty from the start” was 
a race neutral reason); Lockett, 517 So.2d at 1351–52 
(striking of jurors based on attitude toward jury ser-
vice is race neutral). In Lockett v. State, the Court pro-
vided a nonexhaustive list of race neutral reasons that 
had been recognized by other courts. The Court cited a 
Seventh Circuit case in which the court upheld the per-
emptory strike of a juror who arrived late and was in-
attentive, which indicated “a lack of commitment to the 
importance of the proceedings.” Lockett, 517 So.2d at 
1356 (citing U.S. v. Mathews, 803 F.2d 325, 331 (7th Cir. 
1986)). See also Hicks v. State, 973 So.2d 211, 220 (¶ 28) 
(Miss. 2007) (inattentiveness is a race neutral reason). 
Unquestionably, Jones’s attitude toward jury service 
was a proper race neutral reason for striking her. 
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 ¶ 130. The State did not misrepresent Jones’s re-
lationship with Flowers, and the State provided sev-
eral race neutral reasons for striking her. Flowers’s 
claims regarding Jones are without merit. The trial 
court did not err in denying Flowers’s Batson challenge 
regarding the juror. 

 
4. Tashia Cunningham 

 ¶ 131. The State’s reasons for striking Tashia 
Cunningham included: (1) her working relationship 
with Flowers’s sister, and (2) her wavering statements 
about the death penalty. At the Batson hearing, Flow-
ers attempted to rebut by pointing to Cunningham’s 
testimony that she could be a neutral juror and could 
set aside her relationship with Flowers’s sister. Flow-
ers compared Cunningham to Chesteen, who knew 
Flowers’s family from the bank. Finally, Flowers 
claimed that Cunningham’s alleged wavering views on 
the death penalty were similar to the views of white 
jurors. The trial court held that the State’s reasons 
were race neutral, concluding: “Ms. Cunningham’s all-
over-the-map response to the death penalty, plus her 
situation about working so closely with Mr. Flowers’s 
sister, in my mind, the State has shown race-neutral 
reasons for that strike.” 

 ¶ 132. During voir dire, Cunningham said she 
did not have a close relationship with Flowers’s sister, 
Sherita Baskin. She said they had a “working relation-
ship.” Cunningham said she and Baskin had worked 
the same shift for two or three years, but they did not 
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see each other every day at work. Cunningham said 
she worked at the end of the assembly line, and Baskin 
worked at the front of the line. The State asked Cun-
ningham further questions about that relationship: 

Q: And you work with the Defendant’s sister, 
Sherita Baskin? 

A: Yes. 

Q: Now, the other day, I think you said that 
you do not work close to her? 

A: No, I do not. 

Q: Would you think about that for a minute? 

A: I do not. 

Q: Are you sure that you do not work side by 
side with her? 

A: No, I do not. 

Q: And you’re saying that under oath? 

A: Yes, sir. 

 The State then called Cunningham’s employer, 
ADP, to confirm her testimony relating to her working 
relationship with Baskin. An ADP quality control 
clerk, Crystal Carpenter, testified that Cunningham 
and Baskin worked on the same assembly line with 
twenty-five to thirty-five people. Carpenter testified 
that Cunningham and Baskin worked side-by-side, 
“nine or ten inches” apart from one another. Carpenter 
testified that she saw the women working every day 
and that her testimony was based on her personal 
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observations. Flowers’s counsel asked Carpenter if 
there was documentation supporting the location of 
Cunningham and Baskin on the assembly line, and 
Carpenter said she could provide documentation sup-
porting her testimony. Apparently, Carpenter did not 
provide the documentation. Thus, Flowers claims that 
the instant basis for the State’s peremptory strike is 
unfounded. Flowers’s claim is without merit. 

 ¶ 133. We hold that the blatantly conflicting tes-
timony of Cunningham and Carpenter was a race neu-
tral basis for the State’s challenge, as concern about a 
juror’s honesty constitutes a race neutral reason. See 
Collins v. State, 691 So.2d 918, 927 (Miss. 1997) (a juror 
will be disqualified for withholding substantial infor-
mation or misrepresenting material facts); Mack, 650 
So.2d at 1300 (State’s challenge upheld where the ju-
ror failed to reveal that her husband had pending 
charges against him); Foster, 639 So.2d at 1280 (as to 
one juror, the State said “his demeanor was such that 
I did not feel that he was being perfectly honest with 
us” and the Court held that the State had provided 
race neutral reasons). See also Aguilar v. State, 847 
So.2d 871, 877 (¶ 14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (concern 
that juror was being dishonest was a valid reason). 

 ¶ 134. The State cited Cunningham’s wavering 
views on the death penalty as a second basis for its 
peremptory strike. On her juror questionnaire, Cun-
ningham marked that she had “no opinion” on the 
death penalty but, on the very next question, she 
marked that she would not consider the death penalty 
under any circumstances. During voir dire by the trial 
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court, Cunningham first said she “would not” consider 
the death penalty and that she “did not believe in the 
death penalty.” She confirmed for the court three times 
that she would not consider the death penalty. How-
ever, as questioning continued, Cunningham wavered, 
saying she “might” be able to consider it. During voir 
dire by the State, Cunningham went back to her initial 
position that she did not think she could consider the 
death penalty. Then, when questioned by defense coun-
sel, Cunningham said that she could consider both life 
in prison and the death penalty. We have held that 
“having doubts as to one’s ability to follow the law and 
vote for the death penalty when appropriate is a suffi-
cient race-neutral reason.” Manning, 735 So.2d at 340 
(¶ 31) (citing Johnson v. State, 529 So.2d 577, 584–85 
(Miss. 1988)). Further, providing inconsistent state-
ments is a race neutral basis for striking a juror. Hicks, 
973 So.2d at 220 (¶ 27); Lynch, 877 So.2d at 1272 (¶ 51) 
(verbal responses and juror’s card were inconsistent). 

 ¶ 135. During the Batson hearing, Flowers’s 
counsel attempted to compare Cunningham to Jeffery 
Whitfield, a white juror who had “mixed feelings about 
the death penalty.” Unlike Cunningham, Whitfield 
never said that he would be unable to impose the death 
penalty. We have recognized that a juror’s views on the 
death penalty may provide a race neutral basis for a 
peremptory challenge. See Batiste, 121 So.3d at 848; 
Pitchford, 45 So.3d at 229 (¶ 40); Flowers III, 947 So.2d 
at 920–21. In Flowers III, the Court held that striking 
an African American who had “virtually indistinguish-
able” views on the death penalty as white jurors who 
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were not struck raised an inference of discrimination, 
although, standing alone, it did not warrant finding a 
Batson violation. Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 921. In the 
instant case, no white jurors survived for-cause chal-
lenges who had views on the death penalty comparable 
to Cunningham’s views. Thus, this basis was not pre-
textual. Cunningham’s seeming dishonesty about her 
relationship with Baskin, her doubt about whether she 
could impose the death penalty, and her inconsistent 
statements about the death penalty are all race neu-
tral reasons for a peremptory strike. The trial court did 
not err in denying the Batson challenge as to Cunning-
ham. 

 
5. Edith Burnside 

 ¶ 136. The State gave the following reasons for 
striking Edith Burnside: (1) she knew Flowers and 
members of his family; (2) she was sued by Tardy Fur-
niture; and (3) she had provided inconsistent state-
ments regarding her views on the death penalty. As 
discussed above, during group voir dire, the trial court 
asked the entire venire if anyone had been sued by 
Tardy Furniture. Thus, again, Flowers’s claim that 
only African-American venire members were asked 
about prior litigation is incorrect. Burnside responded 
in the affirmative, telling the court that she had been 
sued by Tardy Furniture. She later explained that she 
had paid the amount she owed and that the litigation 
had arisen from a misunderstanding about her account 
after the murders. 
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 ¶ 137. At the Batson hearing, the State incor-
rectly stated that a garnishment had been issued 
against Burnside. The prosecutor said: “She also was 
sued by Tardy Furniture, and a garnishment was is-
sued against her. She tried to deny that and said that 
she just settled with them when she came back but she 
was, in fact, sued by them.” In response to the trial 
court’s question about being sued by the store, Burn-
side had said: “I had an account there, but I was not 
sued by Ms. Bertha. It was later on when it was took 
over by Mr. Frank and Roxanne.” During individual 
voir dire, Burnside confirmed that she was sued by 
Bertha Tardy’s son-in-law, but that she had paid him 
and they “never had a falling out about it.” She said 
the lawsuit would not cause her any difficulty in Flow-
ers’s case. Like the State’s characterization of Wright’s 
litigation with Tardy Furniture, the statement that 
Burnside’s wages had been garnished and that Burn-
side had denied it was not supported by the record. 
However, prior litigation is a race neutral basis for a 
peremptory strike. Webster, 754 So.2d at 1236 (¶¶ 9–
11). 

 ¶ 138. Another reason the State gave for striking 
Burnside was her relationships with Flowers and his 
family. Burnside said that she had once lived near the 
Flowers family, and Flowers and his sister used to visit 
her home. Flowers was a friend of Burnside’s sons and 
played football with them. Burnside said that the rela-
tionships would not affect her ability to serve as a 
juror. No white venire members had relationships re-
motely comparable to the relationships Burnside had 
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with Flowers and his family. A juror’s relationships 
with the defendant’s family is a race neutral reason for 
a peremptory challenge. Manning, 735 So.2d at 340 
(¶ 32). And, again, “living near the defendant” is a race 
neutral reason for a peremptory strike. Lockett, 517 
So.2d at 1356. If simply living near the defendant is a 
valid reason, then certainly the defendant having vis-
ited the juror’s home and having been a friend to her 
children is a valid, race neutral reason. Although 
Burnside said her connections to the Flowers family 
would not affect her jury service, the basis is not pre-
textual. 

 ¶ 139. Finally, the State cited Burnside’s state-
ments regarding whether she could judge another per-
son and whether she could impose the death penalty 
as bases for its peremptory strike. During voir dire, 
Burnside testified as follows: 

Q: . . . And so I want to know if the facts jus-
tified it and the law allowed it, could you 
consider the death penalty as a sentenc-
ing possibility? 

A: That I don’t think I could do. I don’t know 
if I could do that. . . . I don’t—I don’t know 
if I could consider it, sending anybody to 
death. I don’t know if I could do that. 

Q: And can you explain further your views 
on that? 

A: I’ve just never been put in that predica-
ment. I’ve always just don’t know if I 
could do that. It’s just the best way I can 
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explain it. I just don’t think I could do 
that. 

Q: Again, let me explain. You’re not commit-
ting to do it or not to do it. You’re just—
we just need to know if that’s something 
that would be in your mind where you 
could think about it and you could con-
sider the possibility of it. 

A: I could think about it and consider it. 
That’s all I could say. 

Q: And would you consider the imposition of 
the death penalty, if you were on the jury 
and it got to the second phase? 

A: If I was on there, yeah, I guess I’d have to. 

Q: So if the facts justified it and the law al-
lowed it, you would consider it? 

A: Yes. 

Q: Also, if he did not receive that death sen-
tence—if he was convicted and the jury 
did not impose the death sentence, . . . 
[he] would receive the sentence of life 
without parole. So is that a sentencing op-
tion that you could consider, also? 

A: Yes, I could consider that. 

Q: And so you would consider and have an 
open mind as to both sentencing options 
then; is that correct? 

A: Yes, sir. 
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 Burnside eventually said she could consider both 
sentencing options, but later she said again that her 
reservations about judging another person would af-
fect her ability to serve as a juror: 

Q: When I was asking the questions the 
other day about jurors that could judge 
other people, you stated at that time that 
you could not judge anyone. Why did you 
state that? 

A: Well, because I—you know, I prefer not to 
judge anyone. But then when they come 
back and say could I be fair. My thing is I 
prefer not to judge anyone. But no, I will 
be fair. 

Q: All right. Who will you be fair to? 

A: I will be fair to whoever evidence is pre-
sented. I will be fair. Because I would 
want somebody to be fair to me or my chil-
dren or my family. That the only way I can 
explain it. 

. . .  

Q: So you have changed your mind, and you 
say now that you could judge someone; is 
that correct? 

A: Well, basically, I haven’t changed my 
mind. I just prefer not to be in a predica-
ment where I have to judge somebody. 

Q: So you still have a problem with judging 
someone? 

A: I still have a problem with that. 
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Q: Would that problem be such that you 
would think about it if you were picked on 
a jury? 

A: Well, I’d have to say yes. 

Q: It would? So that might affect your judg-
ment in the case; is that right? 

A: It could, possibly, yes, sir. 

 Flowers’s counsel attempted to rehabilitate Burn-
side: 

Q: Ms. Burnside, if you got picked on the 
jury, you would be fair to both sides, 
wouldn’t you? 

A: Yes, sir. 

Q: And despite the fact that you don’t like to 
judge, if you got picked you would, in fact, 
judge and be fair to both sides; is that cor-
rect? 

A: Yes, sir, that is correct. 

 ¶ 140. A juror’s views on the death penalty and 
hesitation about serving as a juror are race neutral 
reasons for peremptory challenges. See Batiste, 121 
So.3d at 848; Hughes, 90 So.3d at 626; Flowers III, 947 
So.2d at 920–21. Further, there were no white jurors in 
the venire whose views and hesitation regarding judg-
ment were comparable to Burnside’s views. Although 
Flowers’s counsel did rehabilitate Burnside, her re-
marks unquestionably were a race neutral basis for 
the challenge. The trial court did not err in denying the 



404 

 

Batson challenge as to Burnside, as the State provided 
multiple race neutral reasons for striking her. 

 
C. Batson Conclusion 

 ¶ 141. We hold Flowers’s claim that the trial 
court erred in denying his Batson challenges to be 
without merit. While the State did ask more questions 
of potential African-American jurors than white jurors, 
disparate questioning alone is not dispositive of pur-
poseful discrimination. Hughes, 90 So.3d at 626 (¶ 37); 
Manning, 765 So.2d at 520 (¶ 15); Berry, 802 So.2d at 
1039 (¶ 20). Further, the State’s contention that the 
additional questions were asked to clarify and follow 
up on certain issues is supported by the record. The 
State provided multiple race neutral reasons for the 
peremptory strikes against each of the five African 
Americans. The evidence indicates that the race neu-
tral reasons were valid and not merely pretextual. 

 ¶ 142. The “exceptional circumstances” present 
in Foster and Miller-El II, which prevented the appel-
late courts’ deference from being given to the trial 
court’s factual determinations, are not present in the 
case sub judice. In Foster and Miller-El II, the record 
demonstrated a policy to exclude prospective African-
American jurors, which completely undermined the 
race neutral explanations urged by the prosecution for 
exercising their strikes. See Foster, 136 S.Ct. 1737;  
Miller-El II, 545 U.S. 231, 125 S.Ct. 2317. Similar evi-
dence undermining the prosecution’s explanations 
simply is not present in the case sub judice. Taking into 
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account the “historical evidence” of past discrimina-
tion, i.e., Evans’s past Batson violations, the Court re-
mains unpersuaded that the trial court erred in 
finding that the State did not violate Batson. Accord-
ingly, the trial court did not err in denying Flowers’s 
Batson challenges. 

 
VII. Whether the venire was biased, resulting 

in an unfair trial, such that reversal and 
remand for a new trial is warranted. 

 ¶ 143. Flowers raises two subissues related to al-
leged bias in the venire and empaneled jury: (1) 
whether the jury did not adequately deliberate be-
cause it was influenced by racial bias in violation of the 
Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Four-
teenth Amendment; and (2) whether the pervasive bias 
in the venire infected the fairness of the proceedings, 
requiring reversal and remand for a new trial. Flowers 
implies that African-American jurors either were 
afraid to serve as jurors or were afraid to find Flowers 
not guilty as a result of the alleged pervasive racial 
bias in Montgomery County. 

 
A. Adequate Deliberations 

 ¶ 144. The jury deliberated for twenty-nine 
minutes during the guilt-or-innocence phase and for an 
hour and a half during the sentencing phase. Our cases 
support that the time spent deliberating was adequate. 
In a capital murder case, we have held that a ten- 
minute guilt-or-innocence deliberation and a one-hour 
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sentencing deliberation were adequate. Gray, 728 
So.2d at 62–63. The well-settled rule is that “there is 
no formula to determine how long a jury should delib-
erate.” Id. at 62 (¶ 125) (quoting Smith v. State, 569 
So.2d 1203, 1205 (Miss. 1990)). In Smith v. State, we 
explained: 

Because the jury’s time of considering their 
verdict did not exceed seven minutes, it does 
not follow that the jurors did not carefully 
consider the testimony and the exhibits. It is 
not only possible but probable that when the 
state and the defendant had rested and the 
summations had been made each juror had 
decided in his mind the issue of innocence or 
guilt. After the brief deliberation with each 
other, the jurors found that they were of a sin-
gle mind as to the guilt or innocence of the ap-
pellant and found him to be guilty. 

Under the facts of this case this Court is un-
willing to lend its authority to the establish-
ment of any formula or guideline relating to 
the time a jury must deliberate before deliver-
ing its verdict. This Court is cognizant of the 
fact that in the past in occasional cases, as in 
the case at bar, rather brief deliberations have 
taken place in the jury room and verdicts have 
been returned with unusual rapidity. There is 
no yardstick of time which a jury should use 
before reaching a verdict. No two cases are 
similar as to facts and therefore the law varies 
in its application thereto. Therefore, we can-
not hold that in the time utilized by the jury 
it could not reach a proper verdict of guilty. 
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Smith, 569 So.2d at 1205 (quoting Johnson v. State, 
252 So.2d 221, 224 (Miss. 1971)). Based on length of the 
deliberations alone, Flowers’s argument that the jury’s 
deliberation was inadequate has no merit. However, 
Flowers’s argument is not based solely on the length of 
time. He contends that the short amount of time spent 
deliberating is indicative of racial bias in the jury and 
venire. 

 
B. Biased Venire 

 ¶ 145. Flowers claims that he was denied the 
right to a fair trial because the jury was biased. “The 
right to a fair trial by an impartial jury is fundamental 
and essential to our form of government. It is a right 
guaranteed by both the federal and state constitu-
tions.” Johnson v. State, 476 So.2d 1195, 1209 (Miss. 
1985). The United States Constitution provides: “In all 
criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right 
to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the 
State and district wherein the crime shall have been 
committed[.]” U.S. Const. amend. VI. Likewise, the 
Mississippi Constitution provides: “In all criminal 
prosecutions the accused shall have a right to . . . a 
speedy and public trial by an impartial jury of the 
county where the offense was committed.” Miss. Const. 
art. 3, § 26. We have recognized that the right to a trial 
by an impartial jury and the right to a trial in the lo-
cation where the offense occurred can be at odds with 
one another. See Johnson, 476 So.2d at 1210. 
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 ¶ 146. Flowers takes several approaches to sup-
port his contention that he was denied the right to a 
fair trial because the jury was biased. He asserts that: 
(1) racial bias in the community is evident by the 
Court’s opinion in Flowers III; (2) racial bias and ten-
sion was demonstrated by the arrest of two African 
Americans for perjury during one of Flowers’s previous 
trials; (3) excessive law enforcement personnel were 
present at the trial; (4) a majority of the jurors empan-
eled were acquainted with either Flowers or the vic-
tims or had formed opinions related to the case prior 
to trial; (5) the trial court erroneously denied several 
of Flowers’s challenges for cause; (6) the trial court 
erred by failing to quash the entire venire; and (7) the 
jury interrupted an important mitigation witness. To 
cure the alleged biases, Flowers claims that the trial 
court should have quashed the venire or, in the al- 
ternative, provided for a “cooling-off period” until an 
unbiased jury from Montgomery County could be em-
paneled. 

 ¶ 147. First, Flowers asserts that bias is evi- 
dent from the Court’s holding in Flowers III. Flowers’s 
claim comes from the Court’s statement in Flowers III 
that the case presented “as strong a prima facie case of 
racial discrimination as we have ever seen in the con-
text of a Batson challenge.” Flowers III, 947 So.2d 
at 935 (¶ 66). The problems surrounding jury selection 
in Flowers III are not present in today’s case. In that 
case, the State exercised all twelve of its peremptory 
strikes on African Americans and its three peremptory 
strikes for alternate jurors on African Americans. Id. 
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at 917–18. The Court found that the following facts re-
sulted in a Batson violation: the State exercised per-
emptory strikes against African-American veniremen 
who shared characteristics with tendered white jurors; 
the State’s proffered race neutral reasons for striking 
African Americans were not supported by the record; 
and the State failed to voir dire other jurors as to a 
characteristic cited as a race neutral basis. Id. at 935–
39. However, the facts were particular to the third trial, 
and Flowers III does not stand for the proposition that 
the community as a whole—and any future venire—
would be biased. The claim is without merit. 

 ¶ 148. Second, Flowers claims that racial tension 
was escalated by the arrests of two African-American 
jurors for perjury during Flowers’s fourth trial. During 
that trial, Mary Annette Purnell, an African American 
who was selected to serve as alternate juror, said dur-
ing voir dire that she did not know Flowers or his fam-
ily, but after the jury was selected, another juror 
reported to the prosecution that Purnell knew Flowers 
and his family. Purnell admitted to meeting with Flow-
ers prior to the trial but after the jury summons. Ap-
parently, during jury selection, Flowers gave his 
attorney a note that said they needed to “fight for” Pur-
nell to be on the jury. Flowers’s counsel denied having 
read the note prior to the perjury accusations. Purnell 
pleaded guilty to perjury and received two ten-year 
sentences. 

 ¶ 149. At the end of the fourth trial, after the 
jury was unable to reach a unanimous decision, jurors 
reported to the trial court that James Bibbs, an 
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African-American juror, had told other jurors that the 
police did not adequately investigate the murders and 
that evidence had been planted. After the jury was re-
leased, the trial court questioned Bibbs about the re-
ports. Bibbs denied making the exact statements, but 
he admitted that he had told other jurors that he had 
been in an alley close to Tardy Furniture on the day of 
the murders and that investigators did not inspect 
that area. Bibbs claimed that he did not report the in-
formation during voir dire because he misunderstood 
questions relating to whether he had knowledge of the 
crimes. Although the reason is unclear from the record, 
the perjury charges against Bibbs eventually were 
nolle prossed. 

 ¶ 150. Flowers claims that Bibbs was possibly 
the only juror at the fourth trial who did not vote to 
convict Flowers. He further contends that the perjury 
arrests “escalated” racial tension and that the arrests 
were reported in the press and “pervaded the jury ve-
nire” in today’s case. To support his contentions, Flow-
ers cites local media articles discussing the perjury 
arrests. Nothing in the record, however, discusses 
whether members of the venire in today’s case were 
aware of the arrests. Further, nothing in the record 
suggests that the arrests were anything less than le-
gitimate. Clearly, Purnell admitted to perjury, and 
Bibbs admitted to having knowledge that he did not 
disclose during voir dire. The contention is not sup-
ported by the record and is without merit. 

 ¶ 151. Next, Flowers’s claim that excessive law 
enforcement presence caused bias in the venire also is 
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without merit. When Flowers’s counsel raised concerns 
that venire members were standing close to a law en-
forcement officer during voir dire, the trial court re-
sponded by reminding counsel that the potential jurors 
could be questioned about any contact with law en-
forcement during voir dire. Considering the notoriety 
of the crimes in the case, a large number of law enforce-
ment personnel would be expected. 

 ¶ 152. Further, Flowers’s claim that the jury in-
terrupted a mitigation witness is not supported by the 
record. During the mitigation phase, pizza was ordered 
for the jury. Apparently, the pizza arrived while Archie 
Flowers Sr., Flowers’s father, was providing mitigation 
testimony. In response to the food arriving, Flowers’s 
counsel stated: “Your honor, if the jurors’ food is here, I 
don’t want to stand in the way of that.” There is no in-
dication that the jury interrupted the witness, and 
Flowers’s counsel encouraged the recess. 

 ¶ 153. Flowers asserts that a majority of the ju-
rors empaneled were acquainted with Flowers, ac-
quainted with the victims, or had formed opinions 
related to the case prior to trial. Flowers claims that 
the venire was skewed in favor of the prosecution be-
cause a higher percentage of potential jurors who were 
familiar with Flowers and his family were struck from 
the venire compared to venire members who were fa-
miliar with the victims and their families. He claims 
that, because potential jurors who were familiar with 
the Flowers family were more likely to state that their 
relationships with the family would affect their ability 
to serve as fair and impartial jurors, ultimately, a 
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higher percentage of jurors who were familiar with the 
victims and their families was empaneled. 

 ¶ 154. Jurors who state that their relationship 
with a defendant or a victim would affect their ability 
to be impartial properly are struck for cause. See Man-
ning, 735 So.2d at 340 (¶ 31) (“doubts as to one’s ability 
to follow the law and vote for the death penalty when 
appropriate is a sufficient race-neutral reason”); Ste-
vens, 806 So.2d at 1062 (¶ 138) (removal of juror is 
justified where the trial court is [sic] “is left with the 
impression that a prospective juror would be unable to 
faithfully and impartially apply the law”) (quoting 
Wainwright v. Witt, 469 U.S. 416, 426, 105 S.Ct. 844, 83 
L.Ed.2d 841 (1985)); Davis v. State, 660 So.2d 1228, 
1244 (Miss. 1995) (same). However, when jurors indi-
cate that they can be impartial, they do not have to be 
struck based on relationships alone. “The linchpin is 
whether the venire members stated that they could be 
fair and impartial jurors if chosen.” Hughes v. State, 
983 So.2d 270, 284 (¶ 63) (Miss. 2008) (quoting Howell, 
860 So.2d at 720 (¶ 37)). Thus, if jurors indicated that 
they could not be fair and impartial, they properly 
were struck. The claim is without merit. 

 ¶ 155. Flowers’s claim that the trial court erred 
by denying several of his challenges for cause fails. The 
potential jurors that Flowers challenged for cause 
were not selected to serve as jurors, and Flowers did 
not exercise all of his peremptory challenges. “Denial 
of challenge for cause is not error where it is not shown 
that the defense has exhausted peremptory challenges 
and is thus forced to accept the juror. This threshold 
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test is applicable in a capital murder case.” Berry v. 
State, 575 So.2d 1, 9 (Miss. 1990) (citing Billiot v. State, 
454 So.2d 445, 457 (Miss. 1984); Rush v. State, 278 
So.2d 456, 458 (Miss. 1973)). 

 ¶ 156. Lastly, Flowers suggests that the trial 
court should have quashed the entire venire or pro-
vided for a “cooling-off period” until a fair and impar-
tial jury could be empaneled, and he claims that the 
trial court’s failure to do so was error. Flowers’s sug-
gested remedies are not viable. Flowers’s claim that a 
pervasive bias existed throughout the community con-
flicts with his suggestion that another venire should 
have been empaneled. If the bias was in fact pervasive, 
another venire from the same community likely would 
contain the same bias. Flowers’s suggested “cooling-off 
period” is even more troublesome, as Flowers himself 
would be left in limbo awaiting another trial. In 
Hughes v. State, we held that the trial court did not err 
in denying the defendant’s motion to quash the venire 
based on the crime being well known within the com-
munity. Hughes, 983 So.2d at 284 (¶ 64). Because the 
jurors indicated that their knowledge of the case would 
not affect their ability to be fair and impartial, the trial 
court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion 
to quash. Id. Again, “[t]he linchpin is whether the ve-
nire members stated that they could be fair and impar-
tial jurors if chosen.” Id. at 284 (¶ 63) (quoting Howell, 
860 So.2d at 720 (¶ 37)). 

 ¶ 157. A more appropriate remedy would be to 
expand the size of the venire. See Toyota Motor Corp. v. 
McLaurin, 642 So.2d 351, 358 (Miss. 1994); Mhoon v. 
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State, 464 So.2d 77, 82 (Miss. 1985), superseded by stat-
ute on other grounds. However, the size of the venire 
was appropriately large, as 600 people were called for 
voir dire. Thus, it would seem that the trial court called 
a large enough venire to avoid problems. Trial courts 
have broad discretion in conducting voir dire. See How-
ell, 860 So.2d at 726 (¶ 67). “A jury selection procedure 
which gives the defendant ‘a fair opportunity to ask 
questions of individual jurors which may enable the 
defendant to determine his right to challenge that ju-
ror’ is proper.” Id. at 726–27 (¶ 69) (quoting McLemore 
v. State, 669 So.2d 19, 25 (Miss. 1996)). We cannot say 
that the trial court abused its discretion in conducting 
voir dire. For the foregoing reasons, Flowers’s claims 
that he was denied the right to a fair trial because the 
jury was biased are without merit. 

 
VIII. Whether the trial court erred in refusing 

Flowers’s requested culpability-phase in-
structions. 

 ¶ 158. Flowers claims that the trial court erred 
in refusing three of his culpability-phase instruc-
tions—D–7, D–8, and D–9. “Jury instructions are 
within the sound discretion of the trial court.” Gillett, 
56 So.3d at 496 (¶ 67) (quoting Rubenstein, 941 So.2d 
at 787 (¶ 239)). 

This Court does not single out any instruction 
or take instructions out of context; rather, the 
instructions are to be read together as a 
whole. Thomas v. State, 818 So.2d 335, 349  
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(Miss. 2002). A defendant is entitled to have 
jury instructions which present his theory of 
the case. Id. This entitlement is limited, how-
ever, in that the court is allowed to refuse an 
instruction which incorrectly states the law, is 
covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, 
or is without foundation in the evidence. Id. 

Gillett, 56 So.3d at 496 (¶ 67) (quoting Walker v. State, 
913 So.2d 198, 234 (¶ 132) (Miss. 2005)). 

 ¶ 159. Flowers claims that the trial court erred 
in refusing instruction D–6 because he was entitled to 
an instruction on the burden of proof. That instruction 
read as follows: 

Each fact which is essential to complete a set 
of circumstances necessary to establish the 
defendant’s guilt must be proved beyond a 
reasonable doubt. In other words, before an 
inference essential to establish guilt may be 
found to have been proved beyond a reasona-
ble doubt, each fact or circumstance on which 
the inference necessarily rests must be proved 
beyond a reasonable doubt. 

 The trial court refused the instruction, finding 
that it was repetitive of instruction S-1, which stated 
that the State must prove all of the elements of the 
crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. Because the in-
structions are repetitive, the trial court did not err in 
denying D–6. See Montana v. State, 822 So.2d 954, 961 
(¶ 26) (Miss. 2002) (“A trial judge is under no obliga- 
tion to grant redundant instructions.”). The issue is 
without merit. 
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 ¶ 160. Instructions D–7 and D–8 were circum-
stantial-evidence instructions. They provided: 

D–7: The Court instructs the jury that [if ] 
the prosecution has used circumstantial evi-
dence to show that Curtis Flowers committed 
the charged crimes, then the evidence must be 
so strong as to rule out any other reasonable 
explanation except that of guilt. Circumstan-
tial evidence is anything other than direct 
evidence, such as, to give one example, testi-
mony of someone who witnessed an event. In 
other words, you may not return a verdict of 
guilty if you could reasonably interpret the 
facts in a way that would show Mr. Flowers to 
be not guilty. 

D–8: The Court instructs the jury that if 
there is any fact or circumstance in this case 
susceptible of two interpretations, one favora-
ble and the other unfavorable to Curtis Flow-
ers, and when the jury has considered such 
fact or circumstance with all the other evi-
dence, if there is a doubt as to the correct in-
terpretation, then you must resolve such 
doubt in favor of Curtis Flowers and interpret 
that fact or circumstance in favor of Mr. Flow-
ers. 

 In support of his argument that the trial court 
erred in refusing the instructions, Flowers attacks the 
credibility of Odell Hallmon, the jailhouse informant. 
Flowers recognizes that Mississippi caselaw allows 
trial courts to refuse circumstantial-evidence instruc-
tions in cases in which direct evidence of the crime is 
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presented, which includes testimony from a jailhouse 
informant. See Ladner, 584 So.2d at 750 (case is not 
circumstantial even if the only direct evidence is a 
“jailhouse confession”). 

 ¶ 161. Flowers, however, relies on the Court’s opin-
ion in McNeal v. State, 551 So.2d 151 (Miss. 1989), for the 
proposition that jailhouse informant testimony should 
not serve as a basis for refusing a circumstantial- 
evidence instruction when the informant’s credibility 
is questionable. In McNeal, the jailhouse informant 
testified in exchange for a reduced sentence. Id. at 158. 
The Court questioned the refusal of the instruction in 
McNeal, but the case was reversed and remanded on 
other grounds, so the Court did not go so far as to find 
that a circumstantial-evidence instruction should have 
been given. Id. at 158–59 (“It is doubtful that such tes-
timony should be considered as direct evidence which 
would prevent the granting of a circumstantial evi-
dence instruction; however, we do not decide that ques-
tion here, nor is it necessary, because we find merit and 
reverse under [another] assignment of error.”). 

 ¶ 162. The Court has clarified the jailhouse in-
formant/circumstantial evidence issue in subsequent 
cases. In Ladner, the Court held that it was not error 
to refuse such an instruction in the case of a jailhouse 
informant: 

A circumstantial evidence instruction must 
be given only when the prosecution can pro-
duce neither an eyewitness nor a confession/ 
statement by the defendant. The “confession” 
which constitutes direct evidence of a crime is 
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not limited to a confession to a law enforce-
ment officer but also includes an admission 
made to a person other than a law enforce-
ment officer. In Holliday v. State, 455 So.2d 
750, 752–53 (Miss. 1984), a witness testified 
that he had overheard the defendant say to 
another person that he had killed his wife. 
This Court held that the circumstantial evi-
dence instruction was not required. See Foster 
v. State, 508 So.2d 1111, 1115 (Miss. 1987) 
(Court held that without “jailhouse confes-
sion” the case would have been entirely cir-
cumstantial). 

Ladner, 584 So.2d at 750 (other citations omitted). The 
Court then stated that, because McNeal was decided 
on other grounds, it did not support the defendant’s 
proposition that a circumstantial-evidence instruction 
should have been given. Id. at 750 n.1. We reaffirmed 
the Ladner holding in Moore v. State: 

As [the defendant] points out, prior to Ladner, 
this Court expressed doubt as to whether a 
jailhouse informant’s testimony “should be 
considered as direct evidence which would 
prevent the granting of a circumstantial evi-
dence instruction.” McNeal, 551 So.2d at 159. 
While McNeal declined to answer that ques-
tion, Ladner settled the matter, holding that 
when the type of testimony given by [the in-
formant] in the case sub judice is present, cir-
cumstantial evidence instructions are not 
necessary. 

Moore, 787 So.2d at 1288 (¶ 18). Following the Court’s 
holdings in Ladner and Moore, the trial court in today’s 
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case found that Hallmon’s testimony provided direct 
evidence of the crimes and denied instruction D–7 and 
D–8. We recognize that Hallmon’s credibility is ques-
tionable. However, Hallmon was cross-examined ex-
tensively at trial, and the trial court instructed the 
jury “that the law looks with suspicion and distrust on 
the testimony of a jailhouse informant, and requires 
the jury to weigh the same with great care and suspi-
cion.” The jury was instructed adequately regarding 
Hallmon’s testimony, and the trial court did not err by 
refusing the circumstantial-evidence instructions un-
der Moore and Ladner. The issue is without merit. 

 
IX. Whether the trial court erred in refus- 

ing Flowers’s penalty-phase instructions 
and in granting the State’s aggravating-
circumstances instruction. 

 ¶ 163. Flowers claims the trial court erred in 
denying several of his penalty phase jury instruc-
tions—D–4, D–12, D–33, D–34, D–38, and D–39. He 
also asserts that the trial court erred by allowing the 
State’s aggravating-circumstances instruction. Again, 
jury instructions are within the sound discretion of the 
trial court, and the trial court properly refuses instruc-
tions that are incorrect statements of the law, are cov-
ered fairly in other instructions, or do not have a 
foundation in the evidence. Gillett, 56 So.3d at 496 
(¶ 67). 
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A. Instruction D–4 

 ¶ 164. Flowers contends that the trial court 
erred in refusing instruction D–4, which was a “pre-
sumption of life” instruction. The proffered instruction 
read: 

You are to begin your deliberations with the 
presumption that there are no aggravating 
circumstances that would warrant a sentence 
of death, and the presumption that the appro-
priate punishment in this case would be life 
imprisonment. These presumptions remain 
with Mr. Flowers throughout the sentencing 
hearing and can only be overcome if the pros-
ecution convinces each one of you, beyond a 
reasonable doubt, that the death penalty is 
the only appropriate punishment. 

 The Court consistently has refused to find error 
when a trial court denies presumption-of-life instruc-
tions. See Gillett, 56 So.3d at 514 (¶ 135); Brown v. 
State, 890 So.2d 901, 920 (¶ 72) (Miss. 2004) (“We have 
repeatedly said that we reject the ‘proposition that a 
defendant should go into the sentencing phase with a 
presumption that life is the appropriate punishment.’ ”) 
(quoting Watts v. State, 733 So.2d 214, 241 (¶ 81) (Miss. 
1999)). As such, the trial court did not err in refusing 
the presumption-of-life instruction. 

 
B. Instructions D–12 and D–33 

 ¶ 165. Flowers claims that the trial court erred by 
refusing to grant two instructions related to aggravating 



421 

 

circumstances and circumstantial evidence. The in-
structions provided: 

D–12: The Court instructs the jury that if 
the State has relied on circumstantial evi-
dence to establish an aggravating circum-
stance, then the evidence for the State must 
be so strong as to establish the aggravating 
circumstance not only beyond a reasonable 
doubt, but must exclude every other reasona-
ble hypothesis other than establishment of 
the aggravating circumstance. 

D–33: During the penalty phase, I instruct 
you that if there is a fact or circumstance in 
this case which is susceptible of two interpre-
tations, one favorable and the other unfavora-
ble to Mr. Flowers and if, after considering all 
the other facts and circumstances, there is a 
reasonable doubt regarding the correct inter-
pretation, then you must resolve such doubt 
in favor of Mr. Flowers and place upon such 
fact or circumstance the interpretation most 
favorable to Mr. Flowers. 

 Flowers claims that whether a criminal defendant 
is entitled to a circumstantial-evidence instruction 
during the penalty phase is a matter of first impres-
sion. Flowers is incorrect. We have held that a trial 
court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant 
circumstantial-evidence instructions at the penalty 
phase. Fulgham, 46 So.3d at 340 (¶ 80); King v. State, 
960 So.2d 413, 446–47 (¶ 70) (Miss. 2007). In support 
of its finding, the King Court wrote that the jury’s find-
ing that the defendant actually committed the murder 
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during the guilt-or-innocence phase “indicate[d] its re-
jection of any other reasonable hypothesis of [the de-
fendant’s] participation in the crime.” King, 960 So.2d 
at 446 (¶ 70). Instructions D–12 and D–33 are almost 
identical to the instruction at issue in Fulgham. The 
trial court did not err in refusing the instructions. 

 
C. Instruction D–34 

 ¶ 166. Instruction D–34 provided: “The Court in-
structs the jury that if you cannot, within a reasonable 
time, agree as to punishment, the court will dismiss 
you and impose a sentence of imprisonment for life 
without the benefit of parole.” Flowers claims that the 
trial court should have granted the instruction because 
the jury did not receive guidance on what would hap-
pen if the jurors could not agree unanimously on a pun-
ishment. Flowers contends that the alleged error is 
evident by a note sent from the jury during the penalty 
phase. The note stated: “If we cannot agree unani-
mously, who will make the ultimate decision?” The 
trial court responded to the note by stating: “That is 
not an issue the jury should be concerned about.” 

 ¶ 167. The Court has reviewed almost identical 
instructions in previous cases and found that the trial 
court did not err in refusing the proffered instructions. 
In Gillett, we held that the trial court did not err in 
refusing an instruction that stated: “If you cannot, 
within a reasonable time, agree as to punishment, I 
will dismiss you and impose a sentence of life without 
the benefit of parole. If you cannot agree, know that 
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any of you may inform the bailiff of this.” Gillett, 56 
So.3d at 515 (¶ 138). Because the jury was instructed 
on the three possible penalty phase outcomes—death, 
life imprisonment without parole, or inability to agree 
unanimously on a punishment—the Court held that 
the jury was properly instructed on the possibility of 
not reaching a unanimous decision. Id. at 516 (¶ 139). 
In another capital murder case, the Court held that the 
trial court did not err in refusing the following instruc-
tion: “The court instructs the jury that if you do not 
agree upon punishment the court will sentence the de-
fendant to life imprisonment without possibility of pa-
role or early release.” Edwards v. State, 737 So.2d 275, 
316 (¶ 142) (Miss. 1999). The Edwards Court held that 
the jury was adequately instructed that it could “re-
turn to the courtroom and report that it was unable to 
agree unanimously on punishment.” Id. at 316 (¶ 143). 

 ¶ 168. Similar to Gillett and Edwards, the trial 
court in today’s case instructed the jury that it could 
reach three possible outcomes in the penalty phase: 
death, life without parole, or being unable to agree 
unanimously on a punishment. Accordingly, the trial 
court did not err in refusing instruction D–34. 

 
D. Instructions D–38 and D–39 

 ¶ 169. Flowers claims that the trial court erred 
by refusing instructions on the jury’s ability to con-
sider mercy. Proposed instruction D–38 read: 

A mitigating factor is anything that in fair-
ness and mercy may reduce blame or that may 
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justify a sentence less than death. Even if a 
factor does not justify or excuse the crime it 
may still be a mitigating factor. It is for each 
of you to decide if a factor is mitigating. 

Mercy alone can be a mitigating factor you 
can consider in deciding not to impose the 
death penalty and to impose a sentence of life 
without parole. 

 Instruction D–38 is clearly a mercy instruction, 
and the Court has recognized that such instructions 
are not required and “may be given at the discretion of 
the trial court.” Foster, 639 So.2d at 1300. Flowers’s 
counsel recognized during the sentencing instruction 
hearing that D–38 was a mercy instruction. The trial 
court did not err in refusing the instruction. 

 ¶ 170. Instruction D–39 provided: “The death 
penalty is never required. You may always find that 
Mr. Flowers should be sentenced to life in prison or life 
in prison without the possibility of parole.” Although 
Flowers describes D–39 as a “mercy instruction,” upon 
close examination, the instruction simply seems to in-
struct the jury on its ability to impose a sentence of life 
in prison rather than the death penalty. At the sentenc-
ing instruction hearing, the trial court refused the in-
struction because it was repetitive of the omnibus 
sentencing instruction given by the trial court. As part 
of the omnibus instruction, the jury was instructed: “In 
the event that you find that the mitigating circum-
stance(s) do not outweigh or overcome the aggravating 
circumstance(s), you may impose the death sentence.” 
(Emphasis added.) Thus, the jury was given the option 
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to sentence Flowers to life without parole or to impose 
the death penalty if it found that the aggravating cir-
cumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances. 
Although the life without parole option was stated 
more clearly in D–39 than in the omnibus instruction, 
it cannot be said that the jury was not given the in-
struction. The trial court did not err in refusing in-
struction D–39. 

 
E. Aggravating Circumstances 

 ¶ 171. The court instructed the jury on three ag-
gravating circumstances: (1) “the Defendant know-
ingly created a great risk of death to many persons”; 
(2) “the capital offense was committed while the De-
fendant was engaged in the commission of the crime of 
armed robbery for pecuniary gain”; and (3) “the capital 
offense was committed for the purpose of avoiding or 
preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from 
custody.” See Miss. Code Ann. § 99–19–101(5) (Rev. 
2015). Flowers claims that the trial court erred in is-
suing the instruction. 

 
1. Great Risk of Death to Many Per-

sons 

 ¶ 172. Flowers asserts that the trial court erred 
by allowing the jury to consider the aggravating factor 
of “great risk of death to many persons.” The Court has 
held that the “great risk” aggravator is appropriate 
when there are multiple victims of a single crime. See 
Flowers II, 842 So.2d at 560 (¶ 91) (quoting Flowers I, 
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773 So.2d at 325 (¶ 53) (citing McGilberry v. State, 741 
So.2d 894, 925 (¶¶ 130–36) (Miss. 1999))). See also 
Jackson v. State, 672 So.2d 468, 490 (Miss. 1996) (when 
“multiple victims have been stabbed in the same or a 
nearby room, courts in other jurisdictions generally 
have found that there was sufficient evidence to war-
rant the ‘great risk to many persons’ aggravating cir-
cumstance”) (collecting cases). Flowers acknowledges 
the Court’s prior holdings, but he asks the Court to 
rule differently here. 

 ¶ 173. To give the instruction, the defendant 
must have created a great risk of death to someone 
other than his intended victim. Porter v. State, 732 
So.2d 899, 906 (¶ 31) (Miss. 1999). In Porter, the Court 
held that the evidence did not support the “great risk” 
aggravator because the defendant had killed only one 
person, whom he had been hired to kill, and he fled the 
scene after shooting that person, even though other 
people were inside the house at the time. Id. In Cor-
rothers v. State, the Court held that the “great risk” ag-
gravator was proper because the “evidence showed 
that Corrothers entered the home intending to attack 
Taylor, and in doing so, he shot Frank and Tonya and 
held a gun on Josh.” Corrothers, 148 So.3d at 320 
(¶ 118). 

 ¶ 174. Flowers asserts that the evidence does not 
indicate that the person who killed the four victims 
had any intention to harm anyone other than the vic-
tims he was robbing. The State’s theory was that Flow-
ers intended to kill Bertha Tardy because she fired him 
and withheld his pay and, in the process of doing so, he 
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shot and killed the others. Flowers knew Carmen 
Rigby from working at the store, but there is no evi-
dence that he knew Robert Johnson or Derrick Stew-
art, as the day of the murders was their first day to 
work at the store. Based on the State’s theory of the 
case, which was presented to the jury, we hold that 
there was sufficient evidence on which the jury could 
have found that Flowers caused a great risk of death 
to people other than his intended victim, Bertha Tardy. 
Further, because Flowers shot four victims in the same 
room, the evidence was sufficient to warrant the in-
struction. Jackson, 672 So.2d at 490 

 ¶ 175. Flowers also claims that “to allow the 
same conduct that is an essential element of the un-
derlying crime to also aggravate that crime for sen-
tencing purposes” violates the Eighth Amendment. 
Flowers does not cite any authority for this proposi-
tion, nor does he explain how the aggravator violates 
the Eighth Amendment. The State understands Flow-
ers’s argument to be that use of the aggravator violates 
double jeopardy. We have held specifically that the 
“great risk” aggravator does not violate double jeop-
ardy. See Corrothers, 148 So.3d at 320 (¶¶ 117–19) 
(quoting Flowers II, 842 So.2d at 561–62 (¶ 94) (quot-
ing Wilcher v. State, 697 So.2d 1087, 1105 (Miss. 
1997))). The Court also has held that “doubling”—the 
use of an element of the underlying crime as an aggra-
vating circumstance—does not violate the Constitu-
tion. See Corrothers, 148 So.3d at 320 (¶ 116); Gillett, 
56 So.3d at 510 (¶ 118); Ross I, 954 So.2d at 1014 
(¶ 120). Accordingly, the issue is without merit. 
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2. Armed Robbery for Pecuniary Gain 

 ¶ 176. Flowers claims that the trial court erred 
by instructing the jury to consider the aggravating fac-
tor of armed robbery for pecuniary gain because the 
instruction essentially combined two aggravating fac-
tors. The instruction given to the jury stated, in part: 
“Consider only the following elements of aggravation 
in determining whether the death penalty should be 
imposed: . . . The capital offense was committed while 
the Defendant was engaged in the commission of the 
crime of armed robbery for pecuniary gain.” Missis-
sippi Code Section 99–19–101(5) lists ten aggravating 
factors the jury may consider during the penalty phase 
of capital punishment cases. One factor listed is the 
capital offense occurring while in the commission of 
any robbery. Miss. Code Ann. § 99–19–101(5)(d) (Rev. 
2015). A separate factor is commission of the capital 
offense for pecuniary gain. Miss. Code Ann. § 99–19–
101(5)(f ) (Rev. 2015). 

 ¶ 177. Flowers recognizes that the Court previ-
ously has found similar aggravating-circumstances in-
structions permissible, but he encourages the Court to 
reconsider its reasoning. In Howell v. State, the Court 
held that it was not error for the following aggravat-
ing-circumstance instruction to be given to the jury: 
“The capital offense was committed for pecuniary gain 
during the course of an armed robbery.” Howell, 860 
So.2d at 756 (¶ 186). The Court noted that the jury is 
not permitted to “doubly weigh” aggravating circum-
stances; thus, listing armed robbery and pecuniary 
gain as separate aggravating circumstances could be 
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unconstitutional in some factual circumstances. Id. at 
756 (¶ 188) (quoting Turner v. State, 732 So.2d 937, 
954–55 (¶¶ 71–72) (Miss. 1999)). When pecuniary gain 
and armed robbery are used within the same factor, 
however, the concern of the jury “doubly weighing” the 
aggravating factors is not present. As such, the issue is 
without merit. 

 
3. Avoiding Lawful Arrest or Effecting 

an Escape from Custody 

 ¶ 178. Flowers claims that the trial court erred 
by instructing the jury that it could consider that the 
capital offense occurred for the purpose of avoiding or 
preventing arrest as an aggravating factor, because the 
evidence presented at trial was insufficient to support 
the instruction. Flowers also claims that the definition 
of avoiding arrest is unconstitutional because it is 
overly broad. Whether the avoiding arrest aggravator 
is constitutional has been addressed several times, and 
we consistently have held that it is not overly broad. 
Brawner v. State, 947 So.2d 254, 266 (¶ 36) (Miss. 2006) 
(collecting cases). 

 ¶ 179. The factor is appropriate where “the ac-
cused purposefully killed the victim of the underlying 
felony to avoid or prevent arrest for that felony.” Id. at 
266 (¶ 37). Further, 

[i]f there is evidence from which it may be rea-
sonably inferred that a substantial reason for 
the killing was to conceal the identity of the 
killer or to “cover their tracks” so as to avoid 
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apprehension and eventual arrest by authori-
ties, then it is proper for the court to allow the 
jury to consider this aggravating circum-
stance. 

Id. (quoting Wiley v. State, 750 So.2d 1193, 1206 (¶ 46) 
(Miss. 1999)). In Wiley, the defendant shot and killed a 
witness to a robbery and injured another witness. 
Wiley, 750 So.2d at 1206 (¶ 47). The Court found that, 
because the defendant knew the victims and at-
tempted to dispose of evidence linking him to the rob-
bery, there was sufficient evidence to support the 
aggravating factor. Id. at 1206 (¶ 48). Like the defend-
ant in Wiley, Flowers knew the murder victims. Fur-
ther, the murder weapon was never found, nor were the 
Fila Grant Hill tennis shoes. However, a Fila Grant 
Hill shoebox was found at Flowers’s girlfriend’s house, 
and Flowers had been seen wearing Fila Grant Hill 
shoes. Cash was found hidden in Flowers’s headboard, 
and Flowers gave conflicting statements to police re-
garding his whereabouts on the morning of the mur-
ders. In Wiley, the Court held that the defendant’s 
“efforts to dispose of and/or conceal the evidence of his 
crime [were] sufficient to support the avoiding arrest 
instruction.” Id. at 1206 (¶ 48). In the instant case, it 
could be “reasonably inferred” that Flowers attempted 
to conceal his identity, disposed of evidence, or tried to 
“cover his tracks.” The evidence is sufficient to support 
the avoiding-arrest instruction. 
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X. Whether Flowers’s multiple trials violated 
the Double Jeopardy Clause and the Due 
Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment. 

 ¶ 180. Flowers claims that his six trials for the 
Tardy Furniture murders violate his due process 
rights and the Double Jeopardy Clause. Flowers’s first 
and second trials resulted in convictions and death 
sentences that subsequently were overturned by the 
Court for various instances of prosecutorial miscon-
duct. Flowers I, 773 So.2d 309; Flowers II, 842 So.2d 
531. At his third trial, Flowers again was convicted and 
sentenced to death, but the Court reversed and re-
manded for a new trial for a Batson violation. Flowers 
III, 947 So.2d 910. At Flowers’s fourth and fifth trials, 
the juries was unable to reach unanimous decisions, 
and the trials resulted in mistrials. Prior to today’s 
case, Flowers moved to have the case dismissed as a 
violation of his due process rights and the Double Jeop-
ardy Clause; the trial court denied the motion. Claims 
of double jeopardy are reviewed de novo. Rowland v. 
State, 98 So.3d 1032, 1037 (¶ 9) (Miss. 2012) (quoting 
Foreman v. State, 51 So.3d 957, 960 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2011)). 

 ¶ 181. The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Mis-
sissippi Constitution reads: “No person’s life or liberty 
shall be twice placed in jeopardy for the same offense; 
but there must be an actual acquittal or conviction on 
the merits to bar another prosecution.” Miss. Const. 
art. 3, § 22. Likewise, the Fifth Amendment to the 
United States Constitution provides that never “shall 
any person be subject for the same offence to be twice 
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put in jeopardy of life or limb.” U.S. Const. amend. V. 
The Double Jeopardy Clause does not bar reprosecu-
tion when a conviction has been set aside on appeal. 
Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 189, 78 S.Ct. 221, 
2 L.Ed.2d 199 (1957). Also, jeopardy does not attach 
when a criminal case ends by the jury failing to reach 
a unanimous verdict. Id. at 188, 78 S.Ct. 221. See also 
Richardson v. United States, 468 U.S. 317, 323–24, 104 
S.Ct. 3081, 82 L.Ed.2d 242 (1984); Keerl v. Montana, 
213 U.S. 135, 137–38, 29 S.Ct. 469, 53 L.Ed. 734 (1909). 
“Double jeopardy consists of three separate consti- 
tutional protections: (1) protection against a second 
prosecution for the same offense after acquittal, (2) 
protection against a second prosecution for the same 
offense after conviction, and (3) protection against 
multiple punishments for the same offense.” Powell v. 
State, 806 So.2d 1069, 1074 (¶ 8) (Miss. 2001) (citing 
North Carolina v. Pearce, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S.Ct. 
2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969)). Flowers has not been ac-
quitted, his convictions have not been upheld on ap-
peal, and he has not received multiple punishments. 
Therefore, the Double Jeopardy Clause has not been 
implicated. 

 ¶ 182. Flowers also claims that continued trials, 
despite the reversals in his first three direct appeals 
on the bases of prosecutorial misconduct, violate his 
due process rights. We have not addressed whether 
multiple trials result in a due process violation, but 
other courts have held that multiple retrials do not vi-
olate a defendant’s due process rights when implica-
tions of double jeopardy are not at issue. See People v. 



433 

 

Sierb, 456 Mich. 519, 581 N.W.2d 219, 223–25 (1998);7 
United States v. Jones, 122 F.3d 1058 (2d Cir. 1997). See 
also United States v. Faulkenberry, 461 Fed.Appx. 496, 
503 (6th Cir. 2012); United States v. Andrews, 2 
F.Supp.3d 847, 853 (N.D. W. Va. 2014); Wallin v. Sin-
clair, 2013 WL 2338259 (W.D. Wash. 2013); Whiteside 
v. Warden, S. Ohio Corr. Facility, 2011 WL 5551598 
(S.D. Ohio 2011). Further, the United States Supreme 
Court has held that the Due Process Clause does not 
provide greater protection against double jeopardy 
than the Double Jeopardy Clause itself. Sattazahn v. 
Pennsylvania, 537 U.S. 101, 116, 123 S.Ct. 732, 154 
L.Ed.2d 588 (2003). The Court wrote: 

At bottom, petitioner’s due-process claim is 
nothing more than his double-jeopardy claim 
in different clothing. As we have said: “The 
Bill of Rights speaks in explicit terms to many 
aspects of criminal procedure, and the expan-
sion of those constitutional guarantees under 
the open-ended rubric of the Due Process 
Clause invites undue interference with both 
considered legislative judgments and the 
careful balance that the Constitution strikes 

 
 7 In People v. Sierb, the Michigan Supreme Court recognized 
that a rule prohibiting retrial on the basis of a due process viola-
tion would lead to problems with arbitrary application: “[I]f rec-
ognized, guidelines for responsible decision making in applying 
the new remedy would be scarce and open-ended. If three trials 
are too many under substantive due process, why are not two? It 
could follow that either any retrial after a mistrial is barred as a 
violation of substantive due process, or that the theory as applied 
would result in arbitrary assertion of judicial authority.” Sierb, 
581 N.W.2d at 224. 
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between liberty and order.” Medina v. Califor-
nia, 505 U.S. 437, 443, 112 S.Ct. 2572, 120 
L.Ed.2d 353 (1992). We decline petitioner’s in-
vitation to hold that the Due Process Clause 
provides greater double-jeopardy protection 
than does the Double Jeopardy Clause. 

Id. See also United States v. Neto, 659 F.3d 194, 201 
(1st Cir. 2011) (the Due Process Clause of the Fifth 
Amendment does not supplement the protections pro-
vided by the Double Jeopardy Clause). Flowers’s due 
process claim is an attempt to supplement the protec-
tions of the Double Jeopardy Clause. Because the dou-
ble jeopardy protections have not been violated, 
Flowers cannot assert a due process claim on the same 
grounds. The issue is without merit. 

 
XI. Whether the convictions and death sen-

tences were obtained in violation of the 
Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amend-
ments to the United States Constitution 
and their counterparts in the Mississippi 
Constitution. 

 ¶ 183. Flowers presents several contentions of 
error related to his indictments, the admissibility of 
victim-impact testimony, and the constitutionality of 
the death penalty. Flowers claims that the trial court 
should have precluded the State from seeking the 
death penalty because of the alleged lack of evidence. 
Because there was sufficient evidence to support a con-
viction, the issue is without merit. See Issue IV supra. 
Flowers also asserts that his right to a speedy trial was 
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violated for the Carmen Rigby and Robert Golden con-
victions, but he provides no support for that conten-
tion. As such, the issue is without merit. See Byrom v. 
State, 863 So.2d 836, 853 (¶ 35) (Miss. 2003) (“failure 
to cite relevant authority obviates the appellate court’s 
obligation to review such issues”). 

 
A. Whether it was constitutional to try 

Flowers for all four murders in the same 
trial despite there being four, single-
count indictments. 

 ¶ 184. Flowers claims that it was error for him 
to be tried for all four murders at a single trial when 
there were four, single-count indictments rather than 
a multicount indictment. He further claims that the 
trial court erred in not entering an order consolidating 
the four cases or obtaining a statement waiving the 
multicount indictment. Flowers concedes that he did 
not object at trial to proceeding under the four, single-
count indictments, but he claims that the issue is one 
of plain error. 

 ¶ 185. At his first trial, Flowers filed a motion to 
consolidate the four murder indictments into one trial, 
but the trial court denied the motion. Flowers I, 773 
So.2d at 318 (¶ 26). During Flowers’s third trial, the 
trial court announced that the parties had agreed to 
consolidate the four cases. See Flowers III, 947 So.2d 
at 916 (¶ 5). Flowers’s fourth, fifth, and sixth trials 
were for all four murders. 
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 ¶ 186. In his brief, Flowers claims that Missis-
sippi Code Section 99–7–2 requires that he should 
have been charged under a multicount indictment 
and/or that the trial court should have entered an or-
der consolidating the matters. Section 99–7–2 does not 
include either of the alleged requirements; rather, it in-
cludes permissive language allowing—but not requir-
ing—the trial court to proceed under a multicount 
indictment. Section 99–7–2 reads in its entirely [sic]: 

(1) Two (2) or more offenses which are tria-
ble in the same court may be charged in the 
same indictment with a separate count for 
each offense if: (a) the offenses are based on 
the same act or transaction; or (b) the offenses 
are based on two (2) or more acts or transac-
tions connected together or constituting parts 
of a common scheme or plan. 

(2) Where two (2) or more offenses are 
properly charged in separate counts of a sin-
gle indictment, all such charges may be tried 
in a single proceeding. 

(3) When a defendant is convicted of two (2) 
or more offenses charged in separate counts of 
an indictment, the court shall impose sepa-
rate sentences for each such conviction. 

(4) The jury or the court, in cases in which 
the jury is waived, shall return a separate ver-
dict for each count of an indictment drawn un-
der subsection (1) of this section. 

(5) Nothing contained in this section shall 
be construed to prohibit the court from 
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exercising its statutory authority to suspend 
either the imposition or execution of any sen-
tence or sentences imposed hereunder, nor to 
prohibit the court from exercising its discre-
tion to impose such sentences to run either 
concurrently with or consecutively to each 
other or any other sentence or sentences pre-
viously imposed upon the defendant. 

Miss. Code Ann. § 99–7–2 (Rev. 2014) (emphasis 
added). In 2002, the Court of Appeals addressed 
whether a defendant is entitled to a multicount indict-
ment. Brooks v. State, 832 So.2d 607, 610–11 (Miss. Ct. 
App. 2002). In Brooks, the defendant was charged with 
two counts of sale of cocaine in separate indictments 
and claimed on appeal that he should have been 
charged under a multicount indictment. Id. at 608, 610 
(¶¶ 1, 13). The court held that single-count indictments 
were permissible: 

[The defendant] argues the cocaine sales were 
part of a common scheme; therefore, he should 
have been charged in a multi-count indict-
ment. [The defendant] is incorrect. Separate 
indictments are the usual practice in Missis-
sippi, while multi-count indictments are excep-
tional. Mississippi Code Annotated § 99–7–2–
(1) (Rev. 2000) provides the three exceptional 
situations in which a multi-count indictment 
may be brought: “(1) the offenses are based on 
the same act or transaction; or (2) the offenses 
are based on two (2) or more acts or transac-
tions connected together; or (3) the offenses 
are based on two (2) or more acts or trans- 
actions constituting parts of a common 
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scheme or plan.” Id. A basic tenet of statutory 
construction is that the word “shall” is a man-
datory directive, and the word “may” is discre-
tionary in nature. American Sand and Gravel 
Co. v. Tatum, 620 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss. 1993); 
Planters Bank & Trust Co. v. Sklar, 555 So.2d 
1024, 1027 (Miss. 1990). In this case, the State 
could have brought a multi-count indictment 
but was not required to do so. 

Id. at 610 (¶ 13). Flowers provides no other authority 
for his proposition that a multi-count indictment was 
required. 

 ¶ 187. Flowers also claims that the trial court 
erred by not entering an order consolidating the mat-
ters and/or obtaining a waiver from Flowers “to be 
tried on only a single count indictment.” In support of 
his argument, Flowers cites State v. Berryhill, 703 
So.2d 250 (Miss. 1997), and Woods v. State, 200 Miss. 
527, 27 So.2d 895, 896–97 (1946). Neither case sup-
ports Flowers’s contention. Berryhill stands for the 
proposition that “capital murder indictments that are 
predicated upon the underlying felony of burglary 
must assert with specificity the felony that comprises 
the burglary.” Berryhill, 703 So.2d at 258. And,  
although the Court in Woods found that the trial court 
erred by allowing the State to consolidate for trial 
three separate crimes—exhibiting a deadly weapon, 
carrying a concealed weapon, and assault and battery 
with fists—the case is distinguishable from Flowers’s 
case. Woods, 27 So.2d at 897. In Woods, the Court noted 
that the three crimes contained different elements and 
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the different elements led to a possibility of prejudice 
for the defense: 

the accused had to be prepared to meet evi-
dence of three distinct crimes, where much of 
the evidence as to one was not competent as 
to the others. Certainly the accused was con-
founded in his defense and evidence was in-
troduced before the jury which would not have 
been competent upon separate trials. 

Id. The concern present in Woods—that the defendant 
would have to defend three distinct crimes—is not pre-
sent in today’s case. Flowers was charged with four 
counts of capital murder with the underlying felony of 
armed robbery. Because proceeding under single-count 
indictments is permitted, the issue is without merit. 

 
B. Whether the trial court erred by re-

fusing Flowers’s motion to quash the 
indictment for failure to allege an ag-
gravating circumstance and/or the 
mens rea requirement. 

 ¶ 188. Flowers claims that his indictments were 
constitutionally insufficient because they failed to list 
the aggravating factors and/or the mens rea require-
ment. As mentioned above, Flowers was charged with 
the murders in four single-count indictments. Aside 
from the victims’ names, each indictment contained 
identical language. The indictments read, in part: 

CURTIS GIOVANNI FLOWERS late of Mont-
gomery County, Mississippi, on or about the 
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16th day of July, 1996, in the county and state 
aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of this 
Court, alone or while acting in concert with 
another or others, did unlawfully, wilfully, fe-
loniously, and either with or without the de-
liberate design to effect death, kill and 
murder [the victim], a human being, by shoot-
ing her with a pistol, while engaged in the 
commission of the felony crime of armed rob-
bery in violation of Miss. Code Ann. Section 97–
3–79 and Section 97–3–19(2)(e) [as amended] 
against the peace and dignity of the State of 
Mississippi. 

 ¶ 189. Flowers claims that the indictments were 
insufficient under the United States Supreme Court’s 
holdings in Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476, 
120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000), and Ring v. 
Arizona, 536 U.S. 584, 605–06, 122 S.Ct. 2428, 153 
L.Ed.2d 556 (2002). We addressed the same argument 
in Pitchford and said that we have held repeatedly that 
“these cases have no application to Mississippi’s capi-
tal murder sentencing scheme.” Pitchford, 45 So.3d at 
258 (¶ 184). The indictment in Pitchford was almost 
identical to Flowers’s indictments. See id. at 257–58 
(¶ 183). The Pitchford Court provided the following re-
garding the Court’s refusal to apply Apprendi and Ring 
to the issue: 

This Court repeatedly has rejected this type 
of argument. We have held that Apprendi and 
Ring address issues wholly distinct from the 
present one, and in fact do not address indict-
ments at all. The purpose of an indictment is 
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to furnish the defendant with notice and a 
reasonable description of the charges against 
him so that he may prepare his defense. An 
indictment is required only to have a clear 
and concise statement of the elements of the 
crime with which the defendant is charged. 

Under Mississippi law, the underlying felony 
that elevates the crime to capital murder 
must be identified in the indictment along 
with the section and subsection of the statute 
under which the defendant is being charged. 
In addition, our death penalty statute clearly 
states the only aggravating circumstances 
which may be relied upon by the prosecution 
in seeking the ultimate punishment. 

When [the defendant] was charged with capi-
tal murder, he was put on notice that the 
death penalty might result, what aggravating 
factors might be used, and the mens rea 
standard that was required. 

Pitchford, 45 So.3d at 258 (¶ 184) (quoting Goff v. State, 
14 So.3d 625, 665 (¶¶ 174–77) (Miss. 2009) (citations 
omitted)). Because Flowers’s indictments provided him 
with “notice and a reasonable description of the 
charges against him so that he may prepare his de-
fense,” the issue is without merit. 
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C. Whether the trial court erred by not 
declaring Mississippi Code Section 97–
3–19(2)(e) unconstitutional and/or by 
not precluding the prosecution from 
relying on Mississippi Code Section 
99–19–101(5)(d) as an aggravating cir-
cumstance. 

 ¶ 190. Flowers claims that Mississippi Code Sec-
tion 97–3–19(2)(e) is unconstitutional because it al-
lows for an “arbitrary and capricious” application of 
the death penalty, since cases of deliberate design and 
depraved heart murder are not death penalty eligible 
when felony murder is death penalty eligible. He fur-
ther contends that the application of Mississippi Code 
Section 99–19–101(5)(d) as an aggravating factor is 
unconstitutional because the underlying felony—
armed robbery—made the case eligible for the death 
penalty. Therefore, Flowers claims that the underlying 
felony cannot also be used as an aggravating circum-
stance. We have discussed both of the issues in past 
opinions. 

 ¶ 191. In Batiste, the defendant claimed that 
Mississippi’s death-penalty scheme was unconstitu-
tional “because it [did] not allow the death penalty in 
cases of simple murder, no matter how premeditated 
or atrocious.” Batiste, 121 So.3d at 872 (¶ 181). We held 
that Batiste was not entitled to relief because “the 
death penalty in Mississippi does not violate the U.S. 
Constitution.” Id. (quoting Gillett, 56 So.3d at 525 
(¶ 168)). We also have addressed whether the underly-
ing felony may be considered an aggravating 
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circumstance, and we have held that use of the under-
lying felony as the aggravating circumstance is appro-
priate. See Manning, 735 So.2d at 350–51 (¶ 67). 
Further, the use of an underlying felony as an aggra-
vating circumstance has been upheld by the United 
States Supreme Court. See Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 
U.S. 231, 241–46, 108 S.Ct. 546, 98 L.Ed.2d 568 (1988). 
For the above reasons, the issue is without merit. 

 
D. Whether the trial court erred in per-

mitting victim-impact testimony. 

 ¶ 192. During the penalty phase, four witnesses 
provided victim-impact testimony—Roxanne Ballard, 
Bertha Tardy’s daughter; Brian Rigby, Carmen Rigby’s 
son; Kathy Permenter, Derrick Stewart’s mother; and 
Willie Golden, Robert Golden’s brother. Flowers con-
tends that the trial court erred in permitting victim-
impact testimony during the penalty phase because 
the testimony did not relate to the statutory aggravat-
ing factors. Flowers also claims that the admission of 
victim-impact testimony violated the Eighth Amend-
ment. 

 ¶ 193. Recently, in Batiste, we held that victim-
impact testimony did not violate the Eighth Amend-
ment: 

Victim impact statements are those which de-
scribe the victim’s personal characteristics, 
the emotional effect of the crimes on the vic-
tim’s family, and the family’s opinions of the 
crimes and the defendant. Edwards v. State, 
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737 So.2d 275, 291 (Miss. 1999). The United 
States Supreme Court has held that there is 
no per se bar to victim-impact testimony. 
Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 
S.Ct. 2597, 2609, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (Miss. 
1991). This testimony is admissible at the sen-
tencing phase, but not in the culpability 
phase. Havard v. State, 928 So.2d 771, 792 
(Miss. 2006). We will allow relevant victim-im-
pact testimony in narrow circumstances as is 
constitutionally permissible. Id. When the ev-
idence is proper, necessary to a development 
in the case and the true characteristics of the 
victim, and could not incite the jury, the testi-
mony is admissible. Id. (quoting Jenkins v. 
State, 607 So.2d 1171, 1183 (Miss. 1992)). . . . 
We decline to disregard the United States Su-
preme Court’s pronouncement in Payne, and 
will continue to adhere to the standard enun-
ciated above. 

Batiste, 121 So.3d at 864 (¶ 147). On several occasions, 
we have permitted victim-impact testimony that de-
scribed the impact of the victim’s death on his or her 
family. See Keller v. State, 138 So.3d 817, 865 (¶ 131) 
(Miss. 2014); Batiste, 121 So.3d at 864 (¶ 148); Havard 
v. State, 928 So.2d 771, 792 (¶ 37) (Miss. 2006); Branch 
v. State, 882 So.2d 36, 68 (¶¶ 96–97) (Miss. 2004). In 
Havard, the Court found that it was not error to admit 
the testimony of the victim’s grandmother, who stated, 
“[j]ustice means [the victim’s] life was taken, and there 
is only one way that we can find justice. . . . A life for a 
life.” Havard, 928 So.2d at 792 (¶ 36). The Court noted, 
however, that the “vast majority” of the witness’s testi-
mony “went straight to the relationships between her 
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family members, including [the victim], and the impact 
losing [the victim] had on them, all part of permissible 
testimony under our case law.” Id. at 792 (¶ 37). 

 ¶ 194. Flowers cites Berry v. State for the propo-
sition that victim-impact testimony must be relevant 
to a statutory aggravating circumstance, and that case 
does provide that victim-impact testimony is admissi-
ble “if it is necessary to develop the case, and if it is 
relevant to any of the aggravating circumstances.” 
Berry, 703 So.2d at 275–76. However, we rejected the 
same argument in Keller v. State. In Keller, the defend-
ant cited Berry and argued that victim-impact testi-
mony was not permissible when “it did not relate to 
any of the aggravating factors.” Keller, 138 So.3d at 865 
(¶ 129). The testimony in Keller described “the emo-
tional effect of the crime on the victim’s son and his 
opinion of the crime.” Id. at 865 (¶ 131). Despite the 
statement in Berry, we held that the testimony was 
“permissible under the Court’s precedent on victim-im-
pact statements.” Id. 

 ¶ 195. In today’s case, the victim-impact testi-
mony was consistent with the testimony presented in 
Keller and Havard. At the sentencing phase, Roxanne 
Ballard testified about her relationship with her 
mother and the effect her mother’s death had on her 
life. Likewise, Brian Rigby, Kathy Permenter, and Wil-
lie Golden testified about the impact their family mem-
bers’ deaths had on them and their families. The 
above-described type of victim-impact testimony is 
permissible, and the issue is without merit. 
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XII. Whether the death sentence in the in-
stant matter is constitutionally and stat-
utorily disproportionate. 

 ¶ 196. Mississippi Code Section 99–19–105(3) 
requires the Court to determine “[w]hether the sen-
tence of death is excessive or disproportionate to the 
penalty imposed in similar cases, considering both the 
crime and the defendant.” Miss. Code Ann. § 99–19–
105(3) (Rev. 2015). The Court consistently has “upheld 
the death penalty in cases involving capital murders 
committed during the commission of a robbery.” Ba-
tiste, 121 So. 3d at 873 (¶ 183) (citing Gillett, 56 So.3d 
at 524; Fulgham, 46 So.3d at 323; Goff, 14 So.3d at 650; 
Chamberlin v. State, 989 So.2d 320, 345 (Miss. 2008); 
Doss v. State, 709 So.2d 369, 401 (Miss. 1997); Chase v. 
State, 645 So.2d 829, 836–37 (Miss. 1994)). Further, the 
Court has upheld the imposition of the death penalty 
in cases involving multiple victims. See Manning, 765 
So.2d at 522 (¶ 17). As such, the issue is without merit. 

 
XIII. Whether the Court should set aside its 

prior order denying Flowers’s motion for 
remand and leave to file supplemental 
motion for new trial. 

 ¶ 197. In May 2012, Flowers filed a motion for 
remand and leave to file supplemental motion for new 
trial on the basis that the State failed to disclose infor-
mation relating to the credibility of one of its witnesses, 
Patricia Hallmon Sullivan Odom. Approximately four 
months prior to the start of Flowers’s sixth trial, a fed-
eral grand jury indicted Odom for tax fraud. Odom’s 
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trial was in September 2010—three months after 
Flowers’s trial. Flowers contends that the State should 
have disclosed Odom’s indictment. Flowers’s motion 
was based on the United States Supreme Court’s hold-
ing in Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S.Ct. 
1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), “that the suppression by 
the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused 
upon request violates due process where the evidence 
is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespec-
tive of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution.” 
In response to Flowers’s motion, the State claimed that 
the issue should not be presented to the Court through 
motion or direct appeal because the issue was not pre-
sented to the trial court. The State also submitted Dis-
trict Attorney Doug Evans’s affidavit, which provided 
that he was not aware of Odom’s indictment until after 
Flowers’s trial. The Court denied Flowers’s motion. Be-
cause the issue was not presented to the trial court, it 
is not proper on appeal. 

 
XIV. Whether the cumulative effect of the er-

rors mandates reversal of the verdict 
and/or the sentence of death entered pur-
suant to it. 

 ¶ 198. Flowers claims that, even if the Court has 
doubts about the harm of any one error in isolation, the 
cumulative effect of the errors warrants reversal. Cer-
tainly, the Court often has applied the cumulative-er-
ror doctrine in capital cases where, “although no error, 
standing alone, requires reversal, the aggregate effect 
of various errors may create such an atmosphere of 
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bias, passion[,] and prejudice that they effectively deny 
the defendant a fundamentally fair trial.” Goff, 14 
So.3d at 672 (¶ 210) (citation omitted). That is not the 
case here. We have thoroughly reviewed the briefs, ar-
guments, record, and trial transcript, and we have de-
termined that each issue raised by Flowers is without 
merit. Therefore, as there are no individual errors, 
there is no cumulative error. 

 
Conclusion 

 ¶ 199. Each issue raised by Flowers is without 
merit. Flowers’s four convictions for capital murder 
and sentences to death were properly decided by the 
jury, and we affirm. 

 ¶ 200. AFFIRMED. 

 RANDOLPH, P.J., MAXWELL, BEAM AND 
CHAMBERLIN, JJ., CONCUR. WALLER, C.J., DIS-
SENTS WITH SEPARATE WRITTEN OPINION 
JOINED BY KITCHENS, P.J., AND ISHEE, J. KING, 
J., DISSENTS WITH SEPARATE WRITTEN OPIN-
ION JOINED BY KITCHENS, P.J.; WALLER, C.J., 
JOINS IN PART. 

 WALLER, CHIEF JUSTICE, DISSENTING: 

 ¶ 201. Because the prosecution’s mischaracteri-
zations of the evidence during closing arguments af-
fected Flowers’s fundamental right to a fair trial, I 
respectfully dissent. 
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 ¶ 202. Prosecutors are afforded the right to ar-
gue facts that are in evidence. Henton v. State, 752 
So.2d 406, 409 (¶ 11) (Miss. 1999). “However, arguing 
statements of fact that are not in evidence or neces-
sarily inferable from it which are prejudicial to the de-
fendant is error.” Dancer v. State, 721 So.2d 583, 589 
(¶ 31) (Miss. 1998). As discussed by Justice King, the 
prosecution in this case mischaracterized evidence 
during closing arguments. Two of those misstate-
ments—the timing of Sam Jones’s arrival at Tardy’s 
and Flowers’s motive—the prosecution similarly used 
in Flowers II, where we found reversible error. Flowers 
v. State, 842 So.2d 531, 555 (¶ 71) (Miss. 2003) (Flowers 
II). 

 ¶ 203. While it is true that fourteen prosecuto-
rial misstatements were alleged in Flowers II as op-
posed to only four misstatements in the case sub 
judice, this Court uses heightened scrutiny when the 
death sentence is imposed. Cox v. State, 183 So.3d 36, 
44 (¶ 17) (Miss. 2015). “This higher level of scrutiny re-
quires that all doubts be resolved in favor of the ac-
cused because ‘what may be harmless error in a case 
with less at stake becomes reversible error when  
the penalty is death.’ ” Bennett v. State, 933 So.2d 930, 
939 (¶ 17) (Miss. 2006) (citations omitted). Applying 
heightened scrutiny, I find plain error in the prosecu-
tion’s mischaracterizations, particularly given our ad-
monishments in Flowers II. Therefore, I would reverse 
the judgment in this case and remand for a new trial. 
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 KITCHENS, P.J., AND ISHEE, J., JOIN THIS 
OPINION. 

 KING, JUSTICE, DISSENTING: 

 ¶ 204. In two previous direct appeals, this Court 
has reversed Flowers’s conviction and death sentence 
as a result of prosecutorial misconduct. In Flowers v. 
State, 842 So.2d 531 (Miss. 2003) (Flowers II), the pros-
ecution’s argument of facts not in evidence resulted in 
reversal. Finding that a Batson8 violation had oc-
curred, this Court reversed and remanded Flowers v. 
State, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007) (Flowers III), for a 
new trial. Despite the same errors occurring in the 
trial that is the subject of this appeal, the Majority, in 
a stark departure from this Court’s previous Flowers 
opinions, found that Flowers’s conviction and death 
sentence should be affirmed. The United States Su-
preme Court then granted Flowers’s petition for a writ 
of certiorari, vacated our judgment, and remanded the 
case (a “GVR”) to this Court for further consideration. 
The United States Supreme Court finds that a GVR is 
potentially appropriate 

[w]here intervening developments, or recent 
developments that we have reason to believe 
the court below did not fully consider, reveal a 
reasonable probability that the decision below 
rests upon a premise that the lower court 
would reject if given the opportunity for fur-
ther consideration, and where it appears that 

 
 8 Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 89, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 
L.Ed.2d 69 (1986). 



451 

 

such a redetermination may determine the ul-
timate outcome of the litigation[.] 

Lawrence on Behalf of Lawrence v. Chater, 516 U.S. 
163, 167, 116 S.Ct. 604, 133 L.Ed.2d 545 (1996) (em-
phasis added). To put it simply, the United States Su-
preme Court issued a GVR in this case because a 
majority of its members believed that a reasonable 
probability exists that this Court got it wrong on the 
first try. Yet, this Court ignores that strong implication 
and makes the same erroneous decision on remand. 
Because the errors in this case, particularly the denial 
of Flowers’s Batson claims highlighted by the United 
States Supreme Court, resulted in Flowers being de-
nied his right to a fair trial, I dissent. 

 
I. Prosecution’s Argument of Facts Not in 

Evidence 

 ¶ 205. Three instances of the prosecution argu-
ing facts not in evidence appear in today’s case: (1) the 
prosecution misstated the time Sam Jones discovered 
the victims’ bodies at Tardy’s; (2) the prosecution 
stated an unsupported basis for Flowers’s alleged mo-
tive; and (3) the prosecution incorrectly described 
Porky Collins’s reaction to the photo arrays. In Flowers 
II, 842 So.2d at 550, the prosecution’s misstatement of 
facts during closing argument was one basis, inter alia, 
for this Court’s reversal. In that appeal, Flowers cited 
approximately fourteen alleged misstatements. Id. at 
555. This Court found that the following misstate-
ments by the prosecutor resulted in an unfair trial: 
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(1) that defense witnesses tried to coerce the State’s 
witnesses to lie; (2) that Sam Jones received a call at 
9:30 a.m. from Bertha Tardy asking him to come to the 
store; and (3) that Flowers “was mad” about losing his 
job and having his pay docked. Id. at 555–56. 

 ¶ 206. The statements that resulted in this 
Court reversing Flowers’s conviction and death sen-
tence in Flowers II are notably similar to the state-
ments raised in today’s case. While this repetition of 
prosecutorial misconduct is alarming, the Majority’s 
approval of the same is even more startling. Courts 
have long recognized—and reasonably feared—that 
misconduct during closing argument may become com-
monplace in our trial courts. Despite regular admon-
ishments, such misconduct still occurs: 

That despite our consistent warnings to the 
Government we should still be called upon to 
admonish against such conduct is reprehensi-
ble per se because it constitutes a disregard 
for our directives. But additionally it is partic-
ularly pernicious because it results in an un-
necessary waste of judicial resources, both at 
the trial and appellate level, by diversion and 
attention to review of what now should be un-
derstood to be totally unacceptable conduct by 
those who lay claim to representing the Gov-
ernment. . . .  

U.S. v. Maccini, 721 F.2d 840, 846 (1st Cir. 1983). The 
Majority in today’s case, by endorsing the prosecutor’s 
misstatements—the same misstatements which war-
ranted reversal in Flowers II—takes Mississippi one 
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step closer to having misrepresentation of the facts 
presented at trial commonplace in our trial courts. 

 
A. Sam Jones’s Testimony Regarding His 

Arrival at Tardy’s 

 ¶ 207. Sam Jones died prior to Flowers’s 2010 
trial, and his testimony from Flowers’s 2007 trial was 
read into evidence. Flowers claims that the State mis-
represented Jones’s testimony regarding the timeline 
of events the morning of the murders. Jones testified 
as follows: 

A. Well, [Bertha Tardy] called me and asked 
me—I had promised her I would come 
down and help them load out a truck and 
go on a delivery. And she called me to ask 
me about was I coming down there. And I 
told her that I was. And then about, that 
was about 15 minutes after 9:00, I think, 
when she called, somewhere along in 
there. 

Q. About what time did you get to the store 
that morning, Mr. Jones? 

. . . .  

A. I got to the store; it was before—it was 
right at, between 9:15 and 9:30. 

Q. Okay. 

A. I will put it like that. It wasn’t 9:30. 

Q. Okay. You got to the store between 9:15 or 
right around that time? 
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A. Yes. 

 Although Jones testified that he arrived at Tardy’s 
between 9:15 and 9:30 a.m., the State attempted to 
question Jones later about the timeline and misstated 
that he arrived closer to 10:00 a.m.: 

Q. Okay. And I think—I might have misled 
you a little bit. It was, when you got to the 
store, that was going to be closer on up to 10 
o’clock, wasn’t it? 

Flowers’s Counsel: Object to leading, Your 
Honor. 

Court: Overruled. 

Jones never responded to this question. 

 ¶ 208. In its closing argument, the State dis-
cussed the timeline for the morning of the murders and 
apparently put the timeline on some type of marker 
board. During the timeline discussion, the prosecution 
stated: “Mr. Sam Jones came into the store slightly af-
ter 10:00 on the morning of the 16th and discovered 
the bodies.” Flowers did not object to this statement at 
closing argument. 

 ¶ 209. In Flowers II, 842 So.2d at 511, this Court 
addressed whether this same issue was procedurally 
barred by lack of contemporaneous objection. This 
Court applied plain error to the issue, and found that 
the prosecution’s misstatements warranted reversal. 
Id. “The plain error doctrine requires that there be an 
error and that the error must have resulted in a man-
ifest miscarriage of justice.” Williams v. State, 794 
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So.2d 181, 187 (Miss. 2001) (citing Gray v. State, 549 
So.2d 1316, 1321 (Miss. 1989)), overruled on other 
grounds by Foster v. State, 148 So.3d 1012 (Miss. 2014). 

 ¶ 210. In Flowers II, 842 So.2d at 555, the prose-
cution stated that Sam Jones had testified that Bertha 
Tardy had called him at 9:30 a.m. Reviewing this state-
ment, this Court stated: 

After a thorough examination of the record, it 
is clear from Jones’s testimony that he testi-
fied he arrived at Tardy’s at 9:30. He never 
once stated he was called at 9:30 on the morn-
ing of July 16, but he did testify he arrived at 
the store around 9:30. On direct examination, 
the State never questioned Jones about a spe-
cific time. He only stated he received a call 
from Mrs. Tardy on the morning of July 16. On 
cross-examination, Jones was asked what 
time he arrived at Tardy’s, and he answered it 
was around 9:30. 

Id. at 556. This Court then found that “[t]he cumula-
tive effect of the State’s repeated instances of arguing 
facts not in evidence was to deny Flowers his right to 
a fair trial.” Id. 

 ¶ 211. Flowers claims that the statement in to-
day’s case prejudiced him by essentially skewing the 
timeline in the State’s favor. Porky Collins and Clem-
mie Flemming both testified that they saw Flowers 
near Tardy’s around 10:00 a.m. Flowers claims that if 
Jones’s testimony had been accurately described—that 
he arrived at the store between 9:15 and 9:30—the 
question of what Flowers was doing so close to the 
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scene of a murder thirty to forty-five minutes after the 
murders could have occurred would have been raised 
in the jurors’ minds. 

 ¶ 212. There is no doubt that the prosecutor’s 
statement is not supported by Sam Jones’s testimony 
and that there is no direct evidence supporting the con-
tention that Jones arrived at Tardy’s at 10:00 a.m. The 
prosecution’s statement is not based on facts and prej-
udiced Flowers by deliberately painting an incorrect 
picture for the jury of the events surrounding the dis-
covery of the murders—this same picture was painted 
in Flowers II. 

 
B. Flowers’s Motive 

 ¶ 213. The second misstatement Flowers cites 
relates to his alleged motive to commit the murders. 
Similar to Sam Jones’s testimony and the timeline de-
scribed above, misstatements related to Flowers’s mo-
tive were another basis for this Court’s reversal in 
Flowers II, 842 So.2d at 556. In Flowers II, 842 So.2d 
at 555–56, this Court found that the prosecution’s 
statement that Flowers “was mad” as a result of losing 
his employment with Tardy’s was a misstatement of 
the facts: 

[T]he prosecutor argued to the jury that [Rob-
ert] Campbell had testified that Flowers was 
mad because Mrs. Tardy had terminated his 
employment and was holding money out of his 
paycheck to cover the damaged batteries. De-
fense counsel objected on the basis that the 
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prosecutor was mischaracterizing Campbell’s 
testimony, and when the prosecutor responded 
that he was quoting verbatim from his notes, 
the trial court overruled the defense objection. 
. . . After a thorough examination of Camp-
bell’s testimony, it is clear Campbell never tes-
tified Flowers was upset at Mrs. Tardy. The 
State never questioned Campbell about Flow-
ers’s feelings toward Tardy or about any 
money. On redirect, Campbell was asked if 
Flowers ever mentioned anything was wrong 
with Mrs. Tardy, and Campbell stated Flowers 
never mentioned anything to him. 

Id. 

 ¶ 214. In today’s appeal, Flowers claims that the 
following statement by the prosecutor was not based 
on facts in evidence: 

The investigators learned pretty quickly 
when they asked who in the world could have 
had some reason, some motive, some anything 
to attack four people like this. 

Have you had anybody that’s had beef 
with the store? Just one. Well, that doesn’t 
mean he did this though, does it? No. But you 
check that out. You look at him. And in the 
course of deciding what, if anything, Curtis 
Flowers had to do with this crime. 

 Flowers claims that no evidence was presented at 
trial supporting the contention that he was angry as a 
result of his termination. In response, the State argues 
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that the following supports the contention that Flow-
ers “had beef ” with Tardy’s: 

1. Flowers losing his job days prior to the 
murders. 

2. Bertha Tardy deducting the cost of dam-
aged inventory from Flowers’s paycheck. 

3. Police Chief John Johnson’s testimony 
that the Tardy family considered Flowers a 
threat: 

Q. Okay. How did Curtis Flowers be-
come a suspect by then, by 6:30? 

A. I knew that the Tardy family had 
considered Curtis a threat and that 
they were concerned about their 
safety dealing with him. 

4. Investigator Jack Matthew’s testimony 
about employees who had been fired from 
Tardy’s: 

Q. You asked who else had worked there 
the last couple of years and those 
kind of things? 

A. Well, we asked if there was anybody 
that they’d had any problem with or 
anybody that had been fired from 
there, and that was the—Curtis was 
the only one. 
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5. Doyle Simpson’s testimony that Flowers 
had “problems” with Tardy’s: 

Q. Okay. Did you know anything about 
Curtis having any problems with 
Tardy Furniture. 

A. I had heard about it. 

 ¶ 215. This evidence cited by the State supports 
the contention that Tardy’s employees were concerned 
about Flowers. But the feelings and perceptions of 
Tardy’s employees must be distinguished from Flow-
ers’s perception. The statements cited by the State do 
not establish that Flowers had ill will toward Tardy’s 
employees. Further, Doyle Simpson’s testimony is too 
vague to support a statement that Flowers “had beef ” 
with the store. “Problems” could easily refer to the 
firing itself or the damaged inventory. The State’s 
contention that Flowers “had beef ” with Tardy’s is un-
supported by the facts. As this Court recognized in 
Flowers II, this factually unsupported statement re-
sulted in Flowers having an unfair trial. 

 
C. Porky Collins’s Response to Photo Ar-

rays 

 ¶ 216. Next, Flowers claims that the prosecutor 
misrepresented Porky Collins’s response to the first 
photo array—the array that contained a photograph of 
Doyle Simpson. Flowers claims that this misrepresen-
tation was particularly prejudicial because part of 
his defense was based on the alternative theory that 
Doyle Simpson was the perpetrator. Collins saw two 
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African-American men arguing outside Tardy’s the 
morning of the murders. When Collins testified, he 
stated that he did not remember if he identified Simp-
son as one of the men standing outside Tardy’s. The 
notes taken during the photo arrays state that Collins 
had the following reaction to the array containing 
Simpson’s photo: 

# 1 and # 3 resembles, but hairline was fur-
ther back 

# 6 pointed to Simpson, said hairline like this, 
may have appeared a little darker. 

“But it looks like him.” 

“Face was also same shape, round like this.” 

“Unable to be positive.” 

 Investigator Wayne Miller testified that Collins 
did point out Simpson during the photo array: 

Q. All right. So he did actually point out Mr. 
Simpson here as somebody who was—
looks like the person he’d seen; is that a 
fair characterization? 

A. Right. 

 ¶ 217. The State presented the following closing 
argument related to Collins’s identifications: 

When Porky found out that some people had 
been murdered in front of Tardy’s, he told 
James Taylor Williams. He said I saw some-
thing I think y’all ought to know about. He 
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said I think I can identify that guy if I see him 
again. Now, here’s the interesting thing about 
Mr. Porky Collins. Porky didn’t know Curtis. 
Never claims to have ever seen him before. 
Didn’t know him. Didn’t know those other 
people, as far as them having seen him. Porky 
says I can identify him. 

I’m going to refer to this some more in a mi-
nute but I just want you to—you’ve seen 
these. We had them passed to y’all. Here are 
two line-ups. These line-ups were shown to 
Porky at the same setting. First was this one 
that has Doyle Simpson’s picture on it. Be-
cause later on when they did this line-up, they 
already knew that the gun came out of Doyle’s 
car. And so they gave this thing to Porky first 
and said is the guy that you saw in front of 
Tardy’s in this group. 

Now, if he was going to make a misidentifica-
tion, ladies and gentlemen, that would have 
been the perfect time for him to pick one of 
these guys and say yeah, there he is right 
there. But you know what? Porky did not mis-
identify anybody. He said the guy ain’t 
there. They took another six photographs 
and said look at this second set. He said that’s 
him right there. You heard Mr. Miller talk 
about Porky, said he was positive. He made a 
positive identification. 

Now, why is Porky’s i.d.—Porky doesn’t know 
him. Porky wasn’t able to say yeah, I know 
him. When he saw the photograph of Curtis 
Flowers, he pointed him out. So you have got 
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two different kinds of identifications and they 
agree. You’ve got identification by all these 
witnesses who knew him, Porky, who didn’t 
know him, and they both agree. And he was 
offered—Porky was offered a prime chance to 
mess up. The perfect chance to make a mis-
take. He almost—it didn’t develop out that 
way it, but it was almost like a trick. 

You know, see if he is in there. No, he is 
not. Is he in the second group? Yeah. That’s 
him right there. So that’s a pretty strong iden-
tification, isn’t it? 

 ¶ 218. While the State correctly characterized 
Collins’s identification of Flowers in the second photo 
array, the State deliberately failed to recognize Col-
lins’s statement that Simpson’s photograph in the first 
array “looks like” a man he saw outside of Tardy’s and 
that he was “unable to be positive.” The State’s argu-
ment that Collins stated “the guy ain’t there” was not 
an accurate representation of Collins’s identification. 
Because Flowers’s defense was based, in part, on the 
argument that Doyle Simpson was a likely suspect for 
the murders, the State’s misstatement regarding Col-
lins’s identification of Simpson prejudiced Flowers. 

 ¶ 219. As in Flowers II, the prosecution’s re-
peated argument of facts not in evidence in today’s 
case prejudiced Flowers and denied him his right to a 
fair trial. Under this Court’s heightened review of 
death penalty cases, these misstatements—standing 
alone—should be enough to warrant reversal. See Ful-
gham v. State, 46 So.3d 315, 322 (Miss. 2010) (“What 
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may be harmless error in a case with less at stake be-
comes reversible error when the penalty is death.”). 
This Court’s prior admonishment of essentially the 
same statements in Flowers II bolsters a finding of re-
versal. See U.S. v. Drummond, 481 F.2d 62, 62 (2d Cir. 
1973) (“Because of the repeated misbehavior of this 
prosecutor in this and prior cases, we feel compelled to 
reverse the decision of the trial court on the sole 
ground of prosecutorial misconduct.”). 

 
II. Jury Selection Process 

 ¶ 220. Flowers claims that the State violated the 
Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amend-
ment when it struck five African-American jurors after 
utilizing disparate questioning and citing pretextual 
reasons. “The Constitution forbids striking even a sin-
gle prospective juror for a discriminatory purpose.” 
Foster v. Chatman, ___ U.S. ___, 136 S.Ct. 1737, 1747, 
195 L.Ed.2d 1 (2016) (internal quotations omitted). Be-
cause a review of the record in today’s case reveals that 
a Batson violation did occur, I dissent. 

 ¶ 221. “It is well known that prejudices often ex-
ist against particular classes in the community, which 
sway the judgment of jurors, and which, therefore, op-
erate in some cases to deny to persons of those classes 
the full protection which others enjoy.” Strauder v. West 
Virginia, 100 U.S. 303, 309, 25 L.Ed. 664 (1880), abro-
gated on other grounds by Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 
U.S. 522, 95 S.Ct. 692, 42 L.Ed.2d 690 (1975). Racial 
prejudice in the prosecution’s jury selection results in 
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“state-sponsored group stereotypes rooted in, and re-
flective of, historical prejudice.” J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel 
T.B., 511 U.S. 127, 128, 114 S.Ct. 1419, 128 L.Ed.2d 89 
(1994). Thus, for years, courts have held that racial dis-
crimination by the State during the jury selection pro-
cess violated the Equal Protection Clause. Miller-El v. 
Dretke, 545 U.S. 231, 125 S.Ct. 2317, 162 L.Ed.2d 196 
(2005) (quoting Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 44, 
112 S.Ct. 2348, 120 L.Ed.2d 33 (1992)). 

 ¶ 222. In an effort to remedy the prejudices ex-
isting in jury selections, the United States Supreme 
Court has, over the years, developed various standards 
for establishing purposeful discrimination. In Swain v. 
Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S.Ct. 824, 13 L.Ed.2d 759 
(1965), overruled by Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 
106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986), the Court at-
tempted to regulate purposeful discrimination through 
presuming the legitimacy of prosecutors’ strikes except 
in the case of longstanding patterns of discrimina-
tion—when in case after case no African Americans 
served on juries, then “giving even the widest leeway 
to the operation of irrational but trial-related suspi-
cions and antagonisms, it would appear that the pur-
poses of the peremptory challenge [were] being 
perverted.” 

 ¶ 223. Swain’s approach did little to remedy the 
problem of purposeful discrimination in jury selection. 
Thus, in Batson, the United States Supreme Court 
“held that a defendant could make out a prima facie 
case of discriminatory jury selection by ‘the totality of 
the relevant facts’ about a prosecutor’s conduct during 
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the defendant’s own trial.” Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 239, 
125 S.Ct. 2317 (quoting Batson, 476 U.S. at 94, 106 
S.Ct. 1712). The State must then come forward with 
race neutral bases for the peremptory strikes. Batson, 
476 U.S. at 97, 106 S.Ct. 1712. “The trial court then has 
the duty to determine if the defendant has established 
purposeful discrimination.” Id. at 98, 106 S.Ct. 1712. 

 ¶ 224. Batson, however, is not without flaws. 
Thus, in Miller-El, the United States Supreme Court 
refocused on all of the relevant circumstances of the 
case, rather than just the proffered race-neutral bases 
provided by the State: 

Although the move from Swain to Batson left 
a defendant free to challenge the prosecution 
without having to cast Swain ‘s wide net, the 
net was not entirely consigned to history, for 
Batson’s individualized focus came with a 
weakness of its own owing to its very empha-
sis on the particular reasons a prosecutor 
might give. If any facially neutral reason suf-
ficed to answer a Batson challenge, then Bat-
son would not amount to much more than 
Swain. Some stated reasons are false, and alt-
hough some false reasons are shown up 
within the four corners of a given case, some-
times a court may not be sure unless it looks 
beyond the case at hand. Hence Batson’s ex-
planation that a defendant may rely on “all 
relevant circumstances” to raise an inference 
of purposeful discrimination. 

Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 239–40, 125 S.Ct. 2317 (citing 
Batson, 476 U.S. at 96–97, 106 S.Ct. 1712). 
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 ¶ 225. Thus, in finding that a Batson violation 
occurred in today’s case, I consider all of the relevant 
circumstances in Flowers’s case. 

 
A. History of Flowers’s Case 

 ¶ 226. In Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 935, this 
Court found as “strong a prima facie case of racial dis-
crimination as we have ever seen in the context of a 
Batson challenge.” In Flowers III, the State exercised 
all twelve of its peremptory strikes on African Ameri-
cans and all three of its strikes of alternate jurors on 
African Americans. After reviewing the individual 
strikes in the case, this Court found that the State 
engaged in purposeful discrimination during jury se-
lection. Id. at 939. Thus, the Court reversed and re-
manded for a new trial on this basis. Id. The same 
prosecutor who this Court found had engaged in pur-
poseful discrimination in Flowers III prosecuted the 
trial before this Court on appeal today. On its own, 
this fact is not dispositive of a finding of racial discrim-
ination. This history, however, cannot be ignored and is 
part of the relevant circumstances that must be con-
sidered in this case. 

 ¶ 227. In Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 253, 125 S.Ct. 
2317, the United States Supreme Court considered the 
“widely known evidence of the general policy of the 
Dallas County District Attorney’s Office to exclude 
black venire members from juries at the time [the de-
fendant’s] jury was selected.” If the history of discrim-
ination by a district attorney’s office is a permissible 
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consideration under Batson, surely the history of the 
same prosecutor in the retrial of the same case is a le-
gitimate consideration. To fail to consider this history 
is to rebuff Batson’s direction that “all relevant circum-
stances” must be considered. Batson, 476 U.S. at 96–
97, 106 S.Ct. 1712; Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 239–40, 125 
S.Ct. 2317. 

 
B. Disparate Treatment—The Numbers 

 ¶ 228. Like the history of today’s case, a review 
of the statistics relating to the prosecutor’s use of per-
emptory strikes is not, standing alone, dispositive of 
the Batson inquiry. These numbers, however, reveal a 
clear pattern of disparate treatment between white 
and African-American venire members. In today’s case, 
a special venire of 600 citizens was drawn. The original 
venire consisted of forty-two percent African Ameri-
cans. After the jury qualification and initial for-cause 
challenges, the venire consisted of twenty-eight percent 
African Americans. Ultimately, one African American 
served as a juror and one African American served as 
an alternate juror. Despite the initial venire consisting 
of forty-two percent African Americans, the jury that 
convicted and sentenced Flowers consisted of eight 
percent African Americans. 

 ¶ 229. An analysis of the number and type of 
questions asked by the prosecutor further reveals a 
pattern of disparate treatment. During individual voir 
dire, the prosecutor asked white jurors an average 
of approximately three questions. African-American 
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jurors, however, were asked approximately ten ques-
tions each by the prosecutor. 

 ¶ 230. Further, in what appears to be mere lip 
service to the voir dire process, when questioning most 
white jurors during individual voir dire, the prosecutor 
essentially repeated questions that the trial court had 
just asked. The trial court asked each juror standard 
death-penalty-qualification questions. The prosecutor 
would then—in substance—ask the same questions 
and then hand the juror off to be questioned by the de-
fense. The prosecutor asked only nine percent of white 
jurors something beyond these duplicated questions. 

 ¶ 231. In a stark contrast, the prosecution asked 
sixty-three percent of African Americans questions 
outside the standard death-penalty-qualification ques-
tions. As an example, fifty-five percent of African-
American jurors who had some kind of connection to 
the Flowers family (through work, the community, or 
family) were asked questions by the prosecutor about 
this connection. Although five white jurors had similar 
connections to the Flowers family (through work and 
the community), the prosecutor failed to ask any ques-
tions about these connections. 

 ¶ 232. As noted in Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 
322, 123 S.Ct. 1029, 154 L.Ed.2d 931 (2003), statistical 
analysis can raise a question as to whether race influ-
enced the jury selection process. The numbers de-
scribed above are too disparate to be explained away 
or categorized as mere happenstance. 
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C. Individual Jurors 

 ¶ 233. The pattern of disparate treatment is fur-
ther revealed when comparing the treatment of indi-
vidual jurors. See Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 921 (citing 
Manning, 765 So.2d at 519) (A side-by-side comparison 
of jurors is helpful to determine whether purposeful 
discrimination existed.). Explanations by the prosecu-
tion are difficult to credit where the State accepted 
white jurors with the same traits it used to strike black 
jurors. Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1750. 

 
1. Carolyn Wright 

 ¶ 234. The State exercised one of its peremptory 
strikes on Carolyn Wright for the following reasons: (1) 
she knew several of the defense witnesses; (2) she was 
sued by Tardy’s for an overdue account; and (3) she 
used to work with Flowers’s father, Archie Flowers, Sr. 
During the Batson hearing, Flowers rebutted the 
State’s bases for its peremptory strike first by noting 
that Pamela Chesteen, Harold Waller, and Bobby 
Lester all had a significant number of acquaintances 
involved in the case. Flowers responded to the fact that 
Tardy’s had sued Wright by noting that the State had 
not questioned white jurors regarding their accounts 
at Tardy’s. Finally, Flowers rebutted the basis relating 
to Wright’s working relationship with Flowers’s family 
by comparing Wright to Chesteen, who was a bank 
teller at a bank where the members of the Flowers 
family were customers. 
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 ¶ 235. Finding that the State’s reasons for strik-
ing Wright were race-neutral, the trial court specifi-
cally noted that all jurors were asked by the court 
during group voir dire if they had accounts with 
Tardy’s and whether they had been sued by Tardy’s. 
The court found that this basis was race neutral be-
cause none of the white venire members reported 
that they had been sued by Tardy’s. The trial court 
found that Wright’s working relationship with Archie 
Flowers was distinguishable from the professional re-
lationship Chesteen had with the Flowers family. Spe-
cifically, the court stated that the Winona Walmart was 
a “relatively small” Walmart and seemed to imply that 
Wright had a close relationship with Archie Flowers 
because of the small size of the store. The trial court 
also stated that no white jurors had reported working 
at Walmart with Archie Flowers. The trial court 
summed up its finding by stating: 

If the only reason the State offered was that 
she knows some of these defense witnesses, 
then there might be something there. But the 
fact is knowing these defense witnesses that 
you’re intending to call, plus the fact that 
Tardy’s had to sue her, plus the fact that she 
worked with Archie, in my mind, creates race-
neutral reasons for striking her. 

 Each of the State’s reasons for the peremptory 
strike is analyzed below. 

   



471 

 

Wright’s Relationships with 
Persons Involved in the Case 

 ¶ 236. In sum, Carolyn Wright had some type of 
connection to thirty-four people involved in Flowers’s 
case. Flowers compares Wright to Chesteen, who knew 
thirty-one people involved in Flowers’s case; Waller, 
who knew eighteen people involved in the case; and 
Lester, who knew twenty-seven people involved in the 
case. 

 ¶ 237. Similar to Wright, Chesteen, Waller, and 
Lester all had a significant number of relationships 
with witnesses and persons involved with the case. 
One indicium of pretext this Court considers is “the 
presence of unchallenged jurors of the opposite race 
who share the characteristic given as the basis for the 
challenge.” Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 917 (quoting Man-
ning, 765 So.2d at 519). Indeed, “ ‘[i]f a prosecutor’s 
proffered reason for striking a black panelist applies 
just as well to an otherwise-similar nonblack [panelist] 
who is permitted to serve, that is evidence tending to 
prove purposeful discrimination.’ ” Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 
1754 (quoting Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 241, 125 S.Ct. 
2317). As such, this basis is suspect. 

 ¶ 238. Flowers also claims that the State mis-
characterized Wright’s relationships with Flowers’s 
family. Specifically, Flowers points out that the State 
claimed that Wright knew Flowers’s sister, Sherita 
Baskin. Wright, however, never indicated that she 
knew Baskin. The State does not address this in its 
brief. This one statement could have simply been a slip 
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of the tongue. However, “lack of support in the record 
for the reason given for a peremptory strike has been 
identified as an indicator of pretext.” Flowers III, 947 
So.2d at 924 (citing Manning, 765 So.2d at 519). Foster 
emphasized this notion, noting that the prosecutor’s 
“misrepresentations of the record” constituted evi-
dence that a strike was motivated in substantial part 
by discriminatory intent. Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1754. 

 
Wright’s Litigation with Tardy’s 

 ¶ 239. Flowers claims that the State mischarac-
terized Wright’s litigation with Tardy’s by claiming 
that her wages had been garnished as a result of the 
litigation. Nothing in the record supports the conten-
tion that Wright’s wages were garnished. The only 
statements Wright made regarding the actual litiga-
tion were that she was sued, but that “it was paid off.” 
Wright also stated that her involvement with the liti-
gation would not affect her if she were selected as a 
juror. During the Batson hearing, the State produced a 
copy of the judgment in Wright’s case, and Flowers’s 
counsel asked if a garnishment order was attached. 
The trial court did not directly respond to this ques-
tion, but instead stated that “it’s an abstract of justice 
court where she was sued.” Because there is no evi-
dence that Wright’s wages were garnished, the State 
did mischaracterize its basis for the peremptory strike. 
Further, unlike the misstatement discussed above re-
lating to Wright’s acquaintance with Sherita Baskin, 
the statement that Wright had her wages garnished 
seems to go directly to reasoning for the State’s 
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strike—that Wright would have some sort of ill will to-
ward Tardy’s as a result of her wages being garnished. 
It is easy to imagine that litigation which ends in 
friendly terms—for example, a settlement—might re-
sult in the parties having different feelings toward one 
another as opposed to a suit which results in garnished 
wages. As such, the State’s unsupported characteriza-
tion of the lawsuit is problematic. See Flowers III, 947 
So.2d at 924 (citing Manning, 765 So.2d at 519); Foster, 
136 S.Ct. at 1754. 

 
Wright’s Working Relationship with Archie Flowers, Sr. 

 ¶ 240. Wright worked with Flowers’s father, 
Archie Flowers, Sr., at Walmart; and on its face, this 
basis seems to be race-neutral. See Manning, 735 So.2d 
at 340 (This Court “has condoned a peremptory chal-
lenge against a juror who was acquainted with the de-
fendant’s family.”). However, a review of the record 
reveals that this basis may have been pretextual. Alt-
hough the State cited Wright’s working relationship 
with Archie Flowers as a basis for its strike, the State 
made no effort during voir dire to question Wright 
about the working relationship beyond a general ques-
tion as to whether the relationship would affect her 
ability to serve as a juror. One could easily assume that 
the two worked in different departments and during 
different shifts. Further, Wright stated during group 
voir dire that she was unaware of whether Archie 
Flowers still worked at Walmart or if he had retired. 
This supports an inference that Wright and Flowers 
did not have a close working relationship. The lack of 
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questioning related to this basis is suspect. See Miller-
El, 125 S.Ct. at 2328 (failing to conduct meaningful 
voir dire on subject with which State is allegedly con-
cerned suggests that “explanation is a sham and a pre-
text for discrimination”). 

 ¶ 241. The questionable nature of the State’s 
reason is compounded by its failure to strike Pamela 
Chesteen. Chesteen worked at a local bank in Winona 
and stated that she knew Archie Flowers, Sr., Lola 
Flowers, and Flowers’s sisters from her work at the 
bank. Although the coworker relationship and bank-
employee/customer relationship are not exactly com-
parable, the concern relating to the influence such re-
lationships would have on a juror are the same—a 
concern that the coworker or employee would be influ-
enced toward a family member of another coworker or 
a customer. The disparate treatment of Wright and 
Chesteen, along with the failure to conduct meaningful 
voir dire regarding Wright’s working relationship with 
Archie, Sr., suggests this basis for the State’s peremp-
tory strike was pretext. See Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 
924 (“Failure to voir dire as to the characteristic cited 
for the strike is also an indicator of pretext.”). 

 ¶ 242. When the State’s bases and the record in 
today’s case are viewed in toto, evidence of disparate 
treatment and pretext exists. See id. at 937 (“Though 
a reason proffered by the State is facially neutral, trial 
judges should not blindly accept any and every reason 
put forth by the State, especially where, as here, the 
State continues to exercise challenge after challenge 
only upon members of a particular race.”). 



475 

 

2. Dianne Copper 

 ¶ 243. The State provided the following reasons 
for striking Dianne Copper: (1) she worked with Archie 
Flowers and Cora Flowers, Flowers’s sister; (2) she 
knew several members of the Flowers family; (3) she 
stated that she “leaned towards” Flowers’s side of the 
case; and (4) she knew several defense witnesses. For 
the most part, the State focused on Copper’s statement 
that she would lean toward Flowers as a result of her 
relationships with the Flowers family. 

 ¶ 244. Flowers rebutted the State’s reasons by 
again noting that several white jurors with multiple 
connections to persons involved in the case had not 
been challenged by the State. Flowers also argued that 
the State did not attempt to rehabilitate Copper when 
she stated that she would lean toward Flowers’s side 
of the case. The trial court accepted the State’s reasons 
as race neutral, finding that Copper’s relationships 
with persons connected to the case were distinguishable 
from those of the white jurors not challenged by the 
State. The trial court also found that Copper was dis-
tinguishable from other jurors because she stated that 
she would tend to favor Flowers’s side of the case and 
had worked with Flowers’s father and sister. 

 
Copper’s Relationships with 

Persons Connected to the Case 

 ¶ 245. Similar to his argument relating to Car-
olyn Wright, Flowers claims that the State’s strike of 
Copper was pretextual because white jurors who knew 
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several defense witnesses were not struck. Further, 
Flowers claims that the State mischaracterized Cop-
per’s statements relating to whether she “leaned towards” 
Flowers in the case as a result of her relationship with 
the Flowers’s family. 

 ¶ 246. Copper knew thirty-one people involved 
in the case. Copper also testified about her relationship 
with the Flowers family and witnesses during voir 
dire: 

Q. Now, I noticed that you told us the other 
day that you lived on Harper Street at 
one time? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. That y’all [Copper and the Flowers fam-
ily] lived on the same street. 

A. Not on the same street. Because they—
they live on Cade Street, and I lived on 
Harper Street. 

Q. Don’t they live on the corner of Cade and 
Harper? 

A. Well, I guess. I’m not—I—you know, my 
street is Harper and then its—as it go 
around—that’s where I assume it was 
Cade Street. I’m not positive. 

Q. Okay. And you’ve stated that you worked 
with the defendant’s sister at Shoe 
World? 

A. That’s correct. 
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Q. And which sister was that? 

A. Cora. 

Q. How long did y’all work together? 

A. Probably a year or two. 

Q. Okay. You worked with the defendant’s 
father? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. How long did you work with him? 

A. Estimating, probably—possibly about the 
same, one to two years. 

Q. Okay. And I want to make sure my notes 
are right, because we can all write down 
things wrong. You stated that you knew 
his father Archie Flowers. 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. You know his brother, Archie, Jr.? 

A. Yes, sir. I know his brother. 

Q. You know his mother Lola? 

A. Yes, sir, I do. 

Q. You know witnesses in this case, Hazel 
Jones? 

A. Yes, sir, I know her. 

Q. You know Kittery Jones, a witness in this 
case? 

A. Yes, sir, I know him. 
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Q. And you know Danny Joe Lott, a witness 
in this case? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And I think it was yesterday and my 
notes show that you said that the fact 
that you know all of these people could af-
fect you and you think it could make you 
lean toward him because of your connec-
tion to all of these people. Is that correct? 

A. It—it’s possible. 

Q. Okay. That would be something that 
would be entering into your mind if you 
were on the jury, wouldn’t it? 

A. Yes, sir. 

Q. And it would make it to where you 
couldn’t come in here and, just with an 
open mind, decide the case, would it? 

A. Correct. 

 ¶ 247. Flowers’s counsel attempted to rehabili-
tate Copper: 

Q. . . . What I’m trying to find out is just as 
you could put aside all the information 
you heard before about this case, could 
you not also put aside the fact—if you got 
picked as a juror, put aside the fact that 
you have met Mr. Flowers, that you know 
some other people in these cases and be 
fair to the Tardys, the Stewarts, the Gold-
ens, and Rigbys, and make whatever de-
cision or vote that you’re going to make 
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based on the evidence and the evidence 
only. Could you do that? 

A. I feel like I could. But, you know, it— 

Q. Is what you’re saying— 

A. Of course, it would make me, you know, 
feel uncomfortable. But if I had to do it, 
you know, I got to do what I got to do. 

Q. Okay. So you’re saying that—thank you. 
You’re saying that you’ll be uncomforta-
ble. You’d prefer not to—I get the impres-
sion you’re saying that you’d rather not 
be a juror. But if you got picked to be one, 
you would take the responsibility seri-
ously, and you would follow the law and 
the rules that the Court give[s] you, and 
you would put aside anything that you 
are required to put aside and make your 
evidence and make your vote based on 
just the evidence you hear in the court-
room. Is that fair to say? 

A. Yes, sir. That’s correct. 

 ¶ 248. As mentioned above, one indicium of pre-
text is “the presence of unchallenged jurors of the op-
posite race who share the characteristic given as the 
basis for the challenge.” Id. at 917 (quoting Manning, 
765 So.2d at 519). As such, the State’s basis that Cop-
per knew several witnesses in the case is suspect. 
While the other bases the State provided appear to 
be race neutral—namely, Copper’s relationship with 
Flowers’s family and the possibility that it could cause 
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her to “lean toward” Flowers, the unchallenged jurors 
with a shared characteristic must still be considered. 

 
3. Flancie Jones 

 ¶ 249. The State provided the following reasons 
for striking Jones: (1) she is related to Flowers; (2) she 
was late for jury selection on two separate occasions; 
and (3) she provided inconsistent statements on her 
view of the death penalty by lying on her juror ques-
tionnaire in an attempt to avoid serving as a juror. Af-
ter reviewing the record, the State’s bases for striking 
Jones appear to be race-neutral. 

 
4. Tashia Cunningham 

 ¶ 250. The State cited Cunningham’s working 
relationship with Flowers’s sister and her wavering 
statements on the death penalty as bases for its per-
emptory strike. During the Batson hearing, Flowers’s 
counsel rebutted the State’s reasons by pointing out 
that Cunningham stated that she could set aside her 
relationship with Flowers’s sister and be a neutral ju-
ror. Defense counsel also compared Cunningham to 
Chesteen, the juror who knew several of Flowers’s fam-
ily members from working at a local bank. Finally, 
Flowers’s counsel compared Cunningham’s alleged wa-
vering views on the death penalty to views of white ju-
rors. The trial court found that both of the State’s 
reasons were race-neutral: 

And Ms. Cunningham’s all-over-the-map re-
sponse to the death penalty, plus her situation 
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about working so closely with Mr. Flowers’s 
sister, in my mind, the State has shown race-
neutral reasons for that strike. 

 
Cunningham’s Working 

Relationship with Flowers’s Sister 

 ¶ 251. During voir dire, Cunningham stated that 
she and Sherita Baskin, Flowers’s sister, did not have 
a close relationship; Cunningham described it as a 
“working relationship.” According to Cunningham, she 
and Baskin would “sometime” see each other, but 
would not see each other at work every day. Cunning-
ham also stated that she worked at the end of the as-
sembly line, and Baskin worked at the front of the line. 
The two women worked the same shift for two or three 
years. 

 ¶ 252. Apparently, the State called Cunning-
ham’s employer, ADP, to confirm her testimony relat-
ing to her working relationship with Baskin. During 
individual voir dire, the State asked Cunningham fur-
ther questions about the relationship: 

Q: And you work with the Defendant’s sister, 
Sherita Baskin? 

A: Yes. 

Q: Now, the other day, I think you said that 
you do not work close to her? 

A: No, I do not. 

Q: Would you think about that for a minute? 
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A: I do not. 

Q: Are you sure that you do not work side by 
side with her? 

A: No, I do not. 

Q: And you’re saying that under oath? 

A: Yes, sir. 

 ¶ 253. In response to Cunningham’s statements, 
the State called an ADP quality control clerk, Crystal 
Carpenter, to give testimony. Carpenter testified that 
Cunningham and Baskin both worked on the “raw 2 
line” and that the women worked side-by-side—“nine 
or ten inches” apart from one another. Twenty-five to 
thirty-five persons worked on this particular assembly 
line. Carpenter also testified that the women would oc-
casionally not work side-by-side if another employee 
was absent from work and a spot in another location 
needed to be filled, but that the women typically 
worked next to one another. Carpenter observed the 
women working every day and based her testimony on 
her personal observations. Flowers’s counsel asked 
Carpenter if there was documentation supporting the 
location of Cunningham and Basking on the assembly 
line, and Carpenter stated that she could provide 
documentation supporting her testimony. Apparently, 
Carpenter did not provide the documentation. 

 ¶ 254. At first glance, the conflicting testimony 
of Cunningham and Carpenter tends to provide a race-
neutral basis for the State’s challenge. See Manning, 
735 So.2d at 340. When considering the voir dire 
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process as a whole, however, the State’s investigation 
of Cunningham is suspect. As discussed above, the 
State accepted Pamela Chesteen as a juror even 
though she stated that several members of the Flowers 
family were customers at the bank where she worked. 
There is no evidence in the record that the State fur-
ther investigated the relationship between Chesteen 
and the Flowers family, and the State did not voir dire 
Chesteen on this subject. The absence of voir dire and 
investigation for Chesteen compared to the thorough 
investigation for Cunningham is problematic and 
tends to evidence disparate treatment. See Miller-El, 
125 S.Ct. at 2328 (failing to conduct meaningful voir 
dire on subject with which State is allegedly concerned 
suggests that “explanation is a sham and a pretext for 
discrimination”); see also Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 924 
(“Failure to voir dire as to the characteristic cited for 
the strike is also an indicator of pretext.”). 

 
Cunningham’s Wavering Views on the Death Penalty 

 ¶ 255. The State cited Cunningham’s wavering 
views on the death penalty as another basis for its 
challenge. On her juror questionnaire, although she 
stated that she had “no opinion” on the death penalty, 
Cunningham stated that she would not consider the 
death penalty under any circumstances. During voir 
dire by the trial court, Cunningham initially stated 
that she could not consider the death penalty as a pun-
ishment, but she then stated that she “might” consider 
it: 
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Q: . . . [w]hat’s your view on even consider-
ing the death penalty? 

A: I would not. 

. . .  

Q: Are—are you saying you would not con-
sider it? 

A: No, sir. 

Q: Even if the law allowed it and the facts 
justified it, you just could not even con-
sider it? 

A: No, sir. 

. . .  

Q: So—but again, just tell me again what 
your feelings are on the death penalty. 

A: I don’t believe in the death penalty. 

Q: And would there be a possible—could you 
consider it? 

A: I don’t think so. 

Q: You don’t think so? 

A: I don’t think so. 

Q: But there’s—in your own mind, you 
might could—are you saying you could 
possibly? 

A: I don’t think so. 

Q: See, I’m not asking you to make a—you 
know, you haven’t heard anything. And 
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all we want to know is whether you could 
consider that as a possibility—that as a 
sentencing possibility, because you and 
your fellow jurors will decide the sen-
tence, but I just want to know if you could 
even consider that as a possible sentence? 

A: I might. I might. I don’t know. I might. 

Q: So you might be able to consider that? 

A: (Nodding head).9 

 Then during voir dire by the State, Cunningham 
returned to her initial position of not being able to con-
sider the death penalty: 

Q: All right. As far as the death penalty—
and I want to make sure I understand 
what you’re saying—if the law authorized 
the death penalty in this case and you 
found that the facts of the case that came 
from the stand justified it, could you, in 
fact, vote for the death penalty? 

A: I don’t think so. 

 . . .  

Q: Could you consider the death penalty 
yourself if the facts justified it and the 
law allowed it? 

A: I don’t think so. 

Q: You don’t think so. 

 
 9 The record does not indicate whether Cunningham was 
nodding in the affirmative or the negative. 
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A: That I could. 

 When questioned by defense counsel, Cunning-
ham then stated that she could consider both punish-
ments: 

Q: . . . And what you’re required to do is just 
consider both, then decide which way you 
want to vote. Do you understand now? 

A: Yes, sir. 

Q: And that’s your decision. And with that 
being the case, can you consider both op-
tions, then vote your conscience? 

A: Yes. 

 ¶ 256. This Court has recognized that a juror’s 
views on the death penalty may provide a race-neutral 
basis for a peremptory challenge. See Batiste v. State, 
121 So.3d 808, 848 (Miss. 2013); Flowers III, 947 So.2d 
at 920–21. In Flowers III, this Court found that the 
striking of an African American who had “virtually in-
distinguishable” views on the death penalty as com-
pared to white jurors who were not struck raised an 
inference of discrimination, although, standing alone, 
it did not warrant the finding of a Batson violation. 
Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 921. In today’s case, there are 
no white jurors who survived for-cause challenges 
whose views on the death penalty were comparable to 
Cunningham’s. As such, it cannot be said that this ba-
sis was pretext. 

 ¶ 257. This race-neutral basis, however, does not 
erase the prosecutor’s highly suspect investigation of 
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Cunningham’s working relationship with Flowers’s 
sister. Batson, 476 U.S. at 96–97, 106 S.Ct. 1712; Miller-
El, 545 U.S. at 239–40, 125 S.Ct. 2317. No evidence in 
the record provides a basis for the in-depth investiga-
tion. Likewise, nothing in the record evidences that a 
similar investigation was performed for all other ju-
rors. With this suspect record, the prosecution’s unu-
sual investigation of Cunningham must be seen for 
what it is worth—a questionable search for a race neu-
tral basis, indicating that striking Cunningham was 
“motivated in substantial part by discriminatory in-
tent.” See Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 1754 (internal quotations 
omitted). 

 
5. Edith Burnside 

 ¶ 258. The State provided the following reasons 
in support of its peremptory strike of Burnside: (1) she 
knew Flowers and members of his family; (2) she was 
sued by Tardy’s Furniture; and (3) she provided incon-
sistent statements regarding her views on the death 
penalty. 

 
Burnside’s Litigation with Tardy’s 

 ¶ 259. During voir dire, the trial court asked the 
entire venire if anyone had been sued by Tardy’s, and 
Burnside responded that she had been sued by the 
store. Later, Burnside explained that she was able to 
pay off the amount that she owed the store and that 
the litigation stemmed from a misunderstanding about 
her account after the murders occurred. During the 
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Batson hearing, the State represented that Burnside 
had a garnishment issued against her. The prosecutor 
stated: “She also was sued by Tardy Furniture, and a 
garnishment was issued against her. She tried to deny 
that and said that she just settled with them when she 
came back but she was, in fact, sued by them.” The 
State’s description of the litigation and Burnside’s tes-
timony regarding the same is not completely supported 
by the record. In response to the trial court’s first in-
quiry during group voir dire, Burnside stated: “I had 
an account there, but I was not sued by Ms. Bertha. It 
was later on when it was took over by Mr. Frank and 
Roxanne.” Burnside then confirmed that she was sued 
by Tardy’s. 

 ¶ 260. Then, during individual voir dire, Burn-
side further explained the suit: 

A: . . . . Let me explain that. I worked for Ms. 
Bertha. She hired me to work for Mr. 
Tardy before she was married to him the 
first time. I was caring for Ms. Lena 
Tardy. That’s how I met Ms. Bertha. So 
when me and my husband was going 
through a divorce, she let me have some 
furniture. And she said she was going to 
note it on the book. Sometimes, I cleaned 
up for her and I paid for it and we just 
have, like, a little understanding about it. 
Okay. When she got killed, it was still on 
the book. And then her son-in-law—when 
I came back from Nevada, then that’s 
when I had to pay for it. I don’t remember 
when it was. 
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Q: So there was a dispute between you and 
her son-in-law? 

A: No. It wasn’t a dispute. He just— 

Q: Well, did you agree that you owed it? 

A: Yes. We had no falling out about it. I had 
the funds, and I agreed I owed it. When I 
went to Nevada, I guess it was just a 
space where I owed him. When I came 
back here and went to work, I paid him 
for it. We never had a misunderstanding 
about it. 

Q: If it wasn’t no misunderstanding, why did 
it have to go to court? 

A: I’m not quite sure about that. I remember 
them bringing the papers after I come 
back here to go to work. Maybe he found 
out I was back or what. But then I went 
down to the store—that’s when they had 
moved the store over to where the other 
building was—and I talked to him about 
when I paid it. We never had a falling out 
about it. 

Q: But you did have to be sued over it? 

A: Yes. I can’t remember the— 

Q: And there was a judgment against you? 

A: Yes. But it was no falling-out about it. 

Q: Is there anything about that, that would 
cause you any difficulty in that case? 
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A: No. Because he is a distributor for some-
thing for one of our salesman at Super 
Value where I work, and he come in every 
Thursday, and the lady make an order so 
I see him like on a weekly basis. But, you 
know, sometimes, I speak if it’s—because 
she see him like over in her office, so no, 
it’s nothing about that would make me 
have no—. 

 ¶ 261. Similar to the State’s characterization of 
Wright’s litigation with Tardy’s discussed above, the 
State’s representation that Burnside’s wages were gar-
nished and that Burnside “denied” this is unsupported 
by the record in today’s case. This incorrect description 
of the litigation between Burnside and Tardy’s is sus-
pect. See Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 924 (citing Manning, 
765 So.2d at 519) (“Lack of support in the record for 
the reason given for a peremptory strike has been iden-
tified as an indicator of pretext.”); Foster, 136 S.Ct. at 
1754 (misrepresentations of the record are evidence of 
discriminatory intent). 

 
Burnside’s Relationships with Flowers and His Family 

 ¶ 262. The State also cited Burnside’s relation-
ships with Flowers and his family as a basis for its 
challenge. Burnside stated during voir dire that she 
used to live close to the Flowers family. Flowers and 
his sister, Prisilla, used to visit Burnside’s home. Fur-
ther, Flowers was friends with Burnside’s sons and 
used to play football with them. Burnside stated that 
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these relationships would not affect her ability to serve 
as a juror. 

 ¶ 263. No white venire members had compara-
ble—or even close to comparable—relationships with 
Flowers and his family. This Court has recognized that 
a juror’s relationships with the defendant’s family may 
provide a race-neutral reason for a peremptory chal-
lenge. See Manning, 735 So.2d at 340. And although 
Burnside stated that her connections to the Flowers 
family would not affect her when serving as a juror, 
this basis—standing alone—seems to not be pretext. 
As mentioned above, however, this race neutral basis 
does not negate the questionable characterization of 
Burnside’s litigation with Tardy’s. Batson, 476 U.S. at 
96–97, 106 S.Ct. 1712; Miller-El, 545 U.S. at 239–40, 
125 S.Ct. 2317. 

 
Burnside’s Statements Regarding the 

Death Penalty and Her Ability to Judge Others 

 ¶ 264. The State’s final reasons for striking 
Burnside were her statements relating to whether she 
could judge another person and impose the death pen-
alty. Burnside testified as follows during individual 
voir dire: 

Q: . . . . And so I want to know if the facts 
justified it and the law allowed it, could 
you consider the death penalty as a sen-
tencing possibility? 

A: That I don’t think I could do. I don’t know 
if I could do that. . . . I don’t—I don’t know 
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if I could consider it, sending anybody to 
death. I don’t know if I could do that. 

Q: And can you explain further your views 
on that? 

A: I’ve just never been put in that predica-
ment. I’ve always just don’t know if I 
could do that. It’s just the best way I can 
explain it. I just don’t think I could do 
that. 

Q: Again, let me explain. You’re not commit-
ting to do it or not to do it. You’re just—
we just need to know if that’s something 
that would be in your mind where you 
could think about it and you could con-
sider the possibility of it. 

A: I could think about it and consider it. 
That’s all I could say. 

Q: And would you consider the imposition of 
the death penalty, if you were on the jury 
and it got to the second phase? 

A: If I was on there, yeah, I guess I’d have to. 

Q: So if the facts justified it and the law al-
lowed it, you would consider it? 

A: Yes. 

Q: Also, if he did not receive that death sen-
tence—if he was convicted and the jury 
did not impose the death sentence, . . . 
[he] would receive the sentence of life 
without parole. So is that a sentencing op-
tion that you could consider, also? 
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A: Yes, I could consider that. 

Q: And so you would consider and have an 
open mind as to both sentencing options 
then; is that correct? 

A: Yes, sir. 

 Although Burnside eventually stated that she 
would consider both sentencing options, she later 
stated in voir dire that her reservations about judging 
another person would affect her ability to serve as a 
juror: 

Q: When I was asking the questions the 
other day about jurors that could judge 
other people, you stated at that time that 
you could not judge anyone. Why did you 
state that? 

A: Well, because I—you know, I prefer not to 
judge anyone. But then when they come 
back and say could I be fair. My thing is I 
prefer not to judge anyone. But no, I will 
be fair. 

Q: All right. Who will you be fair to? 

A: I will be fair to whoever evidence is pre-
sented. I will be fair. Because I would 
want somebody to be fair to me or my chil-
dren or my family. That the only way I can 
explain it. 

 . . .  
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Q: So you have changed your mind, and you 
say now that you could judge someone; is 
that correct? 

A: Well, basically, I haven’t changed my 
mind. I just prefer not to be in a predica-
ment where I have to judge somebody. 

Q: So you still have a problem with judging 
someone? 

A: I still have a problem with that. 

Q: Would that problem be such that you 
would think about it if you were picked on 
a jury? 

A: Well, I’d have to say yes. 

Q: It would? So that might affect your judg-
ment in the case; is that right? 

A: It could, possibly, yes, sir. 

 Flowers’s counsel then rehabilitated Burnside: 

Q: Ms. Burnside, if you got picked on the 
jury, you would be fair to both sides, 
wouldn’t you? 

A: Yes, sir. 

Q: And despite the fact that you don’t like to 
judge, if you got picked you would, in fact, 
judge and be fair to both sides; is that cor-
rect? 

A: Yes, sir, that is correct. 
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 ¶ 265. While a juror’s views on the death penalty 
and hesitation about serving as a juror are race neu-
tral reasons for peremptory challenges, the State reha-
bilitated Burnside and she ultimately stated that she 
could consider either punishment and could be fair to 
either side. See Batiste, 121 So.3d at 848; Hughes, 90 
So.3d at 626; Flowers III, 947 So.2d at 920–21. As such, 
this basis is somewhat suspect. 

 
D. Jury Selection Conclusion 

 ¶ 266. While the Court has focused on the inter-
ests of Flowers in having a jury not tainted by racial 
bias, it has ignored the right of prospective jurors not 
to be subjected to racial bias. Beyond question, the 
right to a jury selection process free from the taint of 
racial discrimination belongs both to the parties and to 
the prospective jurors. See Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 
416, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed.2d 411 (1991) (Courts are 
“under an affirmative duty to enforce the . . . policies 
embodied in [the] prohibition” on the discrimination in 
the selection of jurors.). When the trial court and this 
Court, in robotic fashion, merely say that the prosecu-
tion gave facially race-neutral reasons, which were not 
rebutted by the defense, both completely disregard the 
constitutional right of prospective jurors to be free 
from a racially discriminatory selection process. 

 ¶ 267. No attorneys are present in the courtroom 
to protect the constitutional rights of perspective ju-
rors. Thus, of necessity, that responsibility must be un-
dertaken by the trial courts. The honest exercise of 
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that responsibility demands that the trial court look 
beyond the mere recitation of the words “race neutral.” 
In this case, the trial court completely ignored and 
failed in that responsibility. 

 
III. Batson Conclusion 

 ¶ 268. As noted previously, this case has been 
twice reversed by this Court for some of the same is-
sues presented to the Court today. In the retrial of a 
case under these circumstances, where the same issues 
are confronted, the trial court is obligated to look be-
yond the surface. The United States Supreme Court’s 
decision in Foster affirms this principle. The trial court 
failed in that obligation. 

 ¶ 269. Because of that failure, I cannot conclude 
that Flowers received a fair trial, nor can I conclude 
that prospective jurors were not subjected to imper-
missible discrimination. For these reasons, I would re-
verse and remand for a new trial. 

 
IV. Additional Errors 

 ¶ 270. While the United State [sic] Supreme Court 
focused its remand on the Batson violation, and while 
I find the Batson violation dispositive, I continue to be-
lieve that other errors occurred at trial that also war-
rant reversal. Those errors were memorialized in 
Presiding Justice Dickinson’s dissent in the original 
appeal on this matter. Flowers v. State, 158 So.3d 1009, 
1076–83 (Miss. 2014) (Dickinson, P.J., dissenting). The 
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circuit judge erred by refusing to allow the accused to 
defend the charges by calling a qualified expert to pro-
vide perfectly admissible expert opinions, and by in-
structing the jury on an aggravating factor for which 
the State provided no evidence. I reiterate those errors 
here, with credit to then-Justice Dickinson. See id. 
(Dickinson, P.J., dissenting). 

 
A. Dr. Neuschatz should have been al-

lowed to testify. 

 ¶ 271. The trial judge categorically prohibited 
Flowers’s expert, Dr. Jeffrey Neuschatz, from providing 
expert testimony on eyewitness identification. It was 
not that the trial judge disagreed with the evidence in 
Dr. Neuschatz’s expert affidavit—he ignored it. The 
trial judge felt that any helpful information that could 
have been provided by the expert could just as easily 
have been developed through cross-examination. But 
the information the expert would have provided could 
never be developed on cross examination, because the 
witnesses would not know they had made misidentifi-
cations. 

 ¶ 272. This Court reviews a trial court’s ruling 
on the admissibility of evidence under a deferential 
abuse of discretion standard. Miss. Transp. Comm’n v. 
McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 34 (Miss. 2003) (internal cita-
tions omitted). Under Rule 702, an expert’s testimony 
must satisfy a two-part test. Id. at 35. “First, the 
witness must be qualified by virtue of his or her 
knowledge, skill, experience[,] or education. Second, 
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the witness’s scientific, technical[,] or other specialized 
knowledge must assist the trier of fact in understand-
ing or deciding a fact in issue.” Id. 

 ¶ 273. The trial judge is to act as a gatekeeper 
and may look to “a non-exhaustive, illustrative list of 
reliability factors for determining the admissibility of 
expert witness testimony.” Id. at 36 (internal citations 
omitted). The five factors referenced in Daubert10 look 
at whether: (1) the theory or technique can be and has 
been tested; (2) the theory has been subjected to peer 
review and publication; (3) there is a high known or 
potential rate of error; (4) there are standards control-
ling the technique’s operation; and (5) the theory or 
technique enjoys general acceptance within a relevant 
scientific community. Id. (internal citations omitted). 
The presence or absence of any one of these factors is 
not dispositive. 

 ¶ 274. The issue of allowing experts to testify 
about the reliability of eyewitness identification is not 
new. A majority of state jurisdictions allow eyewitness 
identification experts to testify, provided they are 
properly qualified and their opinions satisfy reliability 
concerns, such as those set forth in Daubert. For in-
stance, the Tennessee Supreme Court—evaluating fac-
tors similar to those mentioned in Daubert—reversed 
its prior position seven years ago and now allows 
properly qualified eyewitness experts to testify, find- 
ing that such testimony can be helpful in the jury’s 

 
 10 Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 
S.Ct. 2786, 125 L.Ed.2d 469 (1993). 
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evaluation of an eyewitness’s identification. State v. 
Copeland, 226 S.W.3d 287, 302–304 (Tenn. 2007). And 
the vast majority of states and the District of Columbia 
either give trial courts discretion to allow eyewitness 
identification expert testimony, or require the admis-
sion of such testimony.11 

 
 11 See Ex Parte Williams, 594 So.2d 1225, 1227 (Ala. 1992) 
(“It is clear from these cases that there is presently a trend in the 
law to allow expert testimony on the subject of human memory.”); 
Skamarocius v. State, 731 P.2d 63, 66–67 (Alaska 1987); State v. 
Chapple, 135 Ariz. 281, 660 P.2d 1208, 1219 (1983), overruled on 
different grounds by State v. Benson, 232 Ariz. 452, 307 P.3d 19 
(2013); Jones v. State, 314 Ark. 289, 862 S.W.2d 242, 244–45 
(1993); People v. Jones, 30 Cal.4th 1084, 135 Cal.Rptr.2d 370, 70 
P.3d 359, 388 (2003) (“Exclusion of the expert testimony is justi-
fied only if there is other evidence that substantially corroborates 
the eyewitnesses identification and gives it independent reliabil-
ity.”); People v. Campbell, 847 P.2d 228, 233 (Colo. App. 1992); State 
v. Guilbert, 306 Conn. 218, 49 A.3d 705, 731–32 (2012); Hager v. 
U.S., 856 A.2d 1143, 1147 (D.C. 2004); McMullen v. State, 714 
So.2d 368, 371 (Fla. 1998); Johnson v. State, 272 Ga. 254, 526 
S.E.2d 549, 552 (2000); People v. Enis, 139 Ill.2d 264, 151 Ill.Dec. 
493, 564 N.E.2d 1155, 1165 (1990); Cook v. State, 734 N.E.2d 563, 
570 (Ind. 2000); State v. Schutz, 579 N.W.2d 317, 319 (Iowa 1998) 
(“[T]he admissibility of expert testimony relating to the accuracy 
of eye witness identification rests within the sound discretion of 
the trial court.”); State v. Carr, 300 Kan. 1, 331 P.3d 544, 690 
(2014), overruled on other grounds by Kansas v. Carr, ___ U.S. ___, 
136 S.Ct. 633, 193 L.Ed.2d 535 (2016); Commonwealth v. Christie, 
98 S.W.3d 485, 488 (Ky. 2002) (noting that the vast majority of 
jurisdictions have left the admission of eyewitness expert identi-
fication testimony to the discretion of trial courts); State v. Rich, 
549 A.2d 742, 743 (Me. 1988); Bomas v. State, 412 Md. 392, 987 
A.2d 98, 114–115 (2010); Commonwealth v. Santoli, 424 Mass. 
837, 680 N.E.2d 1116, 1120 (1997); State v. Barlow, 541 N.W.2d 
309, 313 (Minn. 1995); State v. DuBray, 317 Mont. 377, 77 P.3d 
247, 255 (2003) (“It shall be an abuse of discretion for a district 
court to disallow expert testimony on eyewitness testimony when  
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 ¶ 275. In this case, the trial judge first found 
that the trier of fact did not need Dr. Neuschatz’s tes-
timony. He stated: “Given the extensive cross-exami-
nation of Mr. Collins and because all other witnesses 
knew Mr. Flowers on sight, I do not believe an expert 
on witnesses identification would assist the jury in the 
least bit in this case.” This conclusion was demonstra-
bly incorrect. The trial judge provided no analysis of 
how cross-examination of the witnesses could develop 
the opinions provided by Dr. Neuschatz, or how the wit-
nesses themselves could provide expert testimony. The 
eyewitnesses certainly could provide the facts, such 
as distance, lighting, length of time, etc. But Dr. 
Neuschatz was not presented to testify to the facts 

 
no substantial corroborating evidence exists.”); White v. State, 112 
Nev. 1261, 926 P.2d 291, 292 (1996); State v. Henderson, 208 N.J. 
208, 27 A.3d 872, 916–17 (2011); People v. LeGrand, 8 N.Y.3d 449, 
835 N.Y.S.2d 523, 867 N.E.2d 374, 379 (2007); State v. Fontaine, 
382 N.W.2d 374, 378 (N.D. 1986); State v. Buell, 22 Ohio St.3d 124, 
489 N.E.2d 795, 803 (1986); Bristol v. State, 764 P.2d 887, 890 
(Okla. Crim. App. 1988); State v. Lawson, 352 Or. 724, 291 P.3d 
673, 697 (2012); Commonwealth v. Walker, 625 Pa. 450, 92 A.3d 
766, 791 (2014) (“[I]n light of the magnitude of scientific under-
standing of eyewitness identification and marked developments 
in case law during the last 30 years, it is no longer advisable to 
ban the use of expert testimony to aid a jury in understanding 
eyewitness identification.”); State v. Sabetta, 680 A.2d 927, 933 
(R.I. 1996); State v. Whaley, 305 S.C. 138, 406 S.E.2d 369, 372 
(1991); State v. Hill, 463 N.W.2d 674, 676 (S.D. 1990); Jordan v. 
State, 928 S.W.2d 550, 555 (Tex. Crim. App. 1996); State v. Clopten, 
223 P.3d 1103, 1112 (Utah 2009); State v. Percy, 156 Vt. 468, 595 
A.2d 248, 253 (1990); State v. Cheatam, 150 Wash.2d 626, 81 P.3d 
830, 842 (2003); State v. Utter, No. 13-0479, 2014 WL 1673025, at 
*3 (W. Va. Apr. 25, 2014); State v. Shomberg, 288 Wis.2d 1, 709 
N.W.2d 370, 377 (2006); Engberg v. Meyer, 820 P.2d 70, 79–80 
(Wyo. 1991). 
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alone. His role was to begin with the facts provided by 
the eyewitnesses, and then provide expert testimony 
as to the difficulties and reliability associated with 
identification. The eyewitnesses themselves certainly 
could not provide the testimony expected from Dr. 
Neuschatz. 

 ¶ 276. Nor could cross-examination provide an 
adequate substitute for Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony. A 
skillful attorney may utilize cross-examination to ex-
pose contradictions in a witness’s testimony. But no at-
torney—of even the greatest skill—can cross-examine 
a witness in such a way as to expose that the witness 
did not see what the witness actually believes he saw. 
And that is exactly the purpose of expert eyewitness 
identification testimony. Dr. Neuschatz—if allowed to 
testify—would have explained scientific principles af-
fecting the accuracy of a witness’s perception of what 
he saw. 

 ¶ 277. The trial judge’s entire Daubert analysis 
was as follows: 

Further, though, I think aside from the fact 
that I do not think this would assist the trier 
of fact, I do not think all the Daubert princi-
ples have been shown to the Court to apply to 
this testimony. The defense has not offered to 
this Court this idea that the theories the de-
fense would testify to or the area of expertise 
proffered are generally accepted. I do not 
know whether the testimony has a potential 
or known high rate of error. I do not have any-
thing about that. I do not know anything 
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about the principles and methods used to 
come to conclusions. And basically, the wit-
ness did not apply the principles and methods 
to the facts of this case. He made broad gener-
alizations in the document that was submit-
ted, but he did not specifically apply those 
principles and methods to the facts of this 
case. So for all these reasons, I do not think 
that this witness testimony would be appro-
priate, and I am going to deny the testimony 
of this witness. 

 The following is a detailed analysis of each sen-
tence of the trial judge’s Daubert analysis, and it 
demonstrates that the trial judge abused his discretion 
in refusing to allow Dr. Neuschatz to testify as an ex-
pert. 

 “I do not think all the Daubert principles have 
been shown to the Court to apply to this testimony.” 

 ¶ 278. This statement suggests the trial court er-
roneously believed the defendant had a burden to show 
that “all the Daubert factors” applied. Clearly, this is 
not the case. 

 “The defense has not offered to this Court this idea 
that the theories the defense would testify to or the area 
of expertise proffered are generally accepted.” 

 ¶ 279. This conclusion was incorrect. Dr. Neuschatz 
cited thirty-three studies in his affidavit, each of which 
indicated general acceptance in the field of psychology. 
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The State offered no evidence in rebuttal of Dr. 
Neuschatz’s affidavit on this point.12 

 ¶ 280. The majority’s only reason for agreeing 
with the trial judge on this point is that Dr. Neuschatz 
did not attach each article to his affidavit. But under 
our Rules of Evidence, experts are not required to at-
tach the basis of their opinions to their affidavits. In-
stead, they are allowed to rely on studies that they do 
not provide to the court, unless requested by the court. 
Rule 705 provides 

The expert may testify in terms of opinion or 
inferences and give his reasons therefor with-
out prior disclosure of the underlying facts 
or data, unless the court requires otherwise. 
The expert may in any event be required to 
disclose the underlying facts or data on cross-
examination. 

Miss. R. Evid. 705. 

 
 12 Dr. Neuschatz cited studies by: (1) Neisser 1967; (2) Loftus 
1979; (3) Loftus & Loftus 1990; (4) Schacter 1995; (5) Ellis, Davis 
& Shepard 1977; (6) Maclin, Maclin & Malpass 2001; (7) Shapiro 
& Penrod 1986; (8) Memon, Hope & Bull 2003; (9) Culter & Penrod 
1988; (10) Culter, Penrod & Martens 1987 (study a); (11) Culter, 
Penrod & Martens 1987 (study b); (12) Culter 1986; (13) O’Rourke 
1987; (14) Culter 2006; (15) Tulving 1983; (16) Hunt & Ellis 1974; 
(17) Read, Tollestrup, Hammersley, McFadden & Christensen 
1990; (18) Ross, Ceci, Dunning & Toglia 1994; (19) Meissner & 
Brigham 2001; (20) Gibson 1969; (21) Wells & Bradfield 1998; (22) 
Neuschatz 2005; (23) Hafstad, Memon & Logie 2004; (24) Wells, 
Small, Penrod, Malpass, Fulero & Brimacombe 1998; (25) Haw & 
Fisher 2004; (26) Garrioch & Brimacombe 2001; (27) Neuschatz & 
Gutler (in progress); (28) Douglas, Smith, & Frasier-Hill 2005; 
(29) Malpass & Devine 1981; (30) Stebaly 1997; (31) Loftus 1993; 
(32) Johnson 1993; and (33) Pezdek 2007.  
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 ¶ 281. In this case, neither the trial judge nor the 
State requested production of the underlying data or 
the articles upon which Dr. Neuschatz relied. It was 
clear error for the trial judge to reject Dr. Neuschatz’s 
affidavit merely because the articles were not at-
tached. And the majority compounds the error by re-
quiring the expert in this case to do something other 
experts are not required to do,13 and something this 
very Court’s rules specifically do not require. 

 ¶ 282. In Watts v. Radiator Specialty Company, 
this Court considered whether an expert’s opinions 
were actually supported by the case-studies he cited. 
Watts v. Radiator Specialty Co., 990 So.2d 143, 146–48 
(Miss. 2008). The expert in that case did not provide 
the studies to the court. Id. at 147 n.7. Though this 
Court found that the trial court properly excluded the 
expert’s testimony because the studies did not support 
his conclusion, the Court never questioned his failure 
to provide those studies. Id. 

 “I do not know whether the testimony has a poten-
tial or known high rate of error. I do not have anything 
about that.” 

 ¶ 283. Again, on this point, the trial judge was 
incorrect. In his affidavit, Dr. Neuschatz discussed ex-
tensive testing that produced precise error rates. For 

 
 13 It is difficult to imagine the Majority rejecting out-of-hand 
the opinions of the State’s pathologist as to the cause and manner 
of death, simply because the record does not include all of the un-
derlying studies and data that contributed to that opinion. 
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instance, in discussing the factor of exposure time, Dr. 
Neuschatz stated: 

Exposure duration had a significant impact 
on identification accuracy. Ninety-five percent 
of the young adults and 85% of the older 
adults made correct identifications from the 
robber-present photo arrays when the robber 
was exposed for 45 seconds, but only 29% of 
the young adults and 35% of the older adults 
made correct identifications when the robber 
was exposed for 12 seconds. 

 ¶ 284. In discussing the appearance change dis-
guise factor, he stated: “The average performance lev-
els across the six studies, which involved over 1,300 
eyewitness identifications, was 57% correct when un-
covered and versus 44% when a hat was worn.” 

 ¶ 285. In discussing cross-race identification, Dr. 
Neuschatz stated: 

The reliability of the ORB [own-race bias] was 
examined by Meissner and Brigham (2001) 
who meta-analyzed the results of 31 separate 
studies involving 91 separate experimental 
tests of own versus same-race identifications. 
The studies included over 5,000 participants. 
Across all studies, eyewitnesses were 1.4 
times more likely to correctly identify mem-
bers of their own race than members of other 
races, and they were 1.56 times more likely to 
falsely identify members of other races than 
members of their own race. 
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 ¶ 286. These and other studies cited in the affi-
davit speak not only to error rates but also to the reli-
ability of Dr. Neuschatz’s opinions. 

 “I do not know anything about the principles and 
methods used to come to conclusions.” 

 ¶ 287. Here again, the trial judge was incorrect. 
The studies cited above, and the balance of Dr. 
Neuschatz’s affidavit are replete with descriptions of 
the methods and principles used in the numerous stud-
ies. 

 ¶ 288. Dr. Neuschatz’s affidavit contained de-
tailed information about studies on: (1) how memory 
works; (2) effect of exposure time on reliability of 
memory; (3) effect of appearance changes and dis-
guises on identification; (4) the phenomenon of uncon-
scious transference where one situation is confused 
with another; (5) problems with cross-racial identifica-
tions; (6) problems with post identification feedback; 
and (7) problems with suggestive line-up procedures. 

 “And basically, the witness did not apply the prin-
ciples and methods to the facts of this case. He made 
broad generalizations in the document that was sub-
mitted, but he did not specifically apply those principles 
and methods to the facts of this case.” 

 ¶ 289. Again, the trial judge was incorrect. Dr. 
Neuschatz indeed applied the principles and methods 
in his field of expertise to the facts in the Flowers case. 
For instance, he analyzed in detail the effect of the po-
lice’s line-up identification. Also, he addressed issues 
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involving Porky Collins’s identification, including prob-
lems with cross-racial identifications. 

 Refusing to allow Dr. Neuschatz to testify was not 
harmless error. 

 ¶ 290. Dr. Neuschatz’s testimony would have 
provided the jury a fair basis upon which to judge the 
accuracy of Collins’s identification. I also cannot accept 
the majority’s conclusion that “Collins’s identification 
was far from the only evidence of guilt in the instant 
case, and it cannot be label [sic] ‘critical.’ ” 

 ¶ 291. It is true that the State had other wit-
nesses, but none provided the powerful eyewitness tes-
timony that Collins provided. He is the only witness 
who placed Flowers at the scene of the murders shortly 
before they were committed. None of the witnesses was 
more critical to the State’s case, and none was more 
important for the defense to attack. 

 ¶ 292. The State offered nothing in rebuttal of 
Dr. Neuschatz’s opinions: no experts, articles, studies, 
or evidence of any kind that tended to refute his opin-
ions and methodology. Accordingly, Dr. Neuschatz 
should have been allowed to testify in this case. 
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B. The trial judge should have denied 
the State’s requested instruction on 
the commission of a capital crime to 
avoid arrest aggravator. 

 ¶ 293. When Flowers’s case proceeded to the sen-
tencing phase, the trial judge instructed the jury to 
consider three potential aggravating factors: 

1. The Defendant knowingly created a great 
risk of death to many persons. 

2. The capital offense was committed while 
the Defendant was engaged in the com-
mission of the crime of armed robbery for 
pecuniary gain. 

3. The capital offense was committed for the 
purpose of avoiding or preventing lawful 
arrest or effecting an escape from custody. 

 The jury found each aggravating factor and sen-
tenced Flowers to death. Because the trial judge erred 
when he instructed the jury to consider the third ag-
gravating factor, I would reverse Flowers’s death sen-
tence and remand for resentencing even if this Court 
affirmed his conviction. 

 ¶ 294. It is elementary that the State bears the 
burden to prove the defendant’s guilt of a charged of-
fense beyond a reasonable doubt. Henley v. State, 136 
So.3d 413, 415–16 (Miss. 2014). Likewise, our law 
places upon the State the burden in a capital murder 
sentencing proceeding to prove the existence of each 
aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Holland v. State, 587 So.2d 848, 874 (Miss. 1991) (citing 
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Nixon v. State, 533 So.2d 1078, 1099 (Miss. 1987), over-
ruled on other grounds by Wharton v. State, 734 So.2d 
985, 991 (Miss. 1998)); see also Keller v. State, 138 So.3d 
817, 867–68 (Miss. 2014). Only when the State satisfies 
its burden may the jury weigh a particular aggravat-
ing factor in favor of a death sentence. Keller, 138 So.3d 
at 867–68. 

 ¶ 295. The Majority relies on this Court’s re-
peated statement that an instruction should be 
granted on this aggravating factor if the jury may draw 
an inference from the evidence that avoiding arrest 
was “a substantial reason for the killing.” Id. at 868 
(quoting Gillett v. State, 56 So.3d 469, 505–06 (Miss. 
2010) (quoting Leatherwood v. State, 435 So.2d 645, 
651 (Miss. 1983))); see also Wiley v. State, 750 So.2d 
1193, 1206 (Miss. 1999); Woodward v. State, 726 So.2d 
524, 540 (Miss. 1997); Foster v. State, 687 So.2d 1124, 
1140 (Miss. 1996); Taylor v. State, 672 So.2d 1246, 1275 
(Miss. 1996); Walker v. State, 671 So.2d 581, 611 (Miss. 
1995); Carr v. State, 655 So.2d 824, 853–54 (Miss. 
1995); Chase v. State, 645 So.2d 829, 858 (Miss. 1994); 
Hansen v. State, 592 So.2d 114, 153 (Miss. 1991); La-
nier v. State, 533 So.2d 473, 490 (Miss. 1988). But that 
standard—stated in that way with nothing more—can-
not be the law. Saying jurors may draw an inference is 
not enough, unless the inference is so strong that, 
standing alone, the inference is sufficient for a finding 
beyond a reasonable doubt. The inference in this case 
clearly does not fall into that category. 

 ¶ 296. The Majority says a reasonable juror 
could infer that Flowers killed one of the victims to 
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prevent identification and avoid arrest. While a rea-
sonable juror might very well find that to be a possibility, 
it would be no more than a guess. And no reasonable ju-
ror could make that finding beyond a reasonable doubt. 
Judges should submit issues to juries through instruc-
tions only when a reasonable juror could find the be-
yond a reasonable doubt burden of proof satisfied on 
that issue. Henley, 136 So.3d at 415–16 (quoting Ed-
wards v. State, 469 So.2d 68, 70 (Miss. 1985) (citing 
May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984)) (a di-
rected verdict should be granted if no reasonable juror 
could find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable 
doubt)); Harper v. State, 478 So.2d 1017, 1021 (Miss. 
1985) (a lesser offense instruction should be granted 
unless no reasonable juror could find that the defend-
ant committed the lesser offense). 

 ¶ 297. Stated another way, jurors certainly are 
free to draw reasonable inferences from the facts. But 
a juror’s ability to draw a reasonable inference is not 
the same as a reasonable juror’s ability to find that fact 
beyond a reasonable doubt. For instance, one may draw 
a reasonable inference that a person who usually goes 
to lunch from 12:00 to 1:00 p.m. is at lunch on a partic-
ular day at 12:30 p.m. But that does not mean one may 
reach that conclusion beyond a reasonable doubt. 

 ¶ 298. So a trial judge should grant a State’s re-
quest to instruct the jury on this aggravating factor 
only where the State has presented evidence from 
which a reasonable juror could find beyond a reasona-
ble doubt that “a substantial reason for the killing was 
to conceal the identity of the killer or killers or to ‘cover 



511 

 

their tracks’ so as to avoid apprehension and eventual 
arrest by authorities.” Keller, 138 So.3d at 867–68 
(quoting Gillett, 56 So.3d at 505–06 (quoting Leather-
wood, 435 So.2d at 651)). And any case that categori-
cally establishes inferences as sufficient to satisfy the 
beyond-a-reasonable-doubt standard should be over-
ruled. 

 ¶ 299. The State presented insufficient evidence 
to meet its burden. The most that may be said in this 
case is that the jury could speculate that Flowers com-
mitted one of the murders to avoid arrest. There was 
no evidence that he did. In fact, the State argued in the 
guilt phase that Flowers committed the murders for 
different purposes: revenge and anger over being fired 
as well as to effectuate the robbery. From its opening 
statement, the State’s theory of the case was that 
Flowers possessed a motive to commit the murders be-
cause he had been fired by Tardy’s. This motive—a re-
venge killing—is at odds with a conclusion that he 
killed out of a necessity to avoid arrest. No evidence 
was presented that Flowers expressed an intent to kill 
to avoid arrest. 

 ¶ 300. The Majority finds that this aggravating 
factor instruction is supported by two facts: Flowers 
knew his victims and Flowers disposed of evidence af-
ter the killings. The second can be disposed of easily 
because it bears no logical connection to the question 
at hand. Regardless of the reason someone commits 
murder, that person usually has an incentive to dis-
pose of the evidence. Said differently, if Flowers killed 
his victims out of pure anger, he would have an 
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incentive to cover up the killing by disposing of evi-
dence. The same could be said if Flowers killed because 
the victims resisted the robbery. Showing that Flowers 
disposed of evidence after the killing makes it no more 
reasonable to conclude that he killed to avoid arrest. 

 ¶ 301. Likewise, the Majority’s reliance on the 
fact that Flowers knew his victims is misplaced. First, 
by the Majority’s own statement, this rationale applies 
to one victim. The majority states: 

The State’s theory was that Flowers intended 
to kill Bertha Tardy because she fired him and 
withheld his pay and, in the process of doing 
so, he shot and killed the others. Flowers 
knew Carmen Rigby from working at the 
store, but there is no evidence that he knew 
Robert Johnson or Derrick Stewart, as the day 
of the murders was their first day to work at 
the store. 

 This statement acknowledges that Flowers killed 
Tardy—not to avoid arrest—but for revenge. The Ma-
jority admits that Flowers did not know Johnson or 
Stewart. So at best, the Majority’s reliance on this evi-
dence relates to Rigby alone. But even there it cannot 
provide sufficient evidence to grant the instruction. It 
is simply inaccurate to say that a reasonable juror 
could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Flowers 
killed Rigby to avoid arrest, simply because they had 
worked together. 

 ¶ 302. True, this Court has supported an in-
struction on this aggravating factor in the past based 
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solely on the fact that the victim knew the defendant 
and could identify him. Wiley, 750 So.2d at 1206. But if 
we are to enforce the burden of proof required of the 
State, this was error. Allowing a jury to consider an ag-
gravating factor based on nothing more than pure 
speculation cannot reach the level of proof beyond a 
reasonable doubt. Because the State presented insuffi-
cient evidence from which a reasonable juror could find 
this aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt, I 
would reverse Flowers’s sentence of death and remand 
for a new sentencing hearing. 

 KITCHENS, P.J., JOINS THIS OPINION. 
WALLER, C.J., JOINS IN PART WITH OPINION. 
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